ANNUAL
REPORT &
ACCOUNTS
2016/17

Northamptonshire Healthcare
NHS Foundation Trust

MAKING A
DIFFERENCE
FOR YOU,
WITH YOU

NORTHAMPTONSHIRE HEALTHCARE NHS
FOUNDATION TRUST
Annual Report and Accounts 2016/17

Presented to Parliament pursuant to Schedule 7, paragraph 25 (4) (a) of the National
Health Service Act 2006.
© 2017 Northamptonshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust

CONTENTS
PERFORMANCE REPORT

6

INTRODUCTION

6

PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

6

ABOUT US

6

OUR SERVICE PORTFOLIO

7

OUR LOCAL COMMISSIONERS

10

PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS

18

ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT

29

INTRODUCTION

29

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

29

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

29

NOMINATIONS AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

36

AUDIT COMMITTEE

38

OUR AUDITORS

39

CHARITABLE SUPPORT

42

OUR QUALITY GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

43

EQUALITY

50

STATEMENT OF DISCLOSURE

51

REGISTERS OF INTERESTS

51

REMUNERATION REPORT

52

STAFF REPORT

58

STAFF SURVEY

66

FUTURE PRIORITIES AND TARGETS

68

ANNUAL REPORT DISCLOSURES

70

GOVERNANCE

71

COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS

74

GOVERNORS

76

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

81

QUALITY REPORT

91

PART ONE

92

INTRODUCTION

93

STATEMENT OF QUALITY

95

STATEMENT FROM OUR DIRECTOR

97

STORIES FROM THIS YEAR

98

PART TWO

102

PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT AND STATEMENTS OF ASSURANCE FROM THE BOARD

102

OUR QUALITY PRIORITIES FOR 2017/18

103

STATEMENTS OF ASSURANCE FROM THE BOARD

114

NATIONAL CLINICAL AUDITS

115

LOCAL CLINICAL AUDITS

116

ACCREDITATION SCHEMES

118

RESEARCH AND INNOVATION ADVICE AND SUPPORT

119

REPORTING AGAINST CORE INDICATORS

125

PERFORMANCE AGAINST RELEVANT INDICATORS AND PERFORMANCE THRESHOLDS

136

PART THREE

141

PROGRESS AGAINST OUR 2015/16 PRIORITIES

141

DUTY OF CANDOUR

158

SIGN UP TO SAFETY

159

STAFF SURVEY RESULTS

160

PATIENT EXPERIENCE

161

STAFF ENGAGEMENT

166

CARE QUALITY COMMISSION (CQC) RATINGS

167

OUR RATINGS GRID

170

HOW OUR QUALITY ACCOUNT WAS PREPARED

172

OUR QUALITY CARE PRIORITIES - EASY READ

173

ANNEX 1

174

ANNEX 2

18

FINANCE REPORT

18

INTRODUCTION

185

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES

186

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

187

NOTES TO ACCOUNTS

191

AUDITOR’S REPORT

238

PERFORMANCE REPORT
INTRODUCTION
Northamptonshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (NHFT) provides healthcare
services to the people of Northamptonshire, as well as some specialist services in
bordering and nearby counties. We offer a comprehensive range of physical, mental
health and specialist services, many of which are provided in hospitals, General
Practitioner (GP) surgeries and clinics. We operate from a range of sites across the
county including those located in Corby, Daventry, Kettering, Northampton and
Wellingborough.
We are committed to delivering care for our patients in their own homes
whenever possible and provide many services outside of hospitals and in the
community.

PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW
After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that
Northamptonshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.

ABOUT US
As a health and wellbeing organisation that is dedicated to making a positive
difference, our strategic and organisational objectives keep safe, quality care at the
foundation of what we do every day. By continually innovating, and striving to make a
difference to our community, and those working for our Trust, we aim to serve the
people of Northamptonshire and surrounding areas with safe, quality care. We deliver
this from an understanding of our local healthcare needs, economy and the changing
demands of our community.
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OUR SERVICE PORTFOLIO
ADULT MENTAL HEALTH AND
SPECIALTY SERVICES
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

Acute Liaison Service and
Psychiatry for Older Persons
Adult Inpatient ICU
Adult Inpatient Low Secure
Adult Inpatient Specialist
Adult Inpatient Acute
CATSS (Crisis Telephone Support
Services)
Changing Minds IAPT Service
Community Mental Health Adult
– Early Intervention N’Step
Criminal Justice Liaison and
Diversion Team
The Warren
Custody Healthcare Team
Eating Disorders Service
Forensic Team
Gender Identity Clinic
Health Based Place of Safety
Learning Disabilities
Memory Assessment Service
Mental Health Navigators
Older Adults Community Mental
Health Team (OACMHT)
Older People’s Inpatient Acute
Northants Personality Disorder
Hub
Planned Care and Recovery
Treatment Service (PCRT)
Police Liaison & Triage
Prisons
Recovery College NHFT
Sexual Assault Referral Centre
(SARC)
National Centre for
Neuromodulation (including
rTMS/ECT)
Urgent Care and Assessment
Team (UCRT)
Younger Persons with Dementia
Team

ADULT SERVICES

x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

ADHD & Asperger’s
Adult Community Hospital
Inpatient Beds
Adults’ Speech & Language
Therapy Services
Community Brain Injury
Community Nursing
Continence Service
Community Therapy Service
Diabetes and High Risk Foot
Service
Diabetes MDT
Diabetic Eye Screening
Programme
Dietetics
Evening Community Nursing
Team
Falls Service
Integrated Sexual Health Services
MSK Occupational Therapy Hand
Therapy
MSK Physiotherapy & ESP
Podiatric Surgery
Specialist Dental Services
Specialist Nursing – Heart Failure
Nurse
Specialist Nursing – Multiple
Sclerosis
Specialist Nursing – Parkinson’s
Disease
Specialist Nursing – Tissue
Viability
Specialist Palliative Care
TB Nursing Service
Unplanned Intermediate Care
Team
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CHILDREN’S SERVICES
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

CAMHS in the Community
CAMHS Inpatients
Children and Young People
ADHD & Asperger’s
Children and Young People
Community Eating Disorder
Service
Children’s 0-19 Services
Children’s CTPLD
Children’s Therapy Services –
Speech & Language Therapy
Team
Children’s Therapy Services –
Occupational Therapy
Children’s Therapy Services –
Physiotherapy
Community Children’s Nursing
Consultant Community
Paediatrics
Specialist Dental Services
Looked After Children
Short Breaks for Disabled
Children and Young People
Special School Nursing Team
Referral Management Centre

OTHER SERVICES
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

Communicare (Occupational
Health)
End of Life Care Practice
Development Team
Infection Prevention and Control
Innovation and Research
Library Services
Pharmacy
Safeguarding
Spiritual Wellbeing
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OUR HISTORY

OUR DRIVERS

We were formed in April 2001, following the
merger of Northampton Community
Healthcare NHS Trust and Rockingham Forest
NHS Trust. Then known as Northamptonshire
Healthcare NHS Trust, we became a
Foundation Trust in May 2009.

NHS England’s Five Year Forward View
(published in 2014) proposed the introduction
of new care models that address gaps in
health and wellbeing, care and quality, as
well as finance and efficiency. These models
put the patient at the heart of the system and
promote greater personalisation, as well as
emphasise local decision-making. This year,
NHS England shared its Next steps on the Five
Year Forward View. Urgent care and general
practice, as well as cancer and mental health
illness are critical areas of focus, in addition to
helping frail and older people to stay healthy
and independent. The NHS is also continuing
to drive Sustainability and Transformation
Partnerships, in order to integrate funding
and services at a local level.

OUR COMMUNITY
Today, operating as Northamptonshire
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust, our 4,500
staff contribute to and provide dedicated
healthcare to people in our community.
Northamptonshire’s current population of
around 750,000 has grown 3.2% in the last
five years. This is greater than the national
population growth of 2.5%. Like the rest of
England, our over 75-year-old population is
growing quickly. Our ethnic population
continues to grow, however the majority of
people in Northamptonshire belong to the
white ethnic group.
19% of Northamptonshire adults smoke, and
two in three people are overweight – both of
these rates are higher than the national
average. Demand for urgent care is rising by
4-5% a year, and there are high rates of
under-18 conceptions and levels of self-harm
and drug misuse. These factors can result in
low life expectancy, high infant mortality and
mortality rates for cardiovascular disease and
cancer. In rural areas, there are high rates of
people killed and injured on roads. While the
overall health profile of the county’s
population is in line with England’s average,
different localities have different health
needs. Corby, Northampton and Kettering
have relatively high levels of health
deprivation. By contrast, South
Northamptonshire, East Northamptonshire
and Daventry have relatively healthy
populations.

In response, we have developed new care
models locally that foster partnerships with
the NHS, social care, and the voluntary and
community sectors. These developments are
part of the Northamptonshire Sustainability
and Transformation Plan (STP), which brings
commissioners and providers across
Northamptonshire’s health and social care
economy together to ‘improve the health and
wellbeing of all people in Northamptonshire
and reduce health inequalities by enabling
people to help themselves’. The STP was
created to transform the local health and care
system. With transformation at both national
and local level, and our local community’s
demographic growth, the Trust is planning
for increased demand on its services, an
increase in focus on improvements to the
most health deprived areas and a continued
focus on services for frail, older and long-term
users of health services.

Total number of people 754,131
35% live in Northampton
14% live in Kettering
10% live in Wellingborough
10% live in Corby
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OUR LOCAL COMMISSIONERS

OUR LOCAL CONTEXT

We partner with commissioners NHS Corby
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), NHS
Nene CCG, NHS England and
Northamptonshire County Council to provide
physical and mental healthcare services. We
also work closely with NHS providers,
including Northampton General Hospital NHS
Trust, Kettering General Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust and local GPs. We continue
to align our plans with those of our
commissioners. As a Trust, we hold contracts
with four main commissioners – Corby CCG,
Nene CCG, NHS England, Northamptonshire
County Council (NCC). We also partnered with
NCC and the University of Northampton to
launch a new community interest company
called First for Wellbeing in April 2016. Our
contracts with these commissioners range
from universal services for children, young
people and families to specialist services for
older people with complex physical and
mental health needs. In 2016/17, we
continued to work with local commissioners
and providers to develop the
Northamptonshire Sustainability
Transformation Plan (STP), which signals our
strategic direction for the next few years to
2021. Looking ahead, the Trust must also be
adaptable to the change that comes from the
four new care models described in the STP:

As the Trust reported last year, we continue
to operate in a mixed health economy made
up of two acute trusts, four ‘at scale’ primary
care organisations (three primary care
federations and a ‘super practice’), council
services, independent sector providers and
third sector organisations. This is why we
continue to approach ways of working
together proactively and collaboratively.
Key providers operating in
Northamptonshire
ͻ Kettering General Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust
ͻ Northampton General Hospital NHS Trust
ͻ The three new GP federations: GP
Alliance (Northampton), 3Sixty Care
(North Northamptonshire) and DocMed
(South Northamptonshire)
ͻ The Lakeside GP ‘super practice’
ͻ Olympus Care Services (OCS)
ͻ First for Wellbeing
ͻ St. Andrew’s Healthcare
ͻ A variety of third sector organisations
represented by Voluntary Impact
Northamptonshire and including Age UK
and Mind
ͻ East Midlands Ambulance Service (EMAS)

1. Urgent care (such as emergency
services)
2. Complex care (for people with
multiple needs)
3. Scheduled care (such as planned
operations and outpatient clinics)
4. The prevention of ill health
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H OW THIS AFFECTS US
Our economic context means we need to
continue to develop ways of working with
organisations. These partnerships are critical
to our delivery of our strategy and are based
on the following strategic observations:
ͻ The Trust needs to plan for demographic
growth, which is expected to be slightly
higher than the national average. This
will mean more demand for our services.
ͻ In particular, we need to focus on
improvements to services in the most
health deprived areas of the county.
ͻ Likewise, we must give more attention to
services for frail and older people, and
those with long-term conditions, who are
significant users of health services.
ͻ The health and social care system has
financial challenges, so the Trust must
continue to work with its partners on
ways of using the available resources to
the best effect in the system.

ͻ We must react to the move towards
population health systems and outcomesbased commissioning.
ͻ When services are tendered in our core
region, we must be prepared for strong
local and national competition. Tenders
in neighbouring regions could offer
opportunities to grow.
ͻ Our leading opportunity is to develop
out-of-hospital services. However, this
could also bring threats as new GP
federations and acute providers think
about their own longer-term business
models.
Fundamentally, our main objective must be
to make sure that our services are
continually improving in quality and costeffectiveness – to make sure they are
always effective and efficient. This provides
an increased capacity to meet the health
demands of our population, keep health
economy stakeholders on side, minimise
competitive threats and capitalise on business
development opportunities as they arise.
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OUR VISION
Our vision is to be a leading provider of outstanding, compassionate care. We updated this in 2016
to reflect the development of our strategic themes below.
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OUR STRATEGY – DIGBQ
Our strategy is known as DIGBQ, which stands
for Develop, Innovation, Grow, Build and
Quality. In essence, this means developing our
current services and pathways of care, while
innovating and growing our services. Our
ability to develop, innovate and grow
depends on building an organisation with
highly effective people, systems and
processes. And quality and safety is at the
foundation of everything we do.

OUR MISSION
Our mission is ‘Making a difference for you,
with you’. Chosen by our staff and
stakeholders in 2016, this mission underpins
all we do. For us, it represents our future road
map. It is enduring, outlines our purpose and
sets the standard for our actions and
decisions. It means that in everything we do
and through every service we provide, we
want to make a positive difference in
people's lives – for those we care for, those
we work with and those who work for us.
Everyone is part of our team.

productivity. This programme is divided into
three plans, each of which is linked to an
operational area and service. There is also a
fourth transformation plan for our Corporate
Services.
1. Access to Adult Services
We have enhanced the way our core Adult
Services are accessed by introducing a Single
Point of Access and Clinical Decisions Unit.
This unit is designed to consistently deliver
the right care, at the right time, from the
right professional, for patient needs across
the county. Patients now have more choice
because we have expanded how and when
our Adult Therapies can be accessed, for
example with the introduction of group
classes and more weekend clinics.
Objectives
x To expand capacity to respond to
rising demand and complex needs
x To enhance access to services seven
days a week
x To champion and leverage the benefits
of our new mobile working
technologies in the community
x To collaborate with primary care,
acute partners and social care to
integrate pathways for joined-up care
2. Coordinated mental health services
Mental Health, Learning Disability and
Specialty Services have accomplished a great
deal this year. The services have worked in
close partnership with Nene and Corby CCGs,
which was driven by the Transforming Care
for People with Learning Disabilities report
(published in January 2015 by NHS England).
As a result, there is an enhanced community
offer for people with learning disabilities,
which is aligned with the move to a bed-free
model.

OUR STRATEGIC
PROGRAMMES
In order to respond to the changing health
and care economy context, we recognise that
we need to focus on transformation within
the organisation and across the local care
economy. As a result, we developed an
internal transformation programme that aims
to improve outcomes for patients and our

In addition, Mental Health Services have been
developing significant pathway changes in
response to demand and expectation. Urgent
Care and Assessment Teams have been
developed to offer an integrated screening
model that includes crisis and primary care
offers. Lastly, Planned Care and Recovery
Teams have also been developed to remodel
how Community Mental Health Teams work.
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There are new opportunities in 2017 to
develop models for individual packages of
care that support timely rehabilitation
placements and improve discharge processes
for service users. NHFT’s focus on service user
led recovery work is continuing at pace, and
as our Recovery College launched its first
courses the year ahead looks promising.
Coproduction continues to be at the heart of
everything we do. The Trust’s programme for
improving access to services for black minority
and ethnic (BME) communities has had a
successful year training staff and will finalise
the Trust-wide cultural competency toolkit
later in 2017.
Objectives
x To develop sustainable models of
single gender inpatient provision
within Mental Health
x To continue to impact positively on the
wider system challenges through
innovative pathway delivery and
partnership working
x To maintain a focus on crisis care
through leadership of the Crisis Care
Concordat
x To continue to work towards the key
drivers in Northamptonshire’s
Sustainability and Transformation Plan
3. Coordinated Children, Young People and
Family Services
We have expanded the role of the Children
and Young People’s Referral Management
Centre to facilitate all referrals for specialist
community Children’s Services for our Trust
and Northampton General Hospital, as well as
for the countywide emotional wellbeing and
mental health pathway.
Objectives
x To expand the role of our children and
young people’s Referral Management
Centre (RMC) by collaborating with
Northamptonshire County Council and
Nene and Corby CCGs
x To transform community specialist
Children’s Services by integrating a
countywide service with new ways of
working and staff structures that

x

consider the holistic needs of the child
To coordinate specialist Children’s
Services by integrating our speech and
language therapy, community
children’s nurses and our community
paediatrics services in one location, at
Sudborough House, St Mary’s Hospital,
Kettering

4. Corporate Services transformation
programme
During 2016/17, a number of corporate
departments were reviewed and re-designed
to support and align with two new
operational directorates. In addition, we
introduced and developed Operational
Business Units (OBUs) that align operational
and corporate colleagues.
A Trust-wide programme has been
implemented to install Multi-Function Devices
(MFDs). These devices photocopy, print and
scan from a single unit and are used by
multiple staff. This has removed the need for
desktop printers. Software has also been
installed that allows users to print from any
MFD across the organisation, which supports
mobile working.
In addition, there has been, and remains, an
ongoing focus and commitment to recruit
apprentices into the Trust, both within
operational and corporate directorates.
Also this year, a project was established to
introduce voice recognition technology for
medical staff. After a successful trial, this
technology has been rolled out to all senior
doctors with the aim of increasing efficiency
and productivity, as well as the quality and
timeliness of correspondence for other
healthcare professionals.
Lastly, a Task and Finish Group has been
established to review key eSystems within the
Trust to ensure the effectiveness of their
implementation, use and integration. Key
focus areas include the Electronic Staff Record
(ESR), which includes myESR (Employee Self
Service) and myTEAM (Manager Self Service),
alongside eRoster and Employee Online.

………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….
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SUMMARY OF CURRENT ORGANISATIONAL RISKS
Our Board of Directors reviews our key organisational risks on a bi-monthly basis using the
organisational risk register. As of March 2017, the key risks are shown in the following heat map.

Summary of current organisational risks

OUR BIGGEST RISKS
During 2016/17, the most significant risks to the Trust included:
1. The Trust was materially unable to deliver its 2016-17 financial plan
2. Regulatory non-compliance with Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) targets
would jeopardise the Trust’s risk rating
3. The Trust was unable to maintain the right workforce capability and capacity to deliver its
strategic plan
4. The Trust was unable to deliver its financial plan and support Sustainability and
Transformation Plan for implementation from 2017 to 2019
These risks were mitigated by action plans and control mechanisms including scrutiny and
management of the Trust’s financial performance, rolling recruitment programmes across all
directorates and safe staffing monitoring and reporting. Risks three and four noted above will
carry forward as significant risks into 2017/18.
15

REVIEW OF STATUTORY TARGETS
In 2016/17 we achieved 13 out of the 13 of our statutory targets that were statutory at Q4. Our
performance against target is summarised in the table below.

SCORED INDICATORS 2016/17

2016/17 2015/16
TARGET OUTTURN
95%
97.22%

97.3% 97.3% 97.8%

98.1%

Adult CPA patients having formal review
within 12 months
Early intervention in psychosis – p atients
seen within two weeks of referral
Admissions to inpatient services having
a ccess to crisis resolution home treatment
teams

95%

95.45%

97.3% 99.7% 96.6%

95.7%

50%

N/A

94.7% 93.3% 95.5%

95.8%

95%

97.8%

97.4% 96.8% 95.7%

95.5%

Delayed transfer of care – a dult mental
health, older adults mental health and
learning disability
Access to healthcare for people with a
learning disability (se
e lf-ccertification)
Improving access to psychological
therapies: patients seen within six weeks
o f referral
Improving access to psychological
therapies: patients seen within 18 weeks
o f referral
18 week referral to treatment (non
a dmitted patients) – complete pathways
18 week RTT (non admitted patients) –
incomplete pathways
Data completeness: identifiers
Data completeness: outcomes (patients on
C PA)
Data completeness: community services –
referral information
Data completeness: community services –
care contact information

7.5%

4.3%

3.5%

3.6%

N/A

N/A

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

75%

N/A

68.9% 84.6% 86.1%

81.4%

95%

N/A

98.4% 99.6% 99.8%

99.8%

95%

100%

100%

N/A

N/A

N/A

92%

99.8%

100%

100%

100%

100%

97%
50%

98.0%
78.6%

99.3% 98.7% 97.1%
88.5% 88.1% 86.0%

97.1%
88%

50%

65.7%

66.1% 65.1% 65.1%

65%

50%

99.9%

99.8% 99.9% 99.9%

99.9%

Data completeness: comm
munity services –
referral to treatment information

50%

100.0%

100%

100%

Adult CPA patients receiving follow-u
up
contact within seven days of discharge

Q1

Q2

100%

Q3

100%

Q4
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PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS
OUR PERFORMANCE
NHS Improvement reviews our performance
using the Single Oversight Framework
(previously the Risk Assessment Framework).
We are also required to comply with the Care
Quality Commission’s and Ofsted’s regulatory
frameworks. In order to continually improve
the quality of care we provide to our patients,
service users, families and carers, we also
internally analyse performance, as well as
obtain feedback from our service
commissioners and partners. We use surveys
to determine qualitative and quantitative
performance feedback, as well as service
reviews and audits to identify areas of
effectiveness, challenges and areas to focus
on for improvement. In addition to reviews
and surveys, we set financial, governance,
incident and quality metrics for targets that
we measure, review and analyse.
Measuring our performance
We measure our performance in the
following areas:
ͻ Staff productivity, resource and
performance
ͻ Environmental matters
ͻ Organisational equality and diversity
ͻ Quality performance, assurance and
improvement
ͻ Patient safety, experience and feedback
ͻ Financial targets, plan and performance
The Board of Directors routinely receives and
discusses an Integrated Performance
Dashboard, which provides a summary of
performance against key metrics and
supporting narrative. The dashboard is
subject to regular review and ongoing
development.
Staff productivity, resource and
performance
Our ever-changing environment and internal
transformation have required new
approaches to staff and resource.
In order to better evaluate our productivity
and performance, we have introduced new

systems and processes. We measure our staff
productivity, resource and performance in the
following ways.
Staff survey and engagement
Each year, we survey our staff population to
understand our progress and challenges with
harassment, bullying, abuse, as well as equal
opportunities and discrimination. This helps
us to make changes and improvements that
allow our staff greater capacity to perform,
without concern for their safety and
wellbeing. The correlation between staff
engagement and performance means we
continue to measure and review our results
with staff. We measure results every quarter,
and compare findings year-on-year to make
adjustments to our communication and
actions.
Staff resource
We have continued to roll out an eRoster
system that helps us to achieve the flexibility
our services require and to ensure we use
resources efficiently. Currently, over 75% of
the Trust’s services are using the eRoster
platform. We have developed a plan to
increase adoption of this system and are on
track to complete the roll-out by 31st May
2017. In addition, we have been reviewing
and continue to analyse our agency staffing
in terms of spend, availability of resource and
the management of rotas. Our eRoster system
will also support this analysis.
Staff performance
This year, appraisals have increased. Our
internal records identify that 90% of staff
received an appraisal this year, compared to
82% last year, and the quality of the
appraisals improved. We also invested in jobrelated training, staff advocacy and open
forums, as well as in pulse surveys, to help us
further understand how we can positively
impact performance and encourage the
involvement and motivation of staff.
Environmental matters
Our Sustainable Development Management
Plan (SDMP), approved by our Board of
Directors, has been designed to clarify our
18

objectives on environmental matters,
sustainable development and climate change.
It also sets out a clear plan of action for the
future. Sustainable development and carbon
management are corporate responsibilities
that we take very seriously. Our SDMP
provides clear governance for an assurance
process that considers all legal requirements,
while taking into account the demands of
providing high quality healthcare. Based on
the right mix of social, economic and
environmental factors that are fundamental
to creating a sustainable health service, our
SDMP will also help our organisation to meet
its carbon reduction commitments and make
essential efficiency savings. In 2016/17 we
continued to reduce our carbon emissions by
a further 9% to 9,057 tCO2e.
Our SDMP helps us to:
x
x
x
x
x
x

Meet minimum statutory and policy
requirements of sustainable
development
Save money through increased
efficiency and resilience
Improve the environment in which
care is delivered, for both patients and
staff
Have robust governance arrangements
in place to monitor progress
Demonstrate a good reputation for
sustainability
Align sustainable development
requirements with the strategic
objectives of the organisation

acknowledgement of our commitment to
reducing our environmental impact and the
continual improvement of environmental
performance, the accreditation shows we
have made good progress with our carbon
footprint reduction.
Organisational equality, diversity and
inclusion
As a major employer and provider of health
and wellbeing services in Northamptonshire,
we strive to be a leader of equality
promotion. We do so by valuing diversity,
tackling health inequalities and building
strong and sustainable partnerships with local
stakeholders. With a large, diverse workforce
and patient population, we recognise that
promoting human rights, equality and
diversity – while tackling inequality,
discrimination and harassment – is central to
the achievement of our vision and core
values.
We seek to comply with the requirements of
the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) to
make sure that we consider the needs of all
individuals across our policy development,
delivery of services and employment practices.
In line with our duties as an employer and
provider of NHS services, we also have an
equality and inclusion policy that provides a
framework to ensure compliance with the
Equality Act 2010 and Human Rights Act
1998.
Our Equality and Inclusion Assurance Board
provides both the governance and leadership
to ensure that equality and inclusion is
mainstreamed across the organisation.
We also ensure that we effectively use
equality analysis for our decision-making and
risk assessment across the organisation. In
addition, as we continue to promote equality
through bespoke projects and activities, it is
compulsory for all staff to receive equality,
inclusion and human rights training. An
example of this is our Moving Ahead Project,
which aims to address health inequalities for
BME communities and unconscious bias
training.

This year, we were recognised with the
Investors In the Environment (iiE) Green Level
Accreditation certificate. An

We use the national performance tool for
equality, the NHS Equality Delivery System 2
(EDS2). Designed to help NHS organisations
understand how equality can drive
19

improvements and strengthen the
accountability of services to patients and the
public, we are focused on addressing
inequalities and delivering positive outcomes
for all groups protected under the Equality
Act 2010. Following on from our early EDS2
work the organisation is now implementing
its outcomes and planning the next steps.
We have complied with the NHS Workforce
Race Equality Standard and have used it as a
framework to help drive our work with staff
networks. We are implementing the NHS
Accessible Information Standard to ensure
that disabled service users are provided with
information in appropriate formats and that
our patient records capture any specific
communication needs our service users may
have. In addition, an analysis of our staff
survey results from groups with protected
characteristics highlighted several areas that
the Trust will be focusing on.
In March 2016 our Leadership Matters staff
conference, ‘Changing the lens’, was
coproduced with our diversity network leads.
It focused on diversity and unconscious bias as
its themes.
We heard powerful stories from members of
our staff, received presentations on
unconscious bias and WRES standards and
came together to discuss how we can change
the lens on diversity and make a positive
difference.
We will continue to work with our staff
networks and local community to address
discrimination and improve staff and patient
experience and outcomes for all. The Trust is
committed to ensuring that we provide
appropriate and responsive services across our
diverse population and workforce.
Quality performance, assurance and
improvement
Our culture of continuous quality
improvement is linked to the five CQC
domains in its planning and development. We
have grouped our priorities for improvement
into three areas – patient safety, patient
experience and clinical effectiveness.

1. Patient safety
x To reduce the level of risk associated
with self-harm incidents
x To embed the mortality and morbidity
process across the organisation
x To increase the levels of reporting
associated with falls, ensuring that all
relevant patients and service users in
inpatients and community settings
have a falls assessment completed, and
those identified as being at risk have a
falls care plan implemented
2. Patient experience
x To collaboratively develop a recovery
college model with the organisation
x To increase the number of service users
and carers involved in staff
recruitment
x Using iWantGreatCare (iWGC) and
other sources of feedback to learn
from and respond to patients and
carers
3. Clinical effectiveness
x To work collaboratively internally to
share our patient safety experiences
and outcomes in order to improve
learning from incidents, complaints
and compliments and reduce harm
x Develop the skills and competence of
all newly qualified Band 5 nursing staff
and allied health professionals (AHPs)
x To increase the reporting associated
with completing physical examinations
within the mental health services

Patient safety, experience and feedback
The quality of patient care, patient safety and
experience is central to our philosophy as
encapsulated in our mission ‘making a
difference for you, with you’. We measure
this through a number of quantitative and
qualitative methods, notably:
x
x
x
x

Performance data
Our response to incidents, complaints
and PALS concerns
Feedback, including compliments,
PALS, iWantGreatCare, NHS Choices
and patient opinion
Information from our key
stakeholders, such as commissioners,
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x

GPs, Healthwatch and the voluntary
sector
Through close working with patients,
service users and carers

During the year, we had a total of 28,882
reviews through our systematic feedback
system iWantGreatCare. 94% of reviewers
would recommend our services to friends and
family, and they awarded us a rating of 4.74
out of 5 stars for their overall experience.
Throughout the year, we introduced a
number of initiatives to improve patient
safety and experience, including:
x

x
x
x
x

Reviews of the improvements in the
level of harm associated with
medication incidents from our Datix
reporting system
Better triangulation of information
and data to identify trends and themes
Strengthening of the Quality
Framework to ensure more effective
ward-to-board assurance
Implementing the Sign up to Safety
Campaign
Improved training and communication
in relation to medication management
and lessons learned

Financial targets, plan and performance
Our plan for 2016/17 was developed in the
context of a difficult national economic
position and a challenging local health and
social care economy. In addition to this, there
were significant structural and organisational
changes planned during the year that were
expected to impact the Trust over the
medium term planning period.
In response, the Trust developed an annual
plan that showed a surplus position in
2016/17 that met the agreed control total and
maintained an overall financial sustainability

x
x

Enhancing our leadership and
management programmes
Strengthening our staff appraisal
process, peer review and quality
inspection processes

In addition, we continue to conduct National
Early Warning Score (NEWS) training and
share best practice for NEWS to improve
patient safety and effectiveness. We
introduced an increased focus on the levels of
reporting associated with the venous
thromboembolism (VTE).
We recognise that recruiting the right staff is
key to our mission, so we have strengthened
our processes to capture the expertise of
patients, service users and carers through
increased involvement at all stages of the
recruitment process. We are measuring the
success of our work in this area through the
patient involvement team, recruitment and
training data, as well as through our
monitoring of Duty of Candour, patient and
carer feedback, quality metrics and
performance data.
Our patient experience group (PEG) structure
gives us feedback about their needs and helps
us to steer changes in pathways and activities,
to make improvements and progress.
risk rating of ‘4’. The plan’s intention was to
provide the necessary organisational stability
while the Trust and the wider local health
and social care economy developed further
plans for the transformational change and
efficiency gains required in future years.
The Trust received income of £199.009
million, incurred expenditure of £195.694
million and owned and operated £75.305
million of assets in order to provide a
comprehensive range of mental health,
community healthcare and sexual health
services for the local population in 2016/17.
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Our key financial targets in the 2016/17 plan and performance against these are shown in the
table below.
FINANCIAL TARGET
Surplus/((deficit)
Cost improvements (savings)
Net current assets
Use of resources rating*
*

FINANCIAL TARGET
£1.3 million
£7.9 million
£9.0 million

*From 1 October 2016, the Risk Assessment
Framework was replaced with the Single
Oversight Framework (SOF). During 2016/17
the scoring changed, under the Financial
Sustainability Risk Rating, a rating of 1
indicated the most serious risk and 4 the least
risk. Under the SOF Use of Resources rating,
providers are scored 1 (best) to 4 against each
metric.
The Trust has a strong record of planning and
delivering a good financial sustainability risk
rating (now Use of Resources rating). The
Trust performed in line with the plan against
its main financial targets for the year and is
planning to achieve a small surplus in line
with the allocated control total based on the
delivery of cost improvement savings targets
of £7.6 million in 2017/18.

ACTUAL
£3.3 million
£7.9 million
£11.9 million
1

VARIANCE
£2.0 million
£nil
£2.9 million

After making enquiries, the directors have a
reasonable expectation that
Northamptonshire Healthcare NHS
Foundation Trust has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, they
continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the accounts. The major financial
risks to the Trust in 2017/18 will be the
achievement of a savings target of £7.6
million and the impact of the continuation of
planned structural and organisational change
in local health and social care services. The
risk associated with the savings target is
managed through the development of
detailed savings plans with clinical and service
managers and an established performance
management process that enables review and
action planning on a routine basis, including
at Trust board level. Risk associated with
structural and organisational change is
managed through joint planning and
ongoing engagement with the Trust’s main
commissioners and developing risk-sharing
arrangements.
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refresh, and the development of a
workforce model that meets the needs
of the patient population.

OUR YEAR IN BRIEF
The Trust operates in a complex and changing
local and national context. Below are
significant developments that impacted our
work and plans during 2016/17, as well as
milestones reached by the Trust.

x

The best practice wound care
transformation project seeks to
provide exemplary quality of care for
patients with long-term wounds using
innovative techniques and
products. This project’s goal is to
reduce wound healing times and pain.
We have engaged a specialist
community interest company to deliver
training to key staff. We are working
to train other key professionals, for
example practice nurses, so that we
are able to build capacity, and spread
professional and clinical knowledge
across the wider workforce in the
community.

x

The Children and Young People’s
Referral Management Centre (RMC)
has been expanded and now manages
referrals for Northampton General
Hospital Specialist Children’s Services
and Youth Counselling. The RMC
offers a single point of referral for the
Specialist Children’s Service, daily
clinical screening and a weekly,
integrated panel that meets to discuss
the needs of children requiring more
than one service. With its expanded
services, the referral process has
become much simpler for service
providers such as GPs, teachers and
NCC Children’s Services.

x

We were pleased to be awarded NHS
England Innovation Funding to enable
CAMHS to develop and pilot ‘Live
Chat’. This online facility will offer Live
Chat to young people and their
parents and carers for the emotional
wellbeing and mental health pathway,
which includes CAMHS and youth
counselling, enabling improved
support and access to services.

x

Health Visiting and School Nursing
have undergone significant
transformation during 2016/17. The
service is now evolving to deliver a 019 Integrated Universal Service for
children and young people, and we

Reviews and revisions of our services
During 2016/17, we reviewed a number of our
service lines and models including:
Mental Health, Learning Disability and
Specialty Services
x

The Gender Identity Service was
reviewed and expanded in line with
commissioner expectations. Innovative
ways of working have been
introduced, for example introducing
Trust GP clinics and the use of iPads for
speech and language interventions.

x

A new model for the Trust’s inpatient
mental health wards was developed
and introduced in order to meet single
gender legislation.

x

Community Mental Health has
undergone significant transformation.
Its re-design created an Urgent Care &
Assessment Team (UCAT) and a
Planned Care and Recovery Team
(PCRT) to support the crisis pathway,
reduce admissions and manage patient
flow. This new model went live in
September 2016 and brought together
the Primary Care Liaison Service, Crisis
Team and Community Mental Health
Teams.

Adult & Children’s Services
x

The Trust is currently mid-way through
a three-year community nursing
transformation programme. The focus
of this transformation is on service
delivery. Our vision is to deliver the
right care, at the right time, by the
right professional to provide better
outcomes for patients. This significant
programme will improve access to
mobile technology for community
staff, introduce a single point of
access, clinical decision unit,
geographical working, a clinical record
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have introduced an administration hub
for the service. This has created a
single point of access for professionals,
parents and carers.
x

Our Specialist Dental Services have
undergone a service transformation
and re-design which has impacted
both the service delivery and staffing

model. The focus of this re-design was
to deliver a need based, effective and
efficient specialist Dental Service. The
service moved from three key clinical
settings in Northampton (St James),
Wellingborough (Isebrook) and Corby
(Willowbrook) and now includes
extended duty dental nurses (EDDN).

………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….
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A NALYSIS OF OUR PERFORMANCE THIS YEAR
PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

PERFORMANCE CHALLENGES

x Delivery of key financial, qualitative and
operational targets.
x Development of strong strategic alliances with
key health and social care partners including
those in the primary care, acute and voluntary
sectors.
x The launch of 3Sixty Care Partnership, a joint
venture between the Trust and one of the new
GP federations, which we believe will benefit
populations. This will involve closer working
and planning between local providers, and
working towards the new Multispecialty
Community Provider Model. The partnership
aims to help us to get the best possible
outcomes for our patients.
x Contributing to the ongoing development of
First For Wellbeing Community Interest
Company, in conjunction with Northampton
County Council and the University of
Northampton.
x The Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection
report in March 2017 rated the Trust as ‘Good’
overall, compared to our previous overall
rating published in August 2015 of ‘Requires
Improvement’. In the 2017 inspection, the Trust
received an ‘Outstanding’ rating in the Caring
domain.
x Positive patient feedback via iWantGreatCare
on their experience of using our services.
x Continued development of our performance
management systems and processes, including
a focus on integrated performance dashboard
reporting.

x Our continued delivery of key performance
targets in an increasingly challenging
financial environment.
x Ensuring that the key risks to the delivery
of the Trust’s strategic programmes,
including financial plan deliverability and
workforce capacity and capability, are
mitigated effectively.
x Delivering our transformation and quality
improvement priorities (including through
partnership working) to achieve a
sustainable health and social care economy,
which is facing a range of pressures and
demands.
x Ensuring we address the issues highlighted
in the CQC’s inspection report, in particular
our rating of ‘Requires Improvement’ for
the Safety domain, as we continue our
quality improvement journey.
x Driven by the requirements of the
Sustainability and Transformation Plan
(STP), develop our performance overview
‘lens’ in such a way that encompasses a
system performance as well as
organisational performance focus.
x Continuing to develop effective
mechanisms to truly listen and respond to
the views of patients, carers, staff,
governors and members on the Trust’s
services and how they can be improved.
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This indicates our commitment to
reducing our environmental impact
and the continual improvement of
environmental performance. The Trust
has made good progress on its carbon
footprint reduction, as well as some
significant positive movement on the
Sustainable Development
Management Plan (SDMP) targets.

LOCAL DEVELOPMENTS
This year has seen successes as well as
challenges. At a local level, there was much
change and progress. Below is a summary of
developments in the county and within our
local healthcare context.
x

x

x

x

In February, our rTMS services at
Berrywood were shared on local
television. Dr Alex O’Neill-Kerr,
Medical Director, and Tim Millward,
Consultant Psychiatrist were
interviewed, and a service user
explained her journey of depression
over 40 years and how rTMS has
helped her in a positive way.
We launched our joint partnership
with 3Sixty Care Partnership, a joint
venture with one of the new GP
federations. The partnership aims to
help us to get the best possible
outcomes for our patients, which is our
joint aim.
We worked with statutory and
voluntary sector leaders from across
the Northamptonshire care economy
to develop a five-year Sustainability
and Transformation Plan (STP), which
describes how local leaders will close
three widening gaps by March 2021.
The three areas of focus are: health
and wellbeing, care and quality, and
funding and efficiency.
A CQC inspection took place from the
23rd to the 27th January 2017, and the
Trust’s overall status was reported as
‘Good’ – and ‘Outstanding’ in the
Caring domain.

x

Our new staff intranet called ‘The Staff
Room’ launched on 1st November
2016. The new intranet is focused on
teams, with every service (or group of
services) having their own page to
display information they want their
team and their colleagues at the Trust
to see.

x

We were very proud to attend the
Investors In the Environment (iiE)
Awards in February, and to collect our
Green Level Accreditation certificate.

x

Our second Quality Awards ceremony
was held on the evening of the 11th
November 2016. It was an excellent
opportunity to celebrate and showcase
the Trust’s services. Award categories
included Team of the Year, Unsung
Hero, Quality Care and NHS
Ambassador.

x

On the 20th October 2016,
organisations and communities across
Northamptonshire were invited to
celebrate diversity at the ‘Side by Side
Peer Support and BME Communities’
event held at the Royal & Derngate
Theatre in Northampton. The event,
which also commemorated a
celebration of Black History Month,
was led by MIND in partnership with
NHFT, Dostiyo, African Yams,
Zimwomen and Polakwnorthampton. ͒

x

In September, the Trust’s health
visiting service was awarded Stage 2
Unicef Baby Friendly accreditation.
This is a globally recognised award run
by Unicef and indicates we are
committed to providing support that is
best for the mother’s needs and her
baby.

x

In August, the Trust opened ‘The
Warren’ to provide a safe environment
for service users who are suffering
crisis situations that are impacting
their mental health. It is also for
service users who are in crisis as a
result of deteriorating mental health.
This is a countywide resource
providing a homely, seven-bedded
environment in a non-hospital setting.
It is staffed by support workers who
adopt a collaborative and solutionfocused approach to supporting
service users in the management of
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x

x

their current crisis.

NATIONAL DEVELOPMENTS

Ofsted published its report on the
inspection of services for children in
need of help and protection, looked
after children and care leavers, and a
review of the effectiveness of the Local
Safeguarding Children Board in April
2016. Northamptonshire’s services
were rated as ‘Requires improvement’.
The Trust is working with
Northamptonshire County Council and
partner organisations on learnings and
actions as a consequence of the report.

The formulation of the Trust’s strategies and
plans are inevitably informed by national
policy and directives. These key influences
and developments are listed below.

Our facility in Rushden, ‘The Squirrels’,
was awarded an Ofsted ‘Good’ rating,
with positive feedback received about
staff’s relationships with children,
parent feedback and team focus.

x

Our Forest Centre at St Mary’s Hospital
was awarded an Acute Inpatient
Mental Health Services (AIMS)
accreditation for its dedication to
providing high quality patient care.

x

The Northamptonshire Health and
Wellbeing Board launched Supporting
Northamptonshire to Flourish, its joint
health and wellbeing strategy for
Northamptonshire 2016-20. It was
developed by the board, which
includes NHFT, in collaboration with
local partners from around the county.

x

First for Wellbeing, the new
community interest company, was
launched in April 2016. First for
Wellbeing is a joint venture between
NHFT, Northamptonshire County
Council and the University of
Northampton. Together, we have a
shared vision for improving the
physical, mental and social wellbeing
of the population of
Northamptonshire.

x

In January 2017, NHS England released
the Independent Mental Health
Taskforce’s report which
recommended investing significantly
to improve care, supported by
additional investment in mental health
growing to £1 billion annually by
2020/21.

x

To support the implementation of the
Five Year Forward View’s vision of
better health, better patient care and
improved NHS efficiency, NHS England
created a Transformation Fund. This
fund will enable local areas to deliver
on key ambitions identified by the
independent cancer and mental health
taskforces.

x

NHS England set out plans to provide
more support for pregnant women
and new mums suffering mental
illness, as well as to improve care for
the many people with mental health
problems attending A&E in crisis.

x

£40 million was allocated to 20 areas
of the country to fund new specialist
community mental health services for
mums in the immediate run up to and
after birth, and help reach 30,000
more women a year by 2021.

x

In September 2016, a new approach to
overseeing and supporting NHS trusts
and foundation trusts was proposed –
through a Single Oversight
Framework. This replaced Monitor’s
Risk Assessment Framework and the
Trust Development Authority’s (TDA)
accountability framework.

x

Also in late 2016, the Junior Doctors’
industrial action received national
news coverage and public attention.

x

In July 2016, NHS England published a
Multispecialty Community Provider
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(MCP) emerging care model and
contract framework. The framework
outlines how place-based partnerships
can replicate the successful work of
the 14 MCP vanguards, when
establishing their own programmes.
x

Also in July, NHS Improvement
published a new approach to safe
staffing designed to support NHS
providers to deliver the right staff,
with the right skills, in the right place
at the right time.

x

NHS England published its business
plan for 2016/17, with 10 key priorities.

x

In May 2016, Professor Jane
Cummings, Chief Nursing Officer for
England, launched Leading Change,
Adding Value, a framework for
nursing, midwifery and care staff. The
framework sets out how to lead on

delivering better outcomes, better
experiences for patients and staff, in
addition to making better use of
resources.
x

The Care Quality Commission
published a report examining people’s
experiences of end of life care across
England. The report highlights many
examples of good practice, and also
shows that the quality of care for some
people at the end of their life is still
not good enough.

x

Following a public consultation on the
draft policy in November last year, NHS
Improvement and NHS England
published a single national integrated
whistleblowing policy to help
standardise the way NHS organisations
should support staff who raise
concerns.
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT
INTRODUCTION
Providing safe, compassionate care to our patients, service users, families and carers
comes from a collaborative, inclusive and engaged staff and Trust community. Our
care depends on how effectively we govern and review our processes, progress and
opportunities to develop.
We actively seek feedback in these areas, and implement changes that develop our services to be
safely, securely and realistically managed and provided. This report sets out to communicate how
we govern our Trust, manage and engage our people, and how we engage with our stakeholders
and the wider community.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
We believe in providing safe, quality care through a culture of involvement, collaboration and
engagement. Our Board of Directors lead this culture and ensure we are efficiently and effectively
balancing safety and quality, with the right governance. Their specialist skills, knowledge and
experience are critical to our organisation’s delivery of this standard of care.
Our directors are accountable for the development and implementation of our strategy,
monitoring progress and leading strategic projects. The board is satisfied that each of their
directors is appropriately qualified to carry out key functions including setting strategy, monitoring
and managing performance, and ensuring management capacity and capability. The finance
director, medical director and director of nursing, AHPs and quality are professionally qualified,
with relevant and substantial experience. They also maintain their registration in accordance with
the requirements of their professional bodies. All other board members have the appropriate
qualifications, skills or experience to support the services we provide. We are required by the
Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014 to ensure that our
directors are fit and proper for their roles. To fulfil this responsibility, the Trust has undertaken
appropriate Fit and Proper Persons checks for all directors during 2016/17.
Our directors are also committed to ensuring the board operates effectively as a team, and this
commitment is underpinned by ongoing board development activity. All board members regularly
visit clinical service areas to directly gain insights and feedback from our staff and patients, as well
as to identify areas of positive practice and issues requiring further attention.
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OUR DIRECTORS
Directors with voting rights
Paul Bertin, Chairman (until 31 October
2016)
A graduate of the Institute of Purchasing and
Supply, Paul holds a Master of Business
Administration (MBA) and has held leadership
roles in both the public and private sectors.
He has held managing director and corporate
executive director roles in sales, strategic
development, mergers and acquisitions, as
well as non-executive director roles. Paul has
extensive experience in management and
mentoring, with 17 years as a business mentor
and volunteer with The Prince’s Trust.

Crishni Waring, Chair (from 1 November
2016)
Crishni joined the Trust after leadership roles
at Coventry and Warwickshire Partnership
NHS Trust where she was a non-executive
director and senior independent director.
With more than 20 years’ experience in
business, change and HR management,
Crishni’s senior leadership experience is
significant. Her diverse industry knowledge
comes from a background in healthcare,
business services, retail, public sector, logistics
and distribution. In 2010, she established a
consulting and interim management service
agency that serves clients in the public and
private sectors. Crishni is also chair of the
Warwickshire Wildlife Trust.

Midlands Academic Health Science Network
(EMAHSN).

Moira Ingham, Non-Executive Director
A registered nurse, Moira has worked in
several NHS trusts in the south and east of
England, specialising in critical, highdependency care, including the management
of a 35-bed respiratory medicine unit. With a
Master of Science from Kings College, Moira
has held several senior academic roles at the
University of Northampton, latterly as Dean
of the School of Health. Since leaving in 2016,
Moira has worked freelance on curriculum
design and is a clinical assessor for the NMC
international test of competence. She is
currently studying for a Doctor of Business
Administration in higher education
management at the University of Bath.

Bill McFarland, Finance Director (until 31
May 2016)
Bill is a qualified accountant with 39 years of
experience working for the NHS, 23 of which
were at finance director level. He earned his
Master of Business Administration (MBA)
from Cranfield University in 1997 and has
held senior finance roles at Charing Cross, St
Thomas’, and Chelsea and Westminster
hospitals, totalling 14 years of experience in
London teaching hospitals.

Richard Wheeler, Finance Director (from 1
June 2016)
Angela Hillery, Chief Executive
With over 27 years of NHS leadership
experience within community services and a
master’s degree in development disorders,
Angela is also a qualified speech and
language therapist. Previously a director of
operations for the Trust, Angela has served
on the National Management Board of the
Royal College of Speech and Language
Therapy and held a partner role with the
Health Professional Council. Reflecting her
commitment to innovation in healthcare,
Angela is a board member of the East

Richard is a qualified accountant with 11
years of NHS experience. He began his NHS
career as head of finance at the
Leicestershire, Northamptonshire and Rutland
Strategic Health Authority. He then became
deputy director of finance at Oxford
University Hospitals and was most recently
director of finance of East Midlands
Ambulance Service (EMAS). Richard has a
maths degree and was awarded the
Healthcare Financial Management Association
(HFMA) Deputy Finance Director of the Year
in December 2012.
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B ev Messinger, Non-Executive Director and
Senior Independent Director
Currently chief executive of the Institute of
Occupational Safety and Health (IOSH), Bev
has over 30 years of public service experience
in local government, across seven local
authorities, including Northamptonshire
County Council. Her diverse roles in the
voluntary sector include a directorship at a
charity for the long-term unemployed, chair
of the Coventry Citizens Advice Bureau and
trustee of a national charity for people with
learning difficulties and disabilities. Bev is a
Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Personnel
and Development.

Dr Alex O’Neill-Kerr, Medical Director
Alex is a former member of the Board of
Examiners and Senior Course Organisers for
the MRCPsych Examination, a former college
tutor for the Royal College of Psychiatrists,
and a former lecturer and member of the
board of the Faculty of Medicine, University
of the Witwatersrand, South Africa. He
continues to provide clinical and educational
supervision to trainees and medical students,
and has been involved in medical student
placements in the Trust since 2014. Alex has
been the medical director for the Trust since
2003 and was previously involved in the
merger of two local mental health trusts
(Northampton Community Healthcare and
Rockingham Forest). He was part of a
successful Foundation Trust status application
in May 2009 and was involved in the effective
transfer of community services from the
Primary Care Trust in 2011.

Sushel Ohri, Non-Executive Director (until
31 July 2016)
In addition to having experience as a
qualified social worker, Sushel holds both a
master’s degree in ethnic relations and a
diploma in management studies. Currently
the director of a consultancy specialising in
inclusion, cohesion, and equality and
diversity, Sushel is a former group director for
equality and inclusion with Transport For
London. Sushel has 31 years of experience,

with 15 at chief officer level in local
government.

Bruce Minty, Non-Executive Director (until
8 February 2017)
Currently chief operating officer at the
Medical Research Council based in Swindon
and London, Bruce has 22 years' experience at
board level. His financial background and
expertise in performance management and
business planning skills are complemented by
his senior leadership experience. Previously
the accountancy group leader at Cherwell
District Council, Bruce has held senior
positions in finance, is a Chartered
Management Accountant and a member of
the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants.

Julie Shepherd, Director of Nursing, Allied
Health Professionals (AHPs) and Quality
Julie has extensive specialist nursing and
leadership experience with a 35-year career in
the NHS. As a registered general nurse
specialising in orthopaedics and in care of the
elderly and intermediate care, Julie has firsthand knowledge of nursing care. She holds a
master’s degree in managing partnerships in
health and social care, has strong social care
experience and is committed to patientcentred, quality and safe care.

Alastair Watson, Non-Executive Director
(and Audit Committee Chair)
Alastair is an investment director at Innisfree,
a leading infrastructure investment group. He
has over twenty years of project finance and
infrastructure experience and has worked in
both the public and private sectors. Alastair’s
commercial experience is extensive, gained
working with all types of organisations, from
start-ups to large multinational corporates, in
roles covering audit, financial advisory, equity
and debt investment. He also currently sits as
a magistrate on the Leicestershire and
Rutland bench. Alastair is a Fellow of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales.
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Directors in attendance without voting
rights

Jane Carr, Associate Non-Executive Director
(until 31 December 2016)
Jane was chief executive of Voluntary Impact
Northamptonshire (VIN) and has a wealth of
management and business experience in the
private sector and a passion to build
successful cross-sector collaborations with the
community. Jane worked with her colleagues
at VIN to promote the work of the voluntary
sector at a strategic level, as well as
supporting local organisations to grow.

Richard McKendrick, Chief Operating
Officer (until 7 August 2016)
Richard joined in June 2011, from Central and
North West London NHS Foundation Trust,
where he was Service Director of Addictions
and Offender Health. Holding degrees in law
and philosophy, Richard has 20 years of
experience in the voluntary sector, during
which time he held positions including chief
executive of the Albert Kennedy Trust and
Director of Operations with the national
substance misuse charity, Addaction.

Chris Oakes, Director of Human Resources
and Organisational Development
Chris has a wealth of experience within
healthcare, both in the NHS and the
independent sector. He has been involved in
developing high quality human resources
services and leading significant culture
change and organisational development
(OD). Chris was director of Workforce and OD
at the Black Country Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust and prior to that was the
director of HR at St Andrew's Healthcare.
Chris is a member of the Chartered Institute
of Personnel and Development, has an MBA
from Cass Business School (City University)
and recently completed a Master of Science in
Leadership at the University of Birmingham.

Sandra Mellors, Interim Director of
Operations (until 7 August 2016) and Chief
Operating Officer (from 8 August 2016)
Sandra has a wealth of healthcare experience
from a 30-year career in the NHS, with 22 of
those as a physiotherapist before moving into
managerial roles. Previously associate director
of Adult, Primary and Urgent Care at Tower
Hamlets Primary Care Trust and general
manager of Borough and Specialist Services at
Bart’s and London NHS Trust, Sandra joined
us in 2012 as locality manager for
Kettering. In 2014, Sandra was promoted to
deputy director of Adult Services for the Trust
and in February 2016 accepted the role of
interim director of operations. After a
recruitment and selection process, Sandra was
appointed as chief operating officer effective
August 2016.

Lucy Dadge, Director of Strategic
Partnerships (from 8 August 2016)
Lucy was director of transformation for the
Mid Nottinghamshire CCGs and was more
recently programme director for the
Nottinghamshire Sustainable Transformation
Programme Footprint. As director of
transformation, Lucy worked across the
health, social care and voluntary sectors to
develop a new model of integrated care and
secured a Vanguard site for Mid
Nottinghamshire.

What our directors deliver
The purpose of our Board of Directors is to
govern our organisation effectively and, in
doing so, ensure our patients, service users,
families and carers, as well as service partners
and stakeholders, are assured of safe, quality
healthcare.
Our directors’ specific terms of reference
1. To formulate strategy for our
organisation
2. To ensure accountability for the
delivery of our strategy, and seek
assurance that systems of control are
robust and reliable
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3. To shape a positive culture for the
board and organisation
4. To regularly hold meetings in public as
part of its commitment to be
accountable to the public and its other
stakeholders
Our Board of Directors operate in accordance
with the Trust’s constitution and scheme of
delegation. The constitution sets out the
duties of the board and council of governors,
and the scheme of delegation sets out the
type of decisions to be taken by the full board
and/or the Executive Team and individual
directors.
NHS Improvement expects foundation trusts
to carry out an external review of their
governance arrangements every three years.
In 2015/16, we engaged Ernst and Young LLP
(EY) to undertake an external well-led
governance review following a tender
process. EY, who had no other connection to
our Trust, produced a report with positive
feedback on our Board of Directors and no
major deficiencies were highlighted.
It was also a source of reassurance that the
board’s own self-assessment very closely
mirrored EY’s independent assessment of how
well the organisation was performing in each
of these areas.
In the report’s executive summary, EY
commented: “During our review, we
observed numerous examples of good
governance followed by the Trust including a
highly engaged and knowledgeable board
and directorates with passion for creating
long lasting quality improvements. We have
also observed a structure in place to identify
and report local hotspots to the Trust board
via the Directorate Team meetings, Quality
Forum and the Quality and Governance
Committee. Through our discussion with the
deputy medical directors we noted that
clinicians are involved in driving service
improvements. The stakeholders we met also
spoke positively about the impact the chair
and chief executive have made in developing
relationships with partners within the local
health economy. Committee meetings and
Board meetings are heavily focussed on
improving patient safety, care and experience
by regularly reviewing reports relating to

Serious Incidences, Complaints and Safe
Staffing and embedding a feedback tool
called ‘i Want Great Care’, which allows
service users to give real time feedback.”
To further develop good governance practices
in future, we responded to the report by
developing an action plan. During 2016/17,
we regularly revisited the action plan and
have ensured that all actions identified were
incorporated into ‘business as usual’ for either
the Board of Directors or its committees.
Each executive director’s performance is
evaluated through an annual appraisal
process, held by the chief executive whose
performance, in turn, is managed by the
chair. Our chair contributes to the executive
director appraisal process, and reviews the
performance of the non-executive directors
annually.
This appraisal process has been developed
with and agreed by the council of governors.
Our chair’s performance is also appraised,
using specific, measurable and clearly defined
objectives, following an agreed process with
the council of governors. An appraisal panel,
comprising the senior independent director
and members of the council of governors’
nominations and Remuneration Committee,
leads this process. The council of governors
then approves the outcomes of the appraisal
of the chair and non-executive directors.
In keeping with our ongoing improvement
commitment, a number of board
development days and workshops were held
during the year. These included topics such as:
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

Our countywide Sustainability and
Transformation Plan
Our strategic objectives and strategic
partnerships
Multispeciality Community Providers
(MCPs)
Our risk appetite
Piloting our new appraisal process
Preparation for our CQC inspection
visit in January 2017
Training sessions for board members
(for example, Mental Health
Act/Mental Capacity Act training and
WRAP training)
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In addition, during August 2016, we held a
joint session with the council of governors
about the Trust's initiative to move to ‘good
and beyond’. This initiative was implemented
in response to our CQC rating ‘Requires

improvement’ following its inspection in
February 2015. The joint session also looked
at how we learn lessons and change practice
as an organisation.

………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….

OUR BOARD MEETINGS
Directors meet regularly, at both public and private sessions. Additional meetings are arranged
when urgent items require immediate decision-making. At every meeting, our Board of Directors
and committees routinely review their performance against specific criteria. Individual board
committees have either reviewed their performance against their terms of reference or have plans
to review this in the near future.
Crishni Waring chairs the Board of Directors’ meetings and meetings of the council of governors.
She has no significant conflicts to declare. Her current term of office is due to expire on 31 October
2019.
In the event members and governors of our organisation wish to express concerns, and when other
contact channels are inappropriate or have been ineffective, the senior independent director is
available for consultation.

CHAIR

Paul Bertin (until 31 October 2016)
Crishni Waring (from 1 November 2016)

DEPUTY CHAIR

Sushel Ohri (until 31 July 2016)
Bev Messinger (from 1 August 2016)

SENIOR INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

Bev Messinger

CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Angela Hillery

………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….

OUR NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Our non-executive directors bring independent judgement, experience and expertise from outside
the Trust and apply this for the benefit of our organisation, its stakeholders and the wider
community. There are no relationships or circumstances that are likely to affect, or appear to
affect, any director’s independent judgement. For these reasons, the Board of Directors considers
all non-executive directors to be independent.
Our council of governors is responsible for non-executive director appointment and termination,
with the normal appointment term being three years. Non-executive directors are eligible for
reappointment, but usually only for one further period of three years.
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A TTENDANCE AT BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017
25
May
2016

27 July
2016

28
September
2016

30
November
2016

25
January
2017

29 March
2017

Alastair Watson

A

√

√

√

√

√

Angela Hillery

√

√

√

√

√

√

Bev Messinger

A

√

√

√

√

A

Bill McFarland

√
A

√

√

√

√

Richard Wheeler
Dr Alex O’NeillKerr

A

√

√

√

√

A

Julie Shepherd

√

√

√

√

√

A

Moira Ingham

√

A

√

√

√

√

Paul Bertin

√

√

√

Bruce Minty

√

√

√

A

√

Sushel Ohri

A

√
√

√

Crishni Waring



A denotes apologies for absence
 denotes present
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N OMINATIONS AND
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Nominations and Remuneration
Committee is made up of all non-executive
directors. It is led by the Trust’s chair and
meets at a minimum bi-annually, reporting to
the Board of Directors at least once a year. As
a matter of course, the chief executive is
automatically co-opted as a voting member
for all nominations (except for the
identification and nomination of the chief
executive). The committee will also act in
accordance with the relevant provisions of
the Fit and Proper Persons Requirement and
Monitor’s Code of Governance.
The director of human resources and
organisational development routinely attends
meetings to support the committee, and
other directors and external advisors are
invited to attend the committee where
appropriate. The committee acts in
accordance with the relevant provisions of
the Fit and Proper Person’s Requirements and
NHS Improvement’s Code of Governance.
The Nominations and Remuneration
Committee have appointed substantive and
interim executive director members of the
board during the past year. They used a
combination of methods including executive
search, advertising and internal recruitment.
Nomination functions of the committee
are:
1. To ensure there is a formal, rigorous and
transparent procedure for the appointment
of executive directors
2. To agree and lead the process for the
identification and nomination of the chief
executive, for approval by the council of
governors
3. To agree and lead the process for the
identification and appointment of executive
directors
4. To regularly review, in conjunction with the
council of governors’ Nominations and
remuneration Committee, the structure, size
and composition of the Board of Directors

5. To evaluate the balance of skills,
knowledge and experience of the Board of
Directors and, in the light of this evaluation,
prepare a description of the role and
capabilities required for executive director
appointments
6. To give full consideration to succession
planning, taking into account the future
challenges, risks and opportunities facing the
Trust, and the skills and expertise required
within the board to meet them
7. To appoint executive search consultants
with respect to executive director recruitment
as required
8. To ensure there is a robust and transparent
procedure for the appointment of nominated
representatives, who are not already NHFT
employees, to boards (or equivalent) of
partnership/joint venture bodies
Remuneration functions of the committee
are:
1. To ensure there is a formal and transparent
policy on executive director remuneration
2. To determine and review the contractual
arrangements of executive directors
including, where appropriate, severance
packages
3. To set the structure and levels of
remuneration packages of all executive
directors
4. To ensure there is a formal and transparent
procedure for the appraisal of executive
director performance
5. To monitor the performance of executive
directors
6. To appoint, if deemed appropriate,
independent consultants to advise on
executive director remuneration
7. To consider and agree appropriate
remuneration and contractual terms for the
appointment of nominated representatives,
who are not already Trust employees, to
boards (or equivalent) of partnership/joint
venture bodies
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A TTENDANCE AT NOMINATIONS AND REMUNERATION
COMMITTEE
1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017

Paul Bertin

27 April 2016

27 July 2016





11 January 2017



Crishni Waring
Bev Messinger







Sushel Ohri





Bruce Minty







Moira Ingham



A



Alastair Watson



A
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A UDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee is made up of three
non-executive directors, with the finance
director, the chief operating officer and other
executive directors in attendance as
appropriate. It welcomes representatives of
internal and external audit services,
PricewaterhouseCoopers and KPMG
respectively. The local counter-fraud specialist
attends on a regular basis and senior
managers attend by invitation. The
committee aims to meet five times a year.

The Audit Committee meets individually with
the internal and external auditors on an
annual basis so that they can raise any issues
of concern or clarification in relation to their
working relationship with the finance
director and his team, as well as comment on
their relationship with the internal or
external auditors respectively. Only nonexecutive director Audit Committee members
are involved in this debate, as the Trust’s
executive directors are excluded from the
sessions.

The specific terms of reference of the Audit
Committee cover:
1. Governance, risk management and internal
control
2. Internal audit
3. External audit
4. Relationship with the council of governors
5. Assurance functions
6. Counter fraud
7. Financial reporting
Our directors are accountable for the
management of the Trust’s effectiveness and
risk factors. Our Audit Committee reviews the
reports and work programmes of internal and
external auditors. This provides assurance to
the board that our systems and processes are
effective. The Audit Committee reviews its
own effectiveness and that of the internal
and external auditors, by considering at each
of its meetings the work carried out and
exercising any appropriate challenges as
required.
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OUR AUDITORS
Internal audit
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) provides our
internal audit service, which includes
appropriate local counter fraud work. Our
local counter fraud specialist (LCFS) is
available for staff to raise any concerns and
regularly attends Audit Committee meetings.
Our staff are made aware of the LCFS’s
availability to talk in confidence about
possible improprieties in financial irregularity
or bribery. Staff are also encouraged to raise
any concerns they have about clinical quality,
patient safety or any other matters through
our whistleblowing policy: Raising issues of
concern – freedom to speak up. The policy
sets out three different methods by which
staff can bring concerns to the attention of
senior management. This includes an informal
approach, a formal approach or an approach
to one of the designated guardians who are
outside the formal line management
structure. In addition, this year we appointed
a Freedom to Speak Up Guardian who reports
directly to the chief executive. This activity
has been widely communicated throughout
the Trust to support staff visibility of this
policy.
Our internal auditors have an annual work
programme that is agreed at both executive
board and Audit Committee level, and covers
clinical and non-clinical aspects. Through the
Audit Committee they ensure there is an
effective internal audit function that meets
mandatory government internal audit
standards and provides appropriate
independent assurance to the Audit
Committee, the chief executive and the
Trust’s Board of Directors.

External audit
The council of governors appointed KPMG as
the Trust’s external auditors with effect from
1 November 2012 following an Official
Journal of the European Union (OJEU) tender
exercise and evaluation process. The council
of governors and Audit Committee members
were involved in the appointment, which was
for a period of three years. The three-year
contract was due to expire during the course
of 2015/16, and the Audit Committee
proposed to exercise the extension option for
KPMG’s contract for a further two years until
31 October 2017. The council of governors
endorsed this.
The Audit Committee regularly reviews its
own effectiveness and also evaluates the
effectiveness of external audit, by considering
at each of its meetings the work of the
external auditors and exercising appropriate
challenge as required.
The value of the external audit plan for
2016/17, as approved by the Audit Committee
in December 2016, equates to £51,000 for the
annual audit and opinion and £12,000 for the
quality accounts opinion excluding value
added tax. The external audit plan equates to
audit services only. The Audit Committee
agreed a policy for the engagement of
external auditors for non-audit work in
December 2012. Any non-audit services are
commissioned in accordance with this policy.
It outlines threats to audit independence that
theoretically exist and the mitigations that
will be applied to ensure that auditor
objectivity and independence is appropriately
safeguarded. During 2016/17, the Trust did
not commission any non-audit services from
KPMG and no additional costs were therefore
incurred in year. If any non-audit work were
to be completed by the auditors, then the
related threats and safeguards will be
reported to the Audit Committee.
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R eporting on auditing
The Audit Committee meets regularly to
review audit reports and provide assurance to
the board. It has delegated authority to
consider and approve the annual accounts
and associated documentation each year. This
is conducted through the International
Standard on Auditing (ISA) 260 meeting,
providing assurance to our directors that
finance and quality are well governed and
regulated. While preparing and reviewing the
annual accounts 2016/17, the Audit
Committee considered accounting policies,
accounting estimates and material judgments
and the main changes as listed in the DH
Group Accounting Manual (GAM) (previously
covered in the FT Annual Reporting Manual
(ARM) for 2016/2017).
The Audit Committee is required to review
significant issues to be considered in the
preparation of our Annual Accounts. These
are considered to be as follows:

Accounting for joint ventures, joint
operations and investments
As the Trust has now entered into
arrangements to work with third parties,
consideration needs to be given to whether
the financial transactions resulting from the
arrangements need to be consolidated into
the Trust’s financial statements, i.e. do joint
arrangements exist. The relevant accounting
standards that need to be considered are:
x

x

x
x

Valuation of property, plant and
equipment
Each year the Trust is required to review the
valuation of its property, plant and
equipment in line with accounting standards.
Every five years a formal valuation is required
to be carried out and the latest valuation has
an effective valuation date of 31 March 2014.
Movement in the value of property, plant and
equipment can be material to the overall
financial position of the Trust and so is
included as a significant item.
The Trust has engaged the District Valuation
Service to carry out a book review of the
value of land and buildings owned by the
Trust projected to 31 March 2017.
Initial indications from the District Valuer are
that land has increased in value by 1.4% but
that buildings have reduced in value by 3.3%
overall. The resultant downward valuation is
likely to impact on both the Statement of
Comprehensive Income and the Statement of
Financial Position, although the value is
unlikely to be material to the overall financial
statements.

x

x

x

IFRS3 Business Combinations consider
the accounting if an entity acquires an
interest in a joint operation in which
the activity constitutes a business.
IFRS10 Consolidated Financial
Statements define the concept of
‘control’ in determining if a joint
arrangement exists.
IFRS11 Joint Arrangements define a
‘joint arrangement’ and the varying
types of arrangement that may exist.
IFRS12 Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities sets out the disclosure
requirements for parties with joint
control of a joint arrangement.
IAS18 Revenue considers the
arrangements for the host to a pooled
budget but where a joint arrangement
does not exist.
IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements
set out the requirements for preparing
and presenting separate financial
statements for investments in
subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates.
IAS28 Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures set out the accounting
treatment where a joint venture is
indicated.

While the joint nature of an agreement may
suggest a joint arrangement exists, the detail
of each agreement might point to a different
approach and it is possible that different
accounting treatments may apply to different
elements.
At the Trust, the arrangements that are being
considered for joint venture accounting for
2016/17 are listed below.
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ARRANGEMENT

DESCRIPTION

First for Wellbeing
(FfW)

x
x

Community Interest Company limited by guarantee
The Trust ‘owns’ a £38 guarantee along with Northamptonshire
County Council (£51) and University of Northampton (£11)

3SixtyCare Ltd

x
x

Company limited by shares
Shareholding is on a 50:50 basis with the GPs, and the total
shareholding changing is in line with patient lists

rTMS
Memorandum of
Understanding
with Smart TMS

x

Memorandum of understanding signed during 2016/17, however there
was no trading expected until 1 April 2017 at the earliest
Some set up expenses incurred by each party during 2016/17

x

Accounting estimates and judgements

Going concern assessment

Included in note 1.25 of the accounting
policies are those areas of critical accounting
judgments and key sources of estimation
likely to be included in the draft accounts for
2016/17. Given the short timescale available
for producing the accounts it is inevitable
that estimates and judgements will be
necessary.

In preparing accounts in accordance with the
DH GAM, the Trust must consider whether
the going concern assumption is appropriate.
The Audit Committee discussed this at its
meeting in March 2017 and concluded that,
subject to clarification of the guidance in the
FT Annual Reporting Manual and the
Department of Health Group Accounting
Manual, that the accounts should be
prepared on a going concern basis.

The likely areas of estimate and judgement
are:
x Accruals for invoices and for annual
leave not taken by staff in year
x Depreciation, based on the useful
economic lives of capital assets
x PFI payments, including finance costs
x Provision of impairment of receivables,
with an estimate made for
irrecoverable debt
x Segmental analysis

The basis of this planning assumption is:
x The Trust continues to have a sound
system of control and governance in
place, with numerous sources of both
internal and external assurance over
the ongoing viability of the Trust
operationally and financially.
x The Trust continues to develop and
refine its financial plans and scenario
planning which should ensure that
management has planned for and can
cope with the adverse effects of risks
as they are identified.
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A TTENDANCE AT AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETINGS
1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017
26 MAY 2016

15 JUNE 2016

14
SEPTEMBER
2016

15
DECEMBER
2016

15 MARCH
2017

√

√

√

√

A

√

√

(ISA260
MEETING)
Alastair Watson

√

√

Sushel Ohri

A

√

Bruce Minty

√

√

Moira Ingham

√
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CHARITABLE SUPPORT
There are three main charities providing
support to the Trust: Cynthia Spencer Trust,
Cransley Hospice Trust and Northamptonshire
Health Charitable Fund. They provide support
to Cynthia Spencer Hospice, Cransley Hospice,
and other causes and projects across the
Trust.
They each hold funds that have been received
as donations, specific legacies to support
activities and monies generated by
fundraising. All three charities are governed
by groups of independent trustees and their
involvement and support is much appreciated
by the Trust.
Local governance of funds
Our local managers and directors recommend
the specific projects where funds should be
spent and there is a formal grant process for
the two hospices. Each year, money is raised
and spent across all areas of the Trust.

This year, we received the following grants:
x
x
x

Cynthia Spencer £653,000
Cransley Hospice £739,000
Mental health and community
services £161,000

Northamptonshire Health Charitable Fund
contributed towards the following
activities and equipment in 2016/17:
1. Creation of garden and outdoor therapy
space connected to the Forest Centre at
the St Mary’s site
2. Bladder scanners for use by community
teams
3. Patient amenities and activities
4. Complementary therapy sessions
5. Part sponsorship of the Trust’s staff
awards evening
The Charity Team have also proactively
worked with a number of the smaller care
units to provide opportunities for patients to
be actively involved in community linked fun
days and worked closely with the Short
Breaks Team to enhance the gardens linked
to their units.

DISCLOSURES
Northamptonshire Healthcare NHS
Foundation Trust has complied with the cost
allocation and charging requirements set out
in HM Treasury and Office of Public Sector
Information guidance. There are no political
donations to declare. The Better Payment
Practice Code requires the Trust to aim to pay
all undisputed invoices by the due date or
within 30 days of receipt of good or a valid
invoice, whichever is later. The Trust’s
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payment performance against this code is
shown in the Notes to the Accounts. The
income received by the Trust, other than from
the provision of goods and services for the
purpose of the health service in England
relates to rental income from non-NHS
tenants of Trust properties, income
generation from Communicare (occupational
health services) and income from catering.

This is deemed insignificant in value and
therefore had no material impact on the Trust
meeting its principal obligations. There are no
known events after the reporting period that
impact on the financial statements for
2016/17. The Trust is a partner of First for
Wellbeing, a community interest company,
which came into operation on 1 April 2016.

………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….

OUR QUALITY GOVERNANCE
FRAMEWORK
Improving the governance of quality
Our quality agenda is underpinned by a
systematic quality governance framework,
which was rolled out in 2016/17 after
extensive review during 2015/16. The
structure identifies the core governance
arrangements at both a local (for example,
team meetings) and corporate level. This
includes identifying the role and
responsibility at all levels, assuring quality
across the organisation.
Going forward, we are continuing to ensure
that our governance arrangements are robust
and streamlined. A review of team meetings
and their terms of reference has been carried
out to ensure core issues are discussed and
fed into pathway governance processes. This
strengthening of core quality and governance
meetings means that issues can be resolved at
a local level and assurance can be provided to
the Quality and Governance Committee in a
more succinct and measured way.

This year’s planning has ensured that the role
of the service users and carers will be
developed as part of the agenda to ensure
our quality mechanisms are effective and
efficient. This is linked to the quality strategy,
which formulates our organisational
objectives to support quality in front line
clinical care. We also measure quality using a
number of indicators.
The Trust uses a robust CQC self-assessment
process, supported by either announced or
unannounced peer review visits to establish
the validity of the self-assessment
methodology. In addition, the annual audit
plan identifies key areas of patient care that
are reviewed in line with internal and
external requirements. This provides the
organisation with baseline and performance
data for clinical activities such as record
keeping and nutritional screening. These
systems identify where improvements could
be made, which is monitored locally by
clinical leads. It is monitored for corporate use
by the Quality Team, who provide reports
directly to the Quality and Governance
Committee.
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We make sure that data relating to patient safety and our core quality indicators is brought
together on a service line dashboard. This provides clear indication to managers and team leaders
where there are any potential issues, concerns or areas of good practice across their area. The
function provides a platform for action planning where improvement is required. This data is
routinely interrogated as part of the internal triangulation process prior to any peer review visits,
meetings between quality and clinical teams, as well as part of our internal quality summit and
governance processes. Looking ahead, the Trust is reviewing how we can develop this technology
further to support the quality framework and further underpin the governance arrangements.
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P atient care
We are continuously striving to improve
outcomes for patients and their carers,
developing our services to meet the needs of
our community.
In March 2017, following a comprehensive
CQC inspection, our organisation was
recognised as ‘Good’ overall, with
‘Outstanding’ for the Caring domain. This
positive outcome was a clear reflection of the
improvement journey the organisation has
undertaken since our previous rating in 2015,
and is testament to the dedication of all our
staff.
From the 15 reports, five of these identified
the ‘Safe’ domain as ‘Requiring
improvement’. The teams have therefore
reviewed the feedback and identified
improvement strategies to address each area
of concern. These have then been fed into a
robust action plan that is bound by clear
governance, with clear reporting
arrangements to the Board of Directors
through the Quality and Governance
Committee. Quality improvement in the Trust
is supported by a systematic quality
governance framework, which is continuously
reviewed to ensure it is fit for purpose and
that it provides quality assurance that is
central to patient care.
In addition, in 2016 we launched the ‘moving
to good and beyond’ programme, which
provides a vehicle for monitoring, reviewing
and instigating quality initiatives across the
organisation. From data analysis and through
internal quality reviews, the group is able to
identify areas of need and focused solutions
across the full range of clinical services
including estates, human resources and
clinical systems.
Quality feedback is gathered from
complaints, incidents, PALS contacts,
compliments and letters of appreciation and,
more systematically, through the feedback
tool iWGC. The head of patient experience,
iWGC manager, head of performance and
head of quality assurance work closely
together to ensure that these varying forms
of feedback are triangulated and inform
other quality improvement and assurance
processes. These include serious incident
investigations, lessons learned (through the

monthly Lessons Learned Exchange), service
reviews and inspection. Assurance from
services is gained through the service
management reporting structure, governance
meetings and patient experience groups.
Reviews, comments and responses through
iWGC are also published on the iWGC public
website.
We use iWGC to continuously collect
feedback from patients and carers in all
services, including prisons. Responses can be
given in a variety of formats and, in addition
to the Friends and Family Test, respondents
are asked to comment on a variety of patient
experience measures. There is also room for
free text. The numerical data is integrated
with our performance reporting system, while
free text comments are used to improve
services through our patient experience and
governance groups. Service managers
respond to comments with details of actions
taken. All comments are publicly available
through the iWGC website with the exception
of prisons, some sensitive services and where
the respondent has expressly requested that
the feedback is not publicly displayed.
Our staff survey is also used to improve
quality and drive service development. During
2016-17, the Trust worked within the
requirements of the Workforce Race Equality
Standard (WRES), we reviewed and adapted
the appraisal process and our leadership
opportunities. We also focused on improving
the wellbeing of staff by providing a range of
new activities and initiatives.

Monitoring improvements
Quality is measured using a number of
indicators, which includes a robust CQC
internal review process. Our annual audit
plan identifies key areas of patient care,
which are reviewed in line with internal and
external requirements. This provides the
organisation with baseline and performance
data for clinical activities such as patient
observations and photographic identification.
These systems also identify where
improvements could be made, which are then
monitored locally by clinical leads. Reporting
is directly to the quality forum, with outputs
feeding through to the Quality and
Governance Committee as required.
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Quality improvement is routinely identified
from national initiatives and from best
practice guidance such as NICE. We map this
guidance against each service based on
relevance and suitability. When new
implementation measures are recommended,
our deputy medical directors work together
with services to develop the improvement
plan and monitor progress.

This year, we responded positively to the
requirements of the local and national quality
schedules, and additionally our CQUINs
supported developments in end of life care,
staff wellbeing and the chronic obstructive
pulmonary disease pathway. Feedback has
been integral to the success of these CQUINs
and will help shape any future or further
activity.

We bring data relating to patient safety and
our core quality indicators together on one
service line dashboard. This dashboard
features patient safety measures like numbers
of complaints, falls, serious incident reviews
and quality indicators such as safety
thermometer findings, clinical supervision
activity, self-assessment outcome and staffing
levels. This provides clear indications to
managers and team leaders where any
potential issues, concerns or areas of good
practice are. Our dashboard measure also
provides a platform for action planning, so
that any improvements required are
managed. It also supports our reporting
arrangements to clinical commissioners for
the quality schedule. This data is routinely
interrogated as part of the internal
triangulation process prior to any review
visits, the directorate quality meetings and as
part of our internal quality summit process.
Externally, the Trust works closely with
commissioners to develop and maintain
quality driven services that are responsive to
the needs of the local population.

Evolution of services will continue as we move
forward alongside the Sustainability
Transformational Plan, and the integrated
and personalised care agenda.

The quality forum is the central quality
deposit for the organisation; core quality
indicators, data, patient feedback and safety
requirements are routinely reported via this
monthly meeting. An escalation process is in
place for feeds to the Trust board via the
Quality and Governance Committee.

Reviewing our performance against targets is
a detailed, involved process that includes CQC
rating reviews, staff survey results, NHS
Improvement’s core indicators, improvements
in care from local and national audits, local
and national quality metrics, and measures
from our Datix reporting system.
As our community’s healthcare needs grow,
we are continually reviewing our
performance of these healthcare targets, and
recognise areas that are challenging to us,
such as waiting times.
To support our ability to respond to this
demand, we have introduced new initiatives
that also link to the national agenda. An
example of this is the District Nursing Single
Point of Access (SPoA) model, which was
launched in August 2016 in the south of the
county. Plans are in place to widen the
approach to the north in 2017/18. The
purpose of the SPoA is to effectively triage
and streamline the referrals for Adult
Community Nursing Teams, to improve the
quality of referral information, ensure the
referrals are appropriate and to release time
to care for clinicians so that the patient
receives care from the most suitable team in a
timely manner.

Services and performance against targets
Measuring our performance against targets
requires focus on service user and patient
needs, service development and the
effectiveness of care delivery. Our
transformation programmes are linked to
these key factors and rely on patient, carer
and staff feedback to understand our
progress.

Sign up to safety
The national sign up to safety (SU2S)
programme has an ambition of halving
avoidable harm in the NHS over the next
three years. The Trust agreed areas of patient
safety improvement to focus on for the SU2S
campaign this year.
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As a member of one of the nine countywide
health academic networks, a SU2S
countywide group was formed to establish
the way in which organisations can
successfully support each other and provide
improved joint working relations and share
learning.
The group’s focus is on reducing avoidable
harm from failures or omissions in care,
preventing incidents in healthcare by sharing
learning and working collaboratively to
improve patient safety. The network agreed
on eight themes to focus on. The Trust has
been asked to lead the board-to-ward theme
for the county within 2017-2018.
Next year, work will commence to specifically
review the data and assess the impact of the
plans and progress put in place during 2016.
As part of the local campaign, the Trust’s
focus will be on National Early Warning
Scores (NEWS), reduction of medication
errors, reducing violence and aggression,
suicide and self-harm prevention and
information management and technology.
Each of these areas has an agreed plan, which
shows the Trust’s commitment to the
campaign. Progress on actions is monitored
by the Trust’s quality forum.

C omplaints handling

to within three working days to acknowledge
the complaints and to identify next steps –
the mode by which communication will take
place is also agreed at that point. The
complaints timeframe is 25 working days for a
response to be formulated. In a small number
of cases the timeframe may need to be
negotiated with the complainant so a full and
detailed analysis of their complaint can be
undertaken. During the CQC visit the
complaints process was reviewed, and no
improvement points identified.

Improvements in patient and carer
information
Patient and carer information has evolved.
We now ensure we include language and
accessibility information on all our leaflets, so
that staff, patients and carers are aware that
we can provide the required information in a
number of different languages and fonts.
PALS and complaints information is available
across the organisation on a variety of
formats. In addition, the Trust hosts external
agency leaflets pertinent to the services we
offer.
Patient and carer information has also
improved by the utilisation of technology, the
Trust’s Twitter account is widely used to
promote wellbeing and publicise events. The
Health Visiting Service has its own Facebook
page, which has been very popular with
families across Northamptonshire, and sexual
health have been looking to develop an App
for use across its population.

Internally, our complaints process and
outcomes are reported to the Trust board.
Monitoring arrangements for the complaint
process are in place, with information
pertaining to complaints being held centrally.
In order to further improve the complaints
process, peer reviewing has been introduced
to ensure objectivity in the way investigations
are completed. This now involves a third party
reviewer, which allows for further learning
regarding transparency in the way we
investigate and how conclusions are
formulated.

Stakeholder relations

The organisation has a robust complaints
policy which is reviewed a minimum of once
every two years, all complaint investigators
are sent an ‘investigation pack’ which details
the process and the steps needed to support
them in reviewing the complainant’s issues
and concerns. All complainants are responded

Our collaboration with our commissioners,
NHS England and NCC, has helped shape
what we provide locally and influenced care
priorities that offer an opportunity to work
more jointly across the health economy. Using
quality data and information to understand

We continually strive to develop positive
partnerships with key stakeholders. This year,
these relationships have been even more
integral to the facilitation of quality
improvement and healthcare across our
patient, service user and carer population.
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local needs has allowed us to identify gaps in
service and link safe, quality-driven
transformation to effective care.
Working with local commissioning groups for
the Commissioning for Quality and
Innovation (CQUIN) development has enabled
us to pilot new healthcare initiatives, which
will feed into any future planning and
decision-making for care priorities. In
addition, our work delivering against the
quality schedule has delivered a focus on
quality that has been rolled out across the
organisation.
Regular local level communication with
Northamptonshire carers and other voluntary
organisations has provided us with rich
feedback on our services, and our relationship
with local education providers remains
positive and productive.
The East Midlands Academic Health Science
Network in collaboration with Safety
Collaborative has conducted a retrospective
review of 125 serious incidents from our and
four other trusts. This was designed to
appraise how effectively serious incidents
reports currently attend to human factors and
whether using Human Factors Analysis and
Classification System (HFACS) would be likely
to yield useful additional information. The
HFACS would benefit from enhanced
learnings from incidents and the East
Midlands AHSN patient Safety Collaborative
have stated their willingness to part fund the
next stage of the project.
This year, the Trust engaged in a three-way
partnership with NCC and The University of
Northampton for the development of a
Community Interest Company (CIC) called First
for Wellbeing. Our aim is to create a single
organisation for the development and
delivery of services that enhance the physical,
emotional, social and economic wellbeing of
the county’s population. First for Wellbeing
launched on 1 April 2016. In addition, services
linked to third sector organisations such as
Marie Curie continue to be run in partnership
with our palliative pathways and clearly aids
our links with mental health and learning
disability providers.

and future service planning. Service user,
patient and carer involvement is a core
activity for us and we are passionate about
ensuring it is embedded within our core
values.
We also have built a partnership with The
Implementing Recovery through
Organisational Change (ImROC) Programme
Team to carry out work in patient-centred
care, including a co-production project in
mental health between staff and service
users. In 2015/16, we were also nationally
recognised for our work with our black,
minority and ethnic (BME) project called
‘Moving Ahead’. Conducted in conjunction
with staff, service users, patients, carers and
local leaders, this process identified key
clinical healthcare barriers for the BME
communities. This work progressed to its next
phase in 2016/17 and focused on developing
action plans to address the inequalities
identified. As part of the involvement plan
within the Trust, service users, carers and
patients are paid to support any activity they
undertake with the organisation. This cost is
met internally by service line budgets.

Sustainability
Our Sustainable Development Management
Plan (SDMP), approved by our Board of
Directors, has been designed to clarify our
objectives on environmental matters,
sustainable development and climate change.
It also sets out a clear plan of action for the
future. Sustainable development and carbon
management are corporate responsibilities
that we take very seriously. Our SDMP
provides clear governance for an assurance
process that considers all legal requirements,
while taking into account the demands of
providing high quality healthcare. Based on
the right mix of social, economic and
environmental factors that are fundamental
to creating a sustainable health service, our
SDMP will also help our organisation to meet
its carbon reduction commitments and make
essential efficiency savings. In 2016/17 we
continued to reduce our carbon emissions by
a further 9% to 9,057 tCO2e.

Internal processes are also in place to ensure
staff, service users, patients and carers are
cited on and are able to feedback on current
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Our SDMP helps us to:
x
x
x
x
x
x

Meet minimum statutory and policy
requirements of sustainable
development
Save money through increased
efficiency and resilience
Improve the environment in which
care is delivered, for both patients and
staff
Have robust governance arrangements
in place to monitor progress
Demonstrate a good reputation for
sustainability
Align sustainable development
requirements with the strategic
objectives of the organisation

EQUALITY
Equality, inclusion and human rights
As a major employer and provider of health
and wellbeing services in Northamptonshire,
we strive to be a leader of equality
promotion. We do so by valuing diversity,
tackling health inequalities and building
strong and sustainable partnerships with local
stakeholders. With a large, diverse workforce
and patient population, we recognise that
promoting human rights, equality and
diversity – while tackling inequality,
discrimination and harassment – is central to
the achievement of our vision and core
values. We are proud of the work we have
undertaken across our health economy this
year in collaboration with our diverse
communities, stakeholders and partners. We
have worked very closely with our
commissioners to support our equality and
inclusion work.
We seek to comply with the requirements of
the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) to
make sure that we consider the needs of all
individuals across our policy development,
delivery of services and employment practices.
In line with our duties as an employer and
provider of NHS services, we also have an
equality and inclusion policy that provides a
framework to ensure compliance with the
Equality Act 2010 and Human Rights Act
1998. This year we refreshed our Equality
Objectives with a focus of making sure that

they are more robust and outcome focused to
help drive our equality forward.
In addition, we strengthened our governance
for equality and inclusion, by refreshing our
Equality and Inclusion Assurance Board, which
provides both the governance and leadership
to ensure that equality and inclusion is
embedded and mainstreamed across the
organisation. We published our fifth Annual
Equality Information Report, reporting on
how we have met our duties under the
Equality Act 2010 and provided an analysis of
our workforce and service data. Work is
underway to develop our fourth Equality and
Inclusion Strategy. We have worked to
develop new equality objectives to support
and measure our performance around
equality and inclusion. We are proud of our
three active staff networks specifically the
BME Staff Network, Disability Network and
LGBT and Allies Staff Network, which help to
shape and influence our equality and
inclusion work.
We also ensure that we effectively use
equality analysis for our decision-making and
risk assessment across the organisation. In
addition, as we continue to promote equality
through bespoke projects and activities, it is
compulsory for all staff to receive equality,
inclusion and human rights training. An
example of this is our Moving Ahead project,
which aims to address health inequalities for
BME communities and unconscious bias
training.
We use the national performance tool for
equality, the NHS Equality Delivery System 2
(EDS2). Designed to help NHS organisations
understand how equality can drive
improvements and strengthen the
accountability of services to patients and the
public, we are focused on addressing
inequalities and delivering positive outcomes
for all groups protected under the Equality
Act 2010. Following on from our early EDS2
work the organisation is now implementing
its outcomes and planning the next steps with
a focus on external engagement with our
diverse communities.
We have complied with the NHS Workforce
Race Equality Standard and have used it as a
framework to help drive our work with
engaging our BME staff to improve diversity
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and representation across all levels of the
organisation. We have also been recognised
for our work with our equality and inclusion
staff networks across BME, LGBT and
disability. They are a core asset in terms of
our staff stakeholder groups and feature with
our governance frameworks. For example,
this year we coproduced a Leadership
Conference with inclusion and diversity as the
theme. The conference featured national
leading speakers from NHS England and NHS
Leadership Academy and our staff network
leads.

implementation of ‘Easy Read’ and any other
accessible formats that improve patient
communication.
In addition, an analysis of our staff survey
results from groups with protected
characteristics highlighted several areas that
the Trust will be focusing on.
We need to continue to work with our staff
networks and local community to address
discrimination and improve patient
experience and outcomes for all. The Trust is
committed to ensuring that we provide
appropriate and responsive services across our
diverse population and workforce.

We have fully implemented the NHS
Accessible Information Standard to ensure
that disabled service users are provided with
information in appropriate formats and that
our patient records capture any specific
communication needs our service users may
have. We are committed to ongoing review
of the progress to support the
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………

STATEMENT OF DISCLOSURE
The Board of Directors of the Northamptonshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust are accountable
for making all relevant information available to the auditor. Each director has ensured they are
aware of all relevant information and enquired with their fellow directors and the auditors to this
effect.
They have exercised reasonable care, skill and diligence to ensure the auditor has been made
aware of all relevant information when preparing their report.

REGISTERS OF INTERESTS
Directors’ interests are available from the Trust board secretary by phoning 01536 452036.
Governors’ interests are available from the Foundation Trust office by phoning 01536 452059 or
emailing foundationtrust@nhft.nhs.uk.
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S ALARIES AND ALLOWANCES 1 APRIL 2016-31 MARCH 2017
Summary

2 016/17

Name and title

Clinical
Performance
Excellence
pay and
Awards
bonuses (bands
(bands of
of £5,000)
£5,000)

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

Total
(bands of
£5,000)

Angela Hillery, Chief Executive*

160-165

5-10

0

170-175

Dr Alex O'Neill-Kerr, Medical Director *

135-140

0

35-40

175-180

Bill McFarland, Finance Director (until 31 May 2016) 20-25
Julie Shepherd, Director of Nursing, AHPs and
95-100
Quality*
Chris Oakes, Director of Human Resources and
110-115
Organisational Development (from 11 May 2015)

0

0

20-25

0

0

95-100

0-5

0

115-120

45-50

0

0

45-50

100-105

0

0

100-105

70-75

0

0

70-75

105-110

0

0

105-110

Richard McKendrick, Chief Operating Officer
(until 7 August 2016)
Sandra Mellors, Interim Director of Operations
(from 1 April 2016 to 7 August 2016), Chief
Operating Officer (from 8 August 2016)
Lucy Dadge, Director of Strategic Partnership
(from 8 August 2016)
Richard Wheeler, Finance Director (from 1 June
2016)*
* Denotes voting right
No 'benefits-in-kind' were paid during 2016/17.

Performance-related bonuses are awarded solely at the discretion of the nominations and
remuneration committee.
In 2016/17, two awards were made for significant contributions above and beyond those
expected of directors.
Dr Alex O'Neill-Kerr has a clinical element to his role which is included in the table above.
During 2016/17, Bill McFarland was employed as Director of Financial Projects and received remuneration in the band £’000 £70-£75.

Expenses
Expenses paid to governors, executive and non-executive directors are detailed in the table below:
2016/2017

2015/2016

Number
Receiving
expenses

Total
Directors
Non-executive directors
Governors
Total

9
8
39
56

Number
Expenses
Total
£'00
8
62
8
15
31

58
59
179

Receiving
expenses

Expenses
£'00

9

8

65

6
41
56

6
18
32

41
77
183
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SALARIES AND ALLOWANCES 1 APRIL 2016-31 MARCH 2017
Name and title
Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

Performance
All taxable
pay and
benefits to
bonuses
the nearest
(bands of
£100*
£5,000)

Long-term
performance
pay and
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)

All pensionTotal
related
(bands of
benefits
£5,000)
(bands of
£2,500)

Paul Bertin, Chair* (until 31 October 2016)

25-30

0

0

0

0

25-30

Crishni Waring, Chair* (from 1 November 2016)

15-20

0

0

0

0

15-20

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5

0

0

0

0

0

0

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5

Bev Messinger, Non-executive Director*

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

Moira Ingham, Non-executive Director*

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

0

10-15

Sushel Ohri, Non-executive Director* (until 31 July 2016)
Robert Peto, Non-executive Director* (until 31 March 2016)
Bruce Minty, Non-executive Director* (from 1 April 2016 to 8
February 2017)
Jane Carr, Non-executive Director* (from 1 June 2016 to 31
December 2016)

Alastair Watson, Non-executive Director*
Angela Hillery, Chief Executive*
Dominic Hardisty, Deputy Chief Executive (until 21 February 2016)
Dr Alex O'Neill-Kerr, Medical Director *

10-15

0

0

0

160-165

0

5-10

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

112.5-115 285-290

175-180

0

0

0

20-22.5

195-200

Bill McFarland, Finance Director (until 31 May 2016)

20-25

0

0

0

0

20-25

Julie Shepherd, Director of Nursing, AHPs and Quality*

95-100

0

0

0

12.5-15

110-115

0

0

0

0

0

0

110-115

0

0-5

0

0

115-120

Richard McKendrick, Chief Operating Officer (until 7 August 2016)

45-50

0

0

0

0

45-50

Sandra Mellors, Interim Director of Operations (from 1 April 2016
to 7 August 2016), Chief Operating Officer (from 8 August 2016)

100-105

0

0

0

75-77.5

175-180

70-75

0

0

0

52.5-55

125-130

105-110

0

0

0

87.5-90

195-200

Bronwen Curtis, Director of Human Resources and Organisational
Development (until 5 June 2015)
Chris Oakes, Director of Human Resources and Organisational
Development (from 11 May 2015)

Lucy Dadge, Director of Strategic Partnership (from 8 August 2016)
Richard Wheeler, Finance Director (from 1 June 2016)*

* Denotes voting right
No 'benefits-in-kind' were paid during 2016/17.
Performance-related bonuses are awarded solely at the discretion of the nominations and remuneration committee.
In 2016/17, two awards were made for significant contributions above and beyond those expected of directors.
Dr Alex O'Neill-Kerr has a clinical element to his role which is included in the table above.
During 2016/17, Bill McFarland was employed as Director of Financial Projects and received remuneration in the band £’000 £70-£75.
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SALARIES AND ALLOWANCES 1 APRIL 2015-31 MARCH 2016
Name and title

R estated
Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

Paul Bertin, Chair* (until 31 October 2016)
Crishni Waring, Chair* (from 1 November 2016)
Sushel Ohri, Non-executive Director* (until 31 July 2016)
Robert Peto, Non-executive Director* (until 31 March
2016)
Bruce Minty, Non-executive Director* (from 1 April 2016
to 8 February 2017)
Jane Carr, Non-executive Director* (from 1 June 2016 to
31 December 2016)

All taxable
benefits to
the
nearest
£100*

Long-term
Performance
performance
pay and
pay and
bonuses (bands bonuses
of £5,000)
(bands of
£5,000)

All pensionrelated
benefits
(bands of
£2,500)

Total
(bands of
£5,000)

40-45

0

0

0

0

40-45

0

0

0

0

0

0

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

15-20

0

0

0

0

15-20

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Bev Messinger, Non-executive Director*

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

Moira Ingham, Non-executive Director*

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

Alastair Watson, Non-executive Director*

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

Angela Hillery, Chief Executive*

150-155

0

0-5

0

110.0-112.5

265-270

Dominic Hardisty, Deputy Chief Executive (until 21
February 2016)

100-105

0

0

0

35-37.5

140-145

Dr Alex O'Neill-Kerr, Medical Director *

170-175

0

0

0

17.5-20.0

190-195

Bill McFarland, Finance Director (until 31 May 2016)

110-115

0

0-5

0

0.0-2.5

115-120

Julie Shepherd, Director of Nursing, AHPs and Quality*

95-100

0

0

0

180.0-182.5

275-280

Bronwen Curtis, Director of Human Resources and
Organisational Development (until 5 June 2015)

50-55

0

0-5

0

0

55-60

Chris Oakes, Director of Human Resources and
Organisational Development (from 11 May 2015)

80-85

0

0

0

0

80-85

110-115

0

0-5

0

27.5-30

140-145

15-20

0

0

0

107.5-110

125-130

Lucy Dadge, Director of Strategic Partnership (from 8
August 2016)

0

0

0

0

0

0

Richard Wheeler, Finance Director (from 1 June 2016)*

0

0

0

0

0

0

Richard McKendrick, Chief Operating Officer (until 7
August 2016)
Sandra Mellors, Interim Director of Operations (from 1
April 2016 to 7 August 2016), Chief Operating Officer
(from 8 August 2016)

* Denotes voting right
No 'benefits-in-kind' were paid during 2015/16.
Performance-related bonuses are awarded solely at the discretion of the nominations and remuneration committee.
In 2015/1,6 four awards were made for significant contributions above and beyond those expected of directors.
Dr Alex O'Neill-Kerr has a clinical element to his role which is included in the table above.
During 2016/17, Bill McFarland was employed as Director of Financial Projects and received remuneration in the band £’000 £70-£75.
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PENSION BENEFITS

Real
increase in
pension at
pension age

Real
increase in
pension
lump sum
at pension
age

Total
accrued
pension at
pension
age at 31
March 2017

Lump sum
at age 60
related to
accrued
pension at
31 March
2017

( bands of
£2,500)
£000

( bands of
£2,500)
£000

( bands of
£5,000)
£000

( bands of
£5000)
£000

5 -7.5

7.5-10

55-60

160-165

895

118

1,013

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0-2.5

5-7.5

35-40

105-110

681

59

740

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0-2.5

2.5-5

40-45

125-130

763

45

808

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Richard McKendrick, Chief Operating
Officer (until 7 August 2016)

0-2.5

0

10-15

0

145

5

159

0

Sandra Mellors, Interim Director of
Operations (from 1 April 2016 to 7 August
2016), Chief Operating Officer (from 8
August 2016)

2.5-5

10-12.5

30-35

90-95

533

97

631

0

Lucy Dadge, Director of Strategic
Partnership (from 8 August 2016)

0-2.5

5-7.5

15-20

55-60

299

41

362

0

Richard Wheeler, Finance Director (from 1
June 2016)

2.5-5

5-7.5

35-40

95-100

505

68

587

0

Name and title

Angela Hillery, Chief Executive
Dominic Hardisty, Deputy Chief Executive
(until 21 February 2016)
Dr Alex O'Neill-Kerr, Medical Director
Bill McFarland, Finance Director (until 31
May 2016)
Julie Shepherd, Director of Nursing, AHPs
and Quality
Bronwen Curtis, Director of Human
Resources and Organisational
Development (until 5 June 2015)
Chris Oakes, Director of Human Resources
and Organisational Development (from
11 May 2015)

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2016

Real
increase in
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 31
March 2017

Employer's
contribution
to
Stakeholder
Pension

£000

£000

£000

To nearest
£100

As non-executive directors do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of pensions for non-executive
directors.
As Chris Oakes was not in the pension scheme there are no entries in this table.
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member
at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member's accrued benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable
from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme, or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension
scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the
pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which the disclosure applies. The CETV figures, and from 2004-05 the
other pension details, include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has
transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their
purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and
framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
Real increase in CETV reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase in accrued
pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another pension
scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.
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Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest paid director in their
organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest-paid director in Northamptonshire Healthcare Foundation Trust in the financial year
2016/17 was £175,000-£180,000 (2015/16, £170,000-£175,000).
This was 6.1 times (2015/16, 6.2) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £28,462 (2015/16, £28,067).
In 2016/17, no employee received remuneration in excess of the highest paid director. Remuneration ranged from £15,251 to
£175,036 (2015/16 £13,650 to £174,696)
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and benefits-in-kind. It does not include
severance payments, employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.

Band of highest paid director's total (£000s)
Trust median remuneration
Ratio

2016/2017

2015/2016

Total

Total

£

£

175-180

170-175

28,462

28,067

6.1

6.2
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STAFF REPORT
OUR STAFF
We work hard and collaborate to employ and
engage the right number of people with the
right skills, attitudes and behaviours –
ultimately to support the delivery of safe,
effective and quality care to our community.
Every year, the Human Resources and
Organisational Development Team put a
workforce plan in place to make sure we
allocate people and resources effectively and
efficiently. We adopt a multi-faceted
approach and often include reviews of service
needs, analysis of key people and
management data. We also gain feedback
from key internal and external stakeholders.

We are committed to developing a flexible,
skilled and motivated workforce, and
aspire to be an employer of choice. We
promote a positive organisational culture
that attracts and retains staff.

The Trust has five core PRIDE values based on
the national values that are set out in the
NHS constitution. We use communication and

staff engagement plans to embed these
values in everything we do. These values are
designed to inspire and motivate the
workforce to take pride in everything they
do, and to provide excellent patient care.
1. People first: working together for
patients in everything we do
2. Respect, dignity and compassion:
valuing each person as an individual
3. Improving lives: improving health,
wellbeing, preventing decline and
improving people’s experience of the
NHS
4. Dedicated to the quality of care:
insisting on quality, simpler access and
getting the basics right every time
5. Everyone and equality counts: honesty,
active listening and consistency in
delivering accessible services to the
community

In 2016 we also developed our core
leadership behaviours, in partnership with
our staff, which will be the basis of our
distributed leadership approach and
‘Leadership Matters’ Trust organisational
development initiative.
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STAFF COSTS
EMPLOYEE COSTS AND NUMBERS
AVERAGE NUMBER OF PEOPLE EMPLOYED
2016/2017
Medical and dental
Ambulance staff

Total

Permanently
employed

Other

Number

Number

Number

101

101

0

0

0

0

Administration and estates

496

496

0

Healthcare assistants and other support staff

705

705

0

1 ,071

1,071

0
0

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners

21

21

557

557

0

0

0

0

Agency and contract staff

1 61

0

161

Bank staff

358

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff
Social care staff

358

0

Other

0

0

0

Total

3,470

2,951

519

3

2

1

102

102

0

0

0

0

Number of employees engaged on capital projects
2015/2016
Medical and dental
Ambulance staff
Administration and estates

526

526

0

Healthcare assistants and other support staff

702

702

0

1,067

1,067

0

19

19

0

519

519

0

0

0

0

Agency and contract staff

362

0

362

Bank staff

348

0

348

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff
Social care staff

Other
Total
Number of employees engaged on capital projects

0

0

0

3,645

2,935

710

3

2

1
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STAFF EXIT PACKAGES

Exit package cost band (number)
2016/2017
<£10,000
£10,000 - £25,000
£25,001-£50,000
£50,001-£100,000
£100,001-£150,000
£150,001-£200,000
>£200,000
Total
2015/2016
<£10,000
£10,000 - £25,000
£25,001-£50,000
£50,001-£100,000
£100,001-£150,000
£150,001-£200,000
>£200,000
Total

Exit package cost band (value)

No. of
compulsory
redundancies

No. of
departures
where special
No. of other
Total no. of
payments
departures exit packages
have been
agreed
by cost band
made

11
10
10
7
2
1
0
41

7
10
6
0
0
0
0
23

18
20
16
7
2
1
0
64

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
5
4
6
1
0
0
16

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
5
4
6
1
0
0
16

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Value of
compulsory
redundancies
£000

Value of
Cost of special
other
payment
departures Total value of
element
agreed exit packages
included in
by cost band exit packages
(restated)
£000
£000
£000

2016/2017
<£10,000
£10,000 - £25,000
£25,001-£50,000
£50,001-£100,000
£100,001-£150,000
£150,001-£200,000
>£200,000
Total

73
182
375
494
276
160
0
1,560

36
148
180
0
0
0
0
364

109
330
555
494
276
160
0
1,924

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

2015/2016
<£10,000
£10,000 - £25,000
£25,001-£50,000
£50,001-£100,000
£100,001-£150,000
£150,001-£200,000
>£200,000
Total

0
109
114
451
133
0
0
807

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
109
114
451
133
0
0
807

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

The compulsory redundancies relate to implementation of the required efficiency programme and have been paid in accordance
with Agenda for Change.
The Foundation Trust also implemented a local Mutually Agreed Resignation Scheme (MARS) during 2016/2017 called the
Voluntary Severance Scheme (VSS) figures for which are included within other departures agreed column.
Exit costs in this note are accounted for in full in the year of departure. Where the Foundation Trust has agreed early retirements,
the additional costs are met by the Foundation Trust and not by the NHS Pensions Scheme. Ill-health retirement costs are met by the
NHS Pensions Scheme and are not included in the table.
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EXIT PACKAGES - OTHER (NON-COMPULSORY)

P ayments
agreed

T otal value of
agreements

E xit packages in 2016/2017 - other (non-compulsory)

Number

£000

Voluntary redundancies inc. early retirement contractual costs

0

0

Mutually agreed resignation scheme (MARS) contractual costs

23

364

Early retirements in the efficiency of the service contractual costs

0

0
0

Contractual payments in lieu of notice

0

Exit payments following employment tribunals or court orders

0

0

Non-contractual payments requiring HM Treasury approval

0

0

23

364

T otal

There were no non-contractual payments made to individuals where the payment value was more that 12 months of their
annual salary.
Total value of
Payments
agreements
agreed
Exit packages in 2015/2016 - other (non-compulsory)
Voluntary redundancies inc. early retirement contractual costs

Number

£000

0

0

Mutually agreed resignation scheme (MARS) contractual costs

0

0

Early retirements in the efficiency of the service contractual costs

0

0

Contractual payments in lieu of notice

0

0

Exit payments following employment tribunals or court orders

0

0

Non-contractual payments requiring HM Treasury approval

0

0

Total

0

0

There were no non-contractual payments made to individuals where the payment value was more that 12 months of their
annual salary.

TERMINATION BENEFITS
During 2016/2017, contracts were terminated for 64 staff (16 in 2015/2016) at a cost of £1,924k
(£807k in 2015/2016).

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
There are no other employee benefits.
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RECRUITMENT
We are dedicated to building a fully inclusive
organisation through the recruitment and
retention of a high calibre workforce who are
able to deliver a high quality service.
Our practices ensure that the principles of
diversity and inclusion underpin all our
employment and service policies and
procedures, and we remain committed to
promoting equality, valuing diversity and
protecting human rights. The Trust has
recruitment processes and procedures in place
that provide equality of opportunity, as well
as fair and effective recruitment and selection
of all staff groups. We welcome applications
from people regardless of age, disability,
gender, gender reassignment, race, religion
or belief, sexual orientation, marital or civil
partnership status, pregnancy or maternity
status – and encourage applications from
groups who are currently underrepresented
in the organisation.
Our commitment to employing, retaining and
developing disabled people in our workforce
has led to our status as a level 2 Disability
Confident Employer. This means we
guarantee interviews for disabled persons if
they meet the minimum criteria. We also
ensure that reasonable adjustments are made
to our policies, processes and procedures to
support disabled people to achieve their
potential. We treat physical and mental
health with equal importance and are
currently a Mindful Employer, as well as
training as a mental health first aider. We
have also signed the ‘Time to Change’ pledge,
which means that we are positive about
mental health and support staff with mental
health issues to keep well at work and seek
support.

these procedures cover all stages of
recruitment – from the point a vacancy first
arises to appointment.

ABSENCE MANAGEMENT
Our target across all service areas is to achieve
a sickness absence rate no greater than 4.2%.
This year, we revised our managing absence
policy in partnership with our trade unions.
This was to focus our attention further on
supporting staff wellbeing within the
workplace and reducing sickness absence
levels. Through occupational health we have
introduced a range of physical and mental
health initiatives to positively promote staff
wellbeing. We will continue to prioritise the
wellbeing of our staff, with the aim of further
reducing our sickness absence rate from
4.62% in 2016/17 and moving towards our
target figure.
We continue to implement our local initiative
to support this drive for management of
sickness absence. Absences of 7 days or less
accounted for 81% of all absences and are
managed through return-to-work interviews,
supportive conversations, monitoring and
review processes. Long-term absence of 28
days or more accounted for 8% of all
absences with colleagues supported by
regular meetings with managers and
occupational health advice. Following periods
of absence, ‘sickness postcards’ are issued to
staff to highlight the supportive interventions
we have available that assist their health and
wellbeing. In addition, we reward exceptional
attendance by individuals and continue to
formally recognise them every year.

All of our recruitment procedures and
processes comply with relevant legislation
and NHS guidance, and we make the
appropriate training available to all staff
engaged in the recruitment process. These
recruitment and selection procedures and
guidance have been established to cover all
staff groups, which ensures that recruitment
practices are effective, non-discriminatory and
help us to find the best person available for
any identified vacancy. To promote good
practice throughout the recruitment process,
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TRAINING AND
DEVELOPMENT
We encourage all staff to apply for training
and development opportunities. We also
make sure that access to training is linked
both to each individual’s objectives and the
Trust’s strategy to continue to develop our
leadership capability. These objectives are
linked to our annual plan and are not based
on a subjective judgement of the abilities of
particular groups of staff. Training is routinely
monitored to ensure fairness, so that we
make sure there are no disparities between
groups of staff who are trained.
We are committed to ensuring our employees
have opportunities to learn, train, develop
and progress in the organisation. Where a
particular group is underrepresented within
the workforce or at a senior level, we
consider positive action to redress the
balance, including improving access to
training and giving encouragement to apply.

ENGAGEMENT
With continuing demand for the services we
provide, this year we have progressed our
transformation agenda. This has resulted in
several staff consultation programmes
throughout the year, across a range of our
services. We acknowledge that with such
changes, a degree of uncertainty can arise for
staff. So we have worked hard to manage
these change programmes in a sensitive, yet
effective manner. This involved the
continuation of significant investment in preconsultation engagement, to make sure that
staff were afforded further opportunity to
understand the drivers for change and
proposals. They were also actively invited to
contribute to the outcomes.
As a result of our previous experience, the
Trust recognises the value of engaging,
listening and responding to staff and the
positive impact that this has for both our
workforce and our patients.
Examples of where this has been put into
action include the annual staff quality awards
events, which recognise outstanding
achievements in areas such as quality, patient

choice and leadership. We have a number of
established staff networks that we work in
partnership with to help us to develop our
equality practice, as well as providing peer
support for staff. Our networks include our
staff disability and allies network, black
minority and ethnic (BME) staff development
network and LGBT and allies network. Our
BME network has helped us to establish the
internal action plan following the
introduction of the annual Workforce Race
Equality Standard (WRES).

FRAUD
We recognise that while the majority of
people who work in or use the NHS are
honest, fraud does exist and is a serious issue.
Fraud in the NHS, on any scale, diverts
resources from patient care and services. Our
local Counter Fraud and Corruption Team
aims to make people aware that fraud is
being tackled and of the methods used to
combat fraud. During the past year, we have
shared quarterly fraud awareness newsletters
and urgent security alerts with our workforce.
The purpose of these communications was to
raise staff awareness, highlight key cases and
provide details of who to contact should our
staff have concerns.

UK MODERN SLAVERY ACT
2015
Section 54 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015
requires all organisations to set out the steps
that the organisation has taken during the
financial year to ensure that slavery and
human trafficking is not taking place within
the organisation or its supply chains. We
make every effort to prevent slavery and
human trafficking in our Trust, and in our
supply chains. We do this by ensuring our
employment standards, training,
remuneration and policies reflect our
commitment to be a high quality employer,
conscious of safeguarding. Our safeguarding
policies for adults and children are designed
to minimise the risk of slavery and human
trafficking and highlight to staff the steps
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they need to take if they come into contact
with a vulnerable person they feel is at risk.
As part of the inter-agency Northamptonshire
Safeguarding Adults and Children’s Boards,
we are committed to safeguarding training
for all our staff at level 1 and 2. Slavery and
human trafficking has been highlighted as a
category of abuse that we should all be
aware of. In addition to this training and
policy, we are committed to employment
practices that are fair and equal, both
internally and through our suppliers of
services and equipment. The Trust also
subscribes to the UK Living Wage, which is
significantly higher than the minimum wage.
The living wage is calculated based on the
basic cost of living in the UK and is voluntarily
subscribed to by employers.
The Trust believes it has low risk of slavery or
human trafficking. We believe the area of
highest risk is with our suppliers. We are
therefore reviewing our procurement practice
to explicitly include the requirements of the
Act.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND
WELLBEING
We believe that a strong Trust requires a
strong quality-assured occupational health
service to promote and maintain the health
and wellbeing of its staff. Because of this, we
have a robust occupational health and
wellbeing service that has met the Safe,
Effective, Quality Occupational Health Service
(SEQOHS) standards of accreditation. This
means we have been given formal
recognition that our organisation has the
competence to deliver against the measures
set by the Faculty of Occupational Medicine.

Our staff deal with the health and wellbeing
of patients on a daily basis, so it is important
that we take proactive steps to ensure their
health and wellbeing is fully supported. This
enables our employees to promote
themselves as ambassadors of health, to
flourish and reach their full potential both in
and out of the workplace. In turn, their
health and wellbeing supports and assists us
in achieving our overall business strategy.
We recognise that staff should take
responsibility for their own personal health.
However, because their health benefits our
organisation as well, we are committed to
generating a culture that promotes healthy
lifestyles for our workforce. We encourage
healthy living by introducing programmes
such as early intervention services to support
musculoskeletal problems and mental health
issues that include cognitive behavioural
therapy and mindfulness interventions, as
well as wellbeing services such as yoga, boot
camp, Zumba and weight management.
Additionally, the Trust has successfully
participated in its second global walking
challenge. We are confident that this
approach will help influence an
organisational culture that firmly puts the
health and wellbeing of the workforce as a
high priority, so that our staff can achieve a
healthy work-life balance.
In the 2016/17 NHS England presented
foundation trusts with a target of 75% for
uptake of frontline vaccinations against the
seasonal flu. This was further incentivised by a
CQUIN attachment.
Thanks to the dedication of the team and the
commitment of our staff, the Trust achieved
more than its 75% target. We achieved
77.2%, which was an increase of 22.9% from
2015, making it a successful vaccination
campaign.

………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….
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STAFF IN POST
As at 31 March 2017

Female executive directors
Male executive directors
Senior managers
Senior managers band 8A and above
Female
Male
Total staff 2015/16
Total staff 2016/17
Female staff
Male staff
Bank staff
Permanent staff

4
3
20
83
62
21
4,430
4,545
3,830
715
995
3,371

*Figures include only primary assignments. If an employee has a substantive post, and a bank post,
only the substantive post is counted.
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STAFF SURVEY
Our Trust took part in the annual NHS staff
survey 2016. The survey was open for all Trust
staff to complete in late 2016. Official results
from NHS England were released in early
March 2017.
2016 staff survey results
43% of staff responded to the survey, which
is a 1% decline year on year. Overall, our
measure of staff engagement was 3.85 (out
of 5, 5 being high/positive), which is above
(better than) average for trusts of our type.
There was no difference in our score for
recommendation of the care provided by the
Trust (69%), however there was a 5% decline
in recommendation as a place to work (57%).
It is likely that the staff reduction in response
is linked to the significant number of
reorganisations the Trust undertook last year
and the increased control processes for
requesting resources. Overall, staff
recommendation of the organisation as a
place to work or receive treatment was 3.74,
compared to 3.79 in 2015.
Top five ranking scores – areas where we
scored more favourably compared to trusts of
a similar type:
1. Effective use of patient/service user
feedback
2. Percentage of staff reporting errors,
near misses or incidents witnessed in
the last month
3. Staff motivation at work
4. Fairness and effectiveness of
procedures for reporting errors, near
misses and incidents
5. Staff confidence and security in
reporting unsafe clinical practice
Bottom five ranking scores – areas where
we scored less favourably compared to trusts
of a similar type:
1. Percentage of staff working extra
hours
2. Percentage of staff appraised in last 12
months
3. Staff satisfaction with resourcing and
support
4. Percentage of staff/colleagues
reporting most recent experience of
harassment, bullying or abuse

5. Support from immediate managers
Where staff experience has improved
x Percentage of staff/colleagues
reporting most recent experience of
violence: our reported figure is 81%
which is down from 91%
x Fairness and effectiveness of
procedures for reporting errors, near
misses and incidents: our score is 3.85*
which is an improvement on last year’s
3.78
x Staff confidence and security in
reporting unsafe clinical practice: our
score is 3.79* which is an improvement
on last year’s 3.72
x Effective use of patient/service user
feedback: our score is 3.88* which is an
improvement on last year’s 3.80
*These scores are out of 5, 5 being
high/positive.
Where staff experience has deteriorated
x Percentage of staff agreeing that their
role makes a difference to
patients/service users (92% > 89%)
x An area of concern is the noticeable
increase in the percentage of staff
from BME backgrounds who have
identified experiencing bullying and
harassment from staff and patients
Things we are proud of
x Staff reporting the Trust as a place to
work or receive treatment is higher
than the average for similar trusts
x Our staff motivation is higher than
other similar trusts
x More staff report good
communication between senior
managers and staff than other trusts
x Quality of our appraisals is recognised
as higher than those for similar trusts
x Fairness and effectiveness of our
procedures for reporting errors, near
misses and incidents is higher since last
year and compared to similar trusts
These results were communicated to staff in a
one-page update, along with links to the full
reports.
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STAFF SURVEY 2016 RESULTS
Our 2016 response rate
2015/16
(PREVIOUS
YEAR)

2016/17 (CURRENT YEAR)

TRUST IMPROVEMENT/
DETERIORATION

Trust

T rust

Benchmarking group (trust
type) average

44%

43%

47%

-1%

Our scores, ranked against trusts of similar type

TOP 5 RANKING SCORES
2015/16

2016/17 (CURRENT YEAR)

(PREVIOUS
YEAR)

TRUST
IMPROVEMENT/
DETERIORATION

Trust

T rust

Benchmarking
group (trust
type) average

3.80

3.88

3.68

+0.08

KF29. Percentage of
91%
staff reporting errors,
near misses or incidents
witnessed in the last
month

95%

93%

+4%

KF4. Staff motivation at 4.02
work

4.00

3.94

-0.2

KF30. Fairness and
effectiveness of
procedures for
reporting errors, near
misses and incidents

3.78

3.85

3.77

+0.07

KF31. Staff confidence 3.72
and security in
reporting unsafe clinical
practice

3.79

3.71

+0.07

KF32. Effective use of
patient/service user
feedback
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BOTTOM 5 RANKING SCORES
2 015/16

2016/17 (CURRENT YEAR)

( PREVIOUS
YEAR)

TRUST
IMPROVEMENT/
DETERIORATION

Trust

T rust

Benchmarking
group (trust
type) average

KF16. Percentage of
staff working extra
hours

74%

76%

71%

+2%

KF11. Percentage of
staff appraised in last
12 months

84%

84%

92%

0%

KF14. Staff satisfaction
with resourcing and
support

3.30

3.25

3.33

-0.05

KF27. Percentage of
52%
staff/ colleagues
reporting most recent
experience of
harassment, bullying or
abuse

56%

58%

+4%

KF10. Support from
immediate managers

3.83

3.88

-0.03

3.86

FUTURE PRIORITIES AND TARGETS
Our bottom ranking scores are a high priority.
We reviewed potential actions to address
these, and invested a significant amount of
resource in developing our appraisal system.
We will continue with the delivery of this
project into the remainder of 2017 to address
these identified needs.

This will be central to our communications
and organisational development plans.
Measurement will be determined within our
planning schedule, with a key focus being the
improvement of the engagement scores for
2017.
Our current objectives are:

The staff engagement score is key to all
elements of the staff survey, so the Trust
proposed that this year’s action plan gives key
focus to it. With critical focus on staff
engagement and experience, as well as the
staff survey, our communications and
organisational development plans have been
reported to our Board of Directors. Key
performance measures, including the
improvement of the engagement scores, are
part of this action plan for 2017.

x

x
x

To understand the staff working
experience and culture in highly
engaged teams and share these
learnings across the Trust.
To build on and improve our staff
engagement scores in 2017 and
onwards.
To support our managers to engage
and manage their teams effectively.
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x
x

To engage staff and improve staff
experience, and as a result, the place
to work score for 2017 survey.
To develop conversations across the
Trust in teams around the key areas
identified for improvement.

The issues identified around bullying and
harassment require a separate focus. This is
covered in both our work on our Workforce
Race Equality Standard (WRES) and diversity
action plans, and the Trust’s work on
Freedom to Speak Up. One of the key
elements of our action plan was our
leadership conference, held in March 2017.
The conference focused on diversity and
inclusion, and was co-produced with the staff
diversity network leaders. It had a positive
response from staff who attended, and the

outputs from this conference will be used to
inform our planning for 2017/18.
Our bottom ranking scores are a high priority.
We reviewed potential actions to address
these, and invested a significant amount of
resource in developing our appraisal system.
We will continue with the delivery of this
project into the remainder of 2017 to address
these identified needs.
The staff engagement score is key to all
elements of the staff survey, so the Trust
proposed that this year’s action plan gives key
focus to it. With critical focus on staff
engagement and experience, as well as the
staff survey, our communications and
organisational development plans have been
reported to our Board of Directors.

………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….
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A NNUAL REPORT DISCLOSURES
For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2017, for more than £220 per day and that last
longer than six months.
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2017

57

Of which:
Number that have existed for less than one year at time of reporting

7

Number that have existed for between one and two years at time of reporting

23

Number that have existed for between two and three years at time of reporting

11

Number that have existed for between three and four years at time of reporting

3

Number that have existed for four or more years at time of reporting

13

All existing off-payroll engagements, outlined above, have at some point been subject to a riskbased assessment as to whether assurance is required that the individual is paying the right
amount of tax and, where necessary, that assurance has been sought.
For all new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between 1
April 2016 and 31 March 2017, for more than £220 per day and that last longer than six months.
Number of new engagements or those that reached six months in duration, between
1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017
Number of the above that include contractual clauses giving the trust the right to
request assurance in relation to income tax and National Insurance obligations
Number for whom assurance has been requested

7
7
7

Of which:
Number for whom assurance has been received

0

Number for whom assurance has not been received

7

Number that have been terminated as a result of assurance not being received.

0

For any off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officials with significant
financial responsibility, between 1st April 2016 and 31st March 2017.
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officials with
significant financial responsibility, during the financial year

0

Number of individuals that have been deemed board members and/or senior officials
with significant financial responsibility. This figure should include both off-payroll
and on-payroll engagements
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GOVERNANCE
Effective governance allows us to grow and
develop. By overseeing our processes, we
maintain a compassionate, inclusive
environment that provides safe, quality care
and ensures high standards of welfare for all
service users. Northamptonshire Healthcare
NHS Foundation Trust has applied the
principles of the NHS Foundation Trust Code
of Governance on a comply or explain basis.
The NHS Foundation Trust Code of
Governance, most recently revised in July
2014, is based on the principles of the UK
Corporate Governance Code issued in 2012.

WHO CAN BE A GOVERNOR?
Any member of the Trust who is aged 16 or
over can be elected as a governor. There are
three constituencies: public, service users or
carers, and staff. Each elected governor
belongs to and is appointed by one of these
constituencies.
We consult with our members, the council of
governors and the public on topics of a
strategic and operational nature (for
example, the annual plan creation or local
service redesigns). We welcome the views of
everyone and actively encourage input in a
number of ways. The public have access to
forums such as the Board of Directors’
meeting. Our annual public and members’
meeting was held on 16 September 2016.
Members are invited to these meetings as a
further opportunity to share their views with
the Board of Directors. We also hold a
number of events throughout the year to
keep members informed about our services
and to ensure that they have ample
opportunity to express their opinions. A
register of governors’ interests is updated
annually and is available from the
Northamptonshire Healthcare NHS
Foundation Trust office.

How we have engaged our members this
year
1. Initial communications. All new
members receive a welcome letter and
introductory information.
2. Ongoing communications. We
continue to issue regular bulletins and
reports from the chairman. We also
send out governor and organisational
updates, and a membership survey.
3. Website members’ area. We maintain
a dedicated place to find information
and updates.
4. P romotional materials. These help to
encourage member recruitment of
staff, service users and local carers. For
example, the Trust services send out
membership application forms with
appointment letters and staff
inductions promote the benefits of
membership to new employees.
5. Member events. These are held to
share and discuss topics related to the
Trust and the wider NHS. 2016/17
scheduled service-specific events have
included topics such as young people’s
mental health.
6. Wider participation. We encourage
attendance at events co-hosted with
other local healthcare providers. For
example, in 2016/17 we encouraged
members to attend events held by
Northamptonshire Healthwatch about
the Sustainability and Transformation
Plan (STP), and we circulated a survey
to our younger service user members
on their behalf.
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OUR MEMBERSHIP STRATEGY
Our current strategy builds on all of our work
to date, recruiting and developing an
engaged and representative membership. The
council of governors approved an updated
strategy in November 2014. This strategy
focuses on two main areas: current member
engagement and the need for continued
membership growth. The strategy is due to be
refreshed in 2017.
The governors’ membership and governance
sub-group have started this work and a
refreshed strategy will be in place by the end
of 2017.
We aim to make membership engagement a
central part of how we gain an even better
understanding of our patients, service users,
families, carers, staff and community. We
have 12,000 members and their input directly
contributes to the development of the Trust.
Our ultimate aim: to increase our members’
sense of Trust ownership
Our membership recruitment programme has
been ongoing since 2007. Public and patient
constituencies are receiving particular focus.
This is in accordance with the Health and
Social Care Act 2012 section 153 (2) (2), which
requires membership to be representative of
the people we serve.
To properly ensure that our membership is a
true representation of the population we
serve, we commissioned information from
membership engagement services in

November 2016. Our membership base was
found to have no significant outliers, though
there were areas with potential for
improvement.
The Board of Directors received a membership
report as part of the operational plan
submission process. They also attend the
council of governors’ meetings where
membership is discussed.

OUR MEMBERSHIP TARGETS
We carefully review targets prior to agreeing
them, balancing aims for membership growth
with investment in the meaningful
involvement of existing members. The council
of governors’ membership and the
governance sub-group oversees recruitment
activities and recommends annual
membership targets, for endorsement by the
council of governors.
The council of governors agreed a 1% growth
target in 2016/17. This target was set and
agreed by the council of governors via the
membership and governance sub-group. The
target reflects recruitment of a modest
increase in members, and also recognises the
focus on engagement with members.
The Trust has successfully achieved its
overall membership target for the year –
there are approximately 100 new members.
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MEMBERSHIP AT YEAR-END
MARCH 2014

MARCH 2015

MARCH 2016

MARCH 2017

Public members

6945

7508

7963

8111

Patient and carer
members

2198

2343

2354

2344

Staff members

1769

1684

1574

1557

Total members

10912

11535

11891

12012

If you would like to know more about becoming a member of the Trust or would like to contact
your governor or directors, please contact us using the details below.

Foundation Trust office
Front Block
St Mary’s Hospital
London Road
Kettering
Northamptonshire
NN15 7PW
Phone: 01536 452061
Email: foundationtrust@nhft.nhs.uk
Web: www.nhft.nhs.uk

REGISTERS OF INTERESTS
Directors’ interests are available from the Trust board secretary (phone 01536 452036). Governors’
interests are available from the Foundation Trust office (phone 01536 452061 or email
foundationtrust@nhft.nhs.uk).

………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….
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COUNCIL OF GOVERNORS
The council of governors is an important
piece of the overall governance jigsaw for the
Trust.
The council of governors is an important body
made up of elected and appointed governors
of our Trust. The main functions carried out
by the council are to offer views on current
issues and our forward plan and to discharge
specific statutory responsibilities. As members
of our organisation, governors always
operate in accordance with our constitution.
Elected governors are appointed for up to
three years. There are three constituencies:
public, patients and carers, and staff. Each
elected governor belongs to and is appointed
by one of these constituencies. During the
past year, elections were held for new
governors. New and existing governors
remain in post until one of the following
situations occurs:
t5IFSFJTBDIBOHFJOUIFDPOTtitution
t5IFSFJTBDIBOHFJOUIFJOEJWJEVBMT
circumstances which means they are no
longer able to be a governor
t5IFJSUFOVSFFYQJSFT
The council of governors appoints a lead
governor from its membership. From 1
December 2015 Michael Darling, public
governor of Daventry and South
Northamptonshire, was appointed lead
governor. Governors contribute in various
ways through committees and sub-groups.
They appoint or remove the chairman and
non-executive directors, as well as hold
responsibility for their remuneration. They
also appoint or remove the external auditor.

A key focus of the committee’s work in
2016/17 was to lead the process for the
appointment of a new chair due to the
tenure of the existing chair expiring on 31
October 2016. At their September 2016
meeting, following a recruitment process led
by the nominations and remuneration
committee, the council of governors
successfully made an appointment. This
process involved long listing, short listing and
a final panel interview, including stakeholder
groups containing executive and nonexecutive directors as well as governors. An
executive search company was appointed by
the council of governors to support this
recruitment process.
During 2016/17, the council of governors also
appointed an associate non-executive
director. This appointment was made
following the non-executive director
recruitment process undertaken in February
2016. One successful non-executive director
appointment had been made and, after
further consideration, the council of
governors agreed to the associate nonexecutive appointment at their May 2016
meeting.
Towards the end of 2016/17 the committee
initiated the process to recruit two new nonexecutive directors.
t.FNCership and governance sub-group
This sub-group drives membership strategy
and considers other issues including matters
relating to the Foundation Trust constitution.
t'JOBODF QMBOOJOHBOEQFSGPSNBODFTVCgroup
Providing views on forward plans, this subgroup also examines financial and
nonfinancial performance in specific areas,
dictated by a defined work plan.
t1BUJFOUTBGFUZBOEFYQFSJFODFTVC-group

The roles of our committees and subgroups
t/PNJOBUJPOTBOESFNVOFSBUJPODPNNJUUFF
This committee’s remit includes the
recruitment of selection of the Trust chair and
non-executive directors and determination of
their terms and conditions (subject to full
council of governors ratification).

This sub-group examines issues of patient
safety and experience.
t4UBGGBOESFTPVSDFTTVC-group
This sub-group examines issues of staff and
resources.
t$PSQPSBUFBTTFTTNFOUTVC-group
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This sub-group reviews papers from the Board
of Directors’ meetings.
t$IBJSTTVC-group
Comprising of the chair of the council of
governors and the chairs of each committee
and sub-group, as well as task and finish
groups, this sub-group plans and discusses
agendas for the council of governors’
meetings.

Governor training and development
The membership and governance sub-group
monitors ongoing governor training. In
2016/17, we made significant progress with
identifying and meeting the training and
development needs of governors. Governors
have agreed to undertake mandatory
training, which aligns them with the Skills for
Health programme that all our staff must also
follow. Governors have accessed a range of
other training and development
opportunities, some of which are NHS-wide
and some of which are developed and
delivered internally.

How we involve our governors
Directors attend the council of governors’
main and sub-group meetings. This allows
them to listen and respond to views and
questions from governors.
Directors also attend key member events and
routinely receive a written report from the
chair that outlines key issues raised at council
meetings. If a formal disagreement between
the council of governors and Board of

Directors was to arise, our constitution
contains a process for resolution. The council
of governors also features partner
organisations. These organisations will
sometimes carry out their own engagement
activities within the local community.
Governors will announce any conflicts of
interest or make declarations of interest
where appropriate. The chief executive will
highlight meetings with key partners in the
local health and social care economy. This is
communicated in a regular report, and gives
governors another opportunity to declare
shared interests of themselves or their
members.

Contribution to our annual plan
The council of governors’ finance planning
and performance sub-group contributed to
the development of the Trust’s 2016/17
operational plan. The Trust also has a
successful track record in engaging members
in the development of its annual plan
through, for example, member events. The
Trust is scheduling further member
engagement events during 2017/18, which
will provide additional opportunities for
members to hear about and discuss issues.
These are reflected in the 2017-19
Operational Plan.
Governors have a specific duty to engage
members and are expected to seek their view
on performance and progress. Some
governors will write to members in their
constituency, inviting them to express views
and highlight any concerns.
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GOVERNORS
We held six meetings of the council of governors during 2016/17.

GOVERNOR ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS AND EXPENSES PAID
DURING THE YEAR
CONSTITUENCY

CLASS

NAME

NUMBER OF
MEETINGS
ATTENDED (SIX
MEETINGS)

Public

Patients and carers

Corby and Kettering

Joe Sims

3 of 6

Corby and Kettering

Maureen Shram

2 of 2

Corby and Kettering

Brenda McCraith

4 of 6

Northampton

Roger Webb

3 of 6

Northampton

Gail Sutherland

3 of 6

Northampton

Des Savage

4 of 6

Wellingborough and East
Northamptonshire

Hector Graham

2 of 2

Amanda Clayton

0 of 3

Wellingborough and East
Northamptonshire

John Walker

5 of 6

Wellingborough and East
Northamptonshire

Janet Hathaway

5 of 6

Daventry and South
Northamptonshire
Daventry and South
Northamptonshire

Katherine Deaville 1 of 6
Michael Darling

6 of 6

Daventry and South
Northamptonshire

Anthony BagotWebb

4 of 6

Rest of England

Vacant

N/A

Adult service user

Kevin Boyce

3 of 6

Adult service user

William Miller

0 of 4

Adult service user

Beverley
Sturdgess

2 of 6
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C ONSTITUENCY

C LASS

NAME

NUMBER OF
MEETINGS
ATTENDED (SIX
MEETINGS)

Adult service user

Tony Locock

6 of 6

Adult service user

Dennis Holland

4 of 6

Adult service user

Colin Russell

3 of 6

Younger service user

Hummad Anwar*

0 of 0

Tremaine RichardNoel

5 of 6

Carol ThorneSmith

0 of 4

Brian Lawrence

1 of 1

Carer

Sandra Wright

4 of 6

Carer

Priscilla Brown

2 of 6

Carer

Alan Devenish

5 of 6

Carer

Sandra Bemrose

3 of 6

Registered Nurses

Alex Scott

6 of 6

Non clinical

Suzanne Johnson

3 of 6

Other clinical

Jacquie Gowans

2 of 6

Doctors and Dentists

Nick Mann

1 of 6

Unregistered nurses

Claire Higgins

2 of 4

Stuart Fitzgerald

1 of 1

Borough and District Councils

Rosemary Herring

3 of 5

Northamptonshire County Council

Judy Shephard

2 of 6

Northamptonshire Rights and
Equality Council

Steven Brooks

0 of 6

Older People – Age UK

Liam Condron

3 of 6

Older service user

Staff

Partners
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C ONSTITUENCY

C LASS

NAME

NUMBER OF
MEETINGS
ATTENDED (SIX
MEETINGS)

Northamptonshire
The University of Northampton

John Turnbull

4 of 6

Criminal Justice Services

Vacant

N/A

*Hummad Anwar was in post from the 1 to the 12 April 2016, however there were no council of
governors’ meetings held in this period.

Members of the Board of Directors are invited to attend council of governors’ meetings. Directors
are routinely invited to contribute to discussions and to present information on key issues.

DIRECTOR ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS
NAME OF DIRECTOR

T ITLE

NUMBER OF MEETINGS
ATTENDED (SIX MEETINGS)

Paul Bertin

Chair

Crishni Waring

3 of 3
3 of 3

Sushel Ohri

Non-Executive Director

1 of 2

Bruce Minty

Non-Executive Director

2 of 5

Alastair Watson

Non-Executive Director

2 of 6

Bev Messinger

Non-Executive Director

0 of 6

Moira Ingham

Non-Executive Director

4 of 6

Jane Carr

Associate Non-Executive Director

1 of 3

Angela Hillery

Chief Executive

4 of 6

Dr Alex O’Neill-Kerr

Medical Director

1 of 6

Bill McFarland

Finance Director

1 of 1

Richard Wheeler
Julie Shepherd

4 of 6
Director of Nursing, AHPs and Quality

4 of 6
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NAME OF DIRECTOR

T ITLE

NUMBER OF MEETINGS
ATTENDED (SIX MEETINGS)

Richard McKendrick

Chief Operating Officer

Sandra Mellors
Chris Oakes

1 of 2
4 of 6*

Director of Human Resources and
Organisational Development
3 of 6

Lucy Dadge

Director of Strategic Partnerships

3 of 4

* One of these attendances was as Interim Director of Operations
Key stakeholders
The Trust engages with key stakeholders on a range of issues that are both strategic (for example,
the annual plan) and operational (for example, local services redesign). The interests of patients
and the local community are represented in a number of ways, including through the structure of
the Trust’s council of governors, public access to Board of Directors’ meetings and the annual
public and members’ meeting.
The council of governors is made up of partner organisations, some of which engage in activities
within the local community. Governors will declare any conflicts of interest or declarations of
interest, as appropriate. The chief executive, in her regular report to the council of governors, will
routinely highlight meetings with key partners in the local health and social care economy,
providing an opportunity for governors to raise any issues in which they and their members may
have a shared interest. Staff governors are routinely invited to attend the Trust’s staff partnership
forum meetings.

………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….
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N HS IMPROVEMENT’S SINGLE OVERSIGHT FRAMEWORK
AREA

METRIC

2016/1
1 7 Q3 SCORE

2016/17 Q4 SCORE

Financial sustainability

Capital service capacity

2

2

1

1

Liquidity

Financial efficiency

I&E margin

2

1

Financial controls

Distance from financial 1
plan

1

Agency spend
Overall scoring

1

1

The Foundation Trusts’ regulatory ratings were defined within Monitor’s Risk Assessment
Framework. The Trust maintained a ‘Green’ governance rating up to Quarter 2 in 2016/17, and this
was then superseded by the introduction of the Single Oversight Framework and this positive
result mirrored the rating consistently achieved during 2015/16. In both years, actual performance
in respect of the governance rating was in line with planned performance. In respect of the Trust’s
financial risk ratings, the performance is described in the financial targets, plan and performance
section of the Performance Report.
NHS Improvement’s Single Oversight Framework provides the framework for overseeing providers
and identifying potential support needs. The framework looks at five themes:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Quality of care
Finance and use of resources
Operational performance
Strategic change
Leadership and improvement capability (well-led)

Based on information from these themes, providers are segmented from 1 to 4, where 4 reflects
providers receiving the most support, and 1 reflects providers with maximum autonomy. A
foundation trust will only be in segments 3 or 4 where it has been found to be in breach or
suspected breach of its licence.
The Trust is currently placed within segment 2 under the single oversight framework. The CQC
carried out a comprehensive assessment of our services in January 2017 and rated the Trust overall
as ‘Good’. This was an improvement on the last inspection in 2015 when the Trust was rated
‘Requires Improvement’.
This segmentation information is the Trust’s position as at 8 May 2017. Current segmentation
information for NHS trusts and foundation trusts is published on the NHS Improvement website.
The finance and use of resources theme is based on the scoring of five measures from 1 to 4, where
1 reflects the strongest performance. These scores are then weighted to give an overall score.
………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….
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ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITY

CAPACITY TO HANDLE RISK

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility
for maintaining a sound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the
Trust’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst
safeguarding the public funds and
departmental assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the
responsibilities assigned to me. I am also
responsible for ensuring that the Trust is
administered prudently and economically and
that resources are applied efficiently and
effectively. I also acknowledge my
responsibilities as set out in the NHS
Foundation Trust Accounting Officer
Memorandum.

The Quality and Governance Committee and
the performance committee have delegated
responsibility as part of the organisation’s risk
management strategy on behalf of the Trust’s
Board of Directors. This ensures the best
leadership, coordination and prioritisation is
received, on a strategic and operational basis,
of the risk management agenda in relation to
clinical, quality, workforce, operational and
financial risks. This includes the identification
of the full range of risks that are inherent in
the delivery of healthcare. The Health, Safety
and Risk committee provides an overarching
view of health, safety and welfare and
assurance that non-clinical risks are managed
effectively on behalf of the organisation. The
risk management structure is detailed in the
Trust’s risk management strategy. It describes
the responsibilities and accountabilities of all
directors, managers and staff, including the
duty to identify and report risks of all kinds,
and the duty to act upon these using their
own skills and competencies in the
management of risk. The Trust ensures,
through our management structure, that we
provide training and support on the delivery
of risk management activities such as:

THE PURPOSE OF THE SYSTEM
OF INTERNAL CONTROL
The system of internal control is designed to
manage risk to a reasonable level, rather than
to eliminate all risk of failure, to achieve
policies, aims and objectives. It can therefore
only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness. The system of
internal control is based on an ongoing
process designed to identify and prioritise the
risks to the achievement of the policies, aims
and objectives of Northamptonshire
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate
the likelihood of those risks being realised
and the impact should they be realised, and
to manage them efficiently, effectively and
economically. The system of internal control
has been in place in Northamptonshire
Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust for the year
ended 31st March 2017 and up to the date of
approval of the annual report and accounts.

t-PDBMBOEDPSQorate induction training
tHealth, safety and risk awareness
t*ODJEFOUSFQPSUJOHBOENPOJUPSJOH
t3JTLNBOBHFNFOUTZTUFNTBOEQSPDFTTFT
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THE RISK AND CONTROL
FRAMEWORK ͒
The significant risks in relation to the Trust’s
strategic objectives are described in the Trustwide organisational risk register. During
2016/17, the most significant risks included:
x
x

x
x

The Trust is materially unable to
deliver its 2016/17 financial plan
Regulatory non-compliance with
Improving Access to Psychological
Therapies (IAPT) targets jeopardises
the Trust’s risk rating
The Trust is unable to maintain the
right workforce capability and capacity
to deliver its strategic plan
The Trust is unable to deliver its
financial plan and support
Sustainability and Transformation Plan
implementation, 2017-19

The latter two risks detailed above will carry
forward as significant risks into 2017/18. The
Trust has put in place controls and action
plans to mitigate these risks and these are
described in the organisational risk register.
For example, a new recruitment manager is
now in post and developing recruitment plans
to improve workforce capability and capacity.

as well as through the regular refresh of the
organisational risk register following the
annual planning process. The Trust also
reviews and reports on the determination of
its risk appetite using a matrix that comprises
risk levels and key elements (for example
financial, compliance, quality and patient
benefit).
The principal risks to compliance with the
Trust’s condition 4 of the NHS provider licence
relate to poor corporate governance
arrangements, including ineffective
performance management and reporting
systems (with respect to quality, operations
and finance), and inadequate business
planning processes. Key measures in place to
mitigate against these risks include:

1. The effectiveness of governance structures
x

Emergency preparedness, risk and resilience
(EPRR) remains on the organisational risk
register however good progress has been
made during 2016/17 with respect to the
development of the Trust’s EPRR
arrangements. The Trust has moved from
‘partial’ to ‘substantial’ compliance with EPRR
Core Standards.
The Trust’s internal audit programme
supports the organisation in continuously
strengthening its governance processes. As
part of their work, internal auditors
highlighted issues pertaining to the content
of clinical supervision records and their
compliance with policy regarding quality of
supervision and to the monitoring of
compliance with medication policies. The
Trust is addressing these issues.
Future risks and associated mitigations are
identified in a number of ways, including the
board’s regular ‘horizon scanning’ of the
environment in which the Trust is operating,

x
x

In line with NHS Improvement’s
national guidance, the board
commissioned an external review of
the organisation’s governance
arrangements. This exercise is expected
to take place every three years. Ernst
and Young (EY) undertook this ‘Wellled Framework for Governance
Review’ work during 2015/16 and the
Trust’s board considered EY’s report at
its March 2016 meeting. The report
provided good assurance regarding
the Trust’s governance processes
including those relating to quality
governance. During 2016/17 the Trust
has implemented the
recommendations of the EY report,
and this had led to the further
strengthening of the organisation’s
governance processes.
Regular reviews of board committees’
effectiveness are undertaken.
Representatives from the council of
governors attend Board of Directors’
meetings, at which governors are
given the opportunity to raise
questions and comments at
appropriate points on agenda items
being discussed by the board.
Reports from council of governors’
meetings are regularly presented at
Board of Directors’ meetings thereby
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x

x

facilitating discussion and information
sharing between these two forums.
The Trust has robust information
governance and data quality policies in
place, accessible to all staff, which
cover issues such as data security and
systems’ data quality. The Trust also
has a board-appointed senior
information risk owner and Caldicott
guardian.
The Trust’s constitution is regularly
reviewed and updated to reflect
legislative changes or organisational
requirements with appropriate advice
obtained from the Trust’s legal
advisors. The council of governors, in
conjunction with the Board of
Directors reviewed aspects of the FT
Constitution, including Annex 6,
during 2016/17 to further strengthen
governance arrangements.

2. The responsibilities of directors and
committees:
x
x

x

x

Board committee terms of reference
and membership are regularly
reviewed.
The Board of Directors’ structure is
regularly reviewed to ensure its
continued effectiveness and that
arrangements for talent management
and succession planning are in hand.
The Trust has a policy and effective
procedures in place to ensure
compliance with Fit and Proper
Persons regulations.
All board directors undertake regular
service visits to clinical areas,
identifying areas of positive practice
and issues for further attention.

3. Reporting lines and accountabilities
between the board, its committees and the
Executive Team:
x

x

These are clearly defined within the
overall governance structures of the
Trust and within the terms of
reference of the board committees.
Reports and minutes from board
committees are included in the public
and private sessions of the Board of
Directors’ meetings respectively.
During 2016/17, the Trust developed a
governance pack, which provides a

x

x

comprehensive picture of the overall
governance structures operating
within the organisation. The pack is
regularly updated to ensure it
continuously reflects current practices.
The structure and arrangements of
Executive Team meetings have been
reviewed and strengthened during
2016/17.
Management of risk is allocated to
two board committees: the
performance committee and Quality
and Governance Committee, with the
board taking an overarching
responsibility for risk (including
ensuring effective exchange between
the two committees). The Audit
Committee’s terms of reference also
include risk management
responsibilities.

4. Submission of timely and accurate
information to assess risks to compliance with
the Trust’s NHS provider licence:
x

x
x

The board routinely receives and
reviews the organisational risk register
as part of the Trust’s robust and wellembedded risk management strategy.
Quarterly submissions and in-quarter
ad-hoc exception reporting are made
to NHSI.
Specific monitoring and assurance
arrangements have been established
and agreed by the Quality and
Governance Committee to ensure
ongoing compliance with the Trust’s
provider licence conditions.

5. The degree and rigour of oversight the
board has over the Trust’s performance:
x

The Trust has well-established
performance management systems in
place with respect to our quality,
operational and financial obligations,
with appropriate links to the
organisational risk register processes.

x

The Board of Directors routinely
receives and scrutinises performance
reports at its meetings with ongoing
development of a Trust-wide
integrated Performance Dashboard.
The performance committee and
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x

Quality and Governance Committee
have key responsibilities within the
overall performance management
framework and quality strategy of the
Trust.
The board takes leadership of the
Trust’s planning processes (both
operational and strategic) and receives
and reviews regular progress reports
on delivery. Board sessions are held as
part of the overall planning process, to
which deputy directors (operational
and clinical) are regularly invited.

The Trust has applied the principles of the
NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance on
a ‘comply or explain’ basis. The NHS
Foundation Trust Code of Governance, most
recently revised in July 2014, is based on the
principles of the UK Corporate Governance
Code issued in 2012. The Trust is required to
comply with its Foundation Trust
Constitution, and governance processes are
designed to underpin this requirement. Under
the constitution, the board is expected to
comprise up to five and not less than four
non-executive directors (NEDs), excluding the
chair. Following the unplanned resignation
without notice of one of the NEDs, in
February 2017 the Trust has had an
establishment of three NEDs. Following a
successful recruitment process, two new NEDs
were appointed by the council of governors
at its May 2017 meeting, thereby resolving
this governance issue.

The board has an established process to
assure itself of the validity of its corporate
governance statement required under NHS
foundation trust condition 4 (8) (b), with
appropriate sources of assurance being
provided to the board, thereby allowing it to
self-certify compliance with the statement.
The risk management strategy includes an
explanation of the Trust’s philosophy towards
risk management within our strategic aims
and objectives, and clear definitions of
individuals’ roles and responsibilities. The
strategy, which is reviewed by the board
annually, outlines the Trust’s approach to the
following:
x

x

x

x

x

x

record and reduce risks while they are
undertaking work for the Trust.
The provision of high-quality services
to the public in ways aimed at securing
the best outcome for all involved. To
this end, the Trust ensures that
appropriate measures are in place to
reduce or minimise risks to everyone
for whom we have a responsibility.
These include patients, staff,
contractors and visitors who are on
Trust premises.
The implementation of policies and
training to ensure that all appropriate
staff are competent to identify risks,
are aware of the steps needed to
address them and have authority to
act.
Management action to assess all
identified risks and the steps needed
to minimise them. This comprises
continuous evaluation, monitoring and
reassessment of these risks and the
resultant actions required.
The designation of executive officers
with responsibility for the
implementation of this strategy and
the execution of risk management
through operational and monitoring
committees, as described in the risk
management strategy and policy.
Action plans to maintain compliance
with the requirements for Care Quality
Commission (CQC) registration, which
contribute to delivery of the risk
control framework and registration
standards assurance.
The process by which risks are
evaluated and controlled throughout
the organisation. In support of the risk
management strategy and policy, a
range of policies exist that provide
clear guidance for staff on how to deal
with concerns, complaints, claims,
accidents and incidents on behalf of
patients, visitors or themselves. Risk
management is embedded within the
organisation as follows:

o Compliance with the mechanisms for
the reporting of all accidents and
incidents.
o Information from incident reporting
data is integrated into new service

The responsibility of every member of
staff to recognise, respond to, report,
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o

o
o

o

o

o

o

developments through the Datix
incident reporting system.
All serious incidents are actively
managed and monitored to ensure
compliance with action plans and
being open. Progress is monitored by
the Board of Directors at each meeting
both in public and private session.
Training and education programmes
for staff, including induction
programmes.
Use of local, directorate and corporate
risk registers and the National Patient
Safety Agency grading matrix
throughout the organisation.
A financial risk assessment is
incorporated into the bi-monthly
financial reporting arrangements for
the performance committee and the
board.
A ‘freedom to speak up’ guardian and
policy are in place and awareness of
this is promoted within the Trust, with
clear reporting lines established within
the Trust’s governance structures.
Outcomes from complaints, incidents
and claims are used to mitigate future
risks and these outcomes are also
aggregated to identify Trust-wide
risks.
The Trust’s organisational risk register
fulfils the functions as described in the
guidance as it:
o Covers all the organisation’s
main activities.
o Identifies the Trust’s strategic
focus.
o Identifies, scores and risk
profiles the key risks to
achieving its objectives.
o Identifies and describes the
significant systems of internal
controls in place to manage the
risk.
o Identifies the review and
assurance mechanisms, and
therefore the effectiveness of
the systems of internal control.
o Identifies gaps in controls and
assurance and the link to board
plans.

The organisational risk register describes the
risks to achieving the organisation’s strategic
objectives. They are drawn from operational
indicators of risk and from horizon-scanning

discussions about external risks to achieving
the strategic objectives. The organisational
risk register is updated regularly through the
year. Any gaps in controls that are identified
are subject to the implementation of an
action plan and assurances within the
organisational risk register. The performance
committee and Quality and Governance
Committee continually review the
organisational risk register, and assurance of
the process and management of risks is
reported to the Board of Directors in public
session. The Trust has a robust risk assessment
and risk register process in place to identify
both clinical and non-clinical risks at local,
directorate/service and organisational levels.
For those risks that cannot be eliminated or
managed at a local or directorate/service
level, and are assessed to be a significant risk,
they are escalated to the organisational risk
register.
The Trust uses DatixWeb, a risk management
information system incorporating the use of
dashboards for real-time reporting and
escalation of identified risks.
The Trust is required to be registered with
either or both the Care Quality Commission
(CQC) and Ofsted for delivery of our services.
The Trust achieved registration for all of our
services with the CQC from 1 April 2010, and
Ofsted from 1 August 2013, without any
conditions of registration. Both statutory
bodies have undertaken inspections in the
organisation in 2016/17.
The CQC did not take any enforcement
actions against the Trust during 2016/17, nor
has the organisation been required to
participate in any special reviews or
investigation by the CQC during the year.
Under its routine inspection programme, the
CQC inspected the Trust in January 2017 and
published its report in March 2017.
The Trust achieved an overall rating of ‘Good’
in this inspection, with a rating of
‘Outstanding’ in the Caring domain and
‘Good’ in the Well-Led domain. Prior to this,
the CQC reviewed the organisation in
February 2015 and published its resultant
report in August 2015, which gave the
organisation an overall rating of ‘Requires
improvement’. The Trust will take forward
the learning from the report’s findings and
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address specific issues needing further
attention.
The Trust is fully compliant with the
registration requirements of both the CQC
and Ofsted. The organisation has robust
quality governance arrangements in place
and is underpinned by the Trust’s quality and
governance framework, the quality forum
and the quality strategy. The Trust has a
compliance-monitoring process for all
services. Each service undertakes a quarterly
self-assessment, which is used to provide
assurance that they are assessed against
regulatory standards. In addition, this
information is reviewed and used to underpin
internal reviews of compliance and peer
review visits. Patients, service users, carers and
visitors are encouraged to report any issue of
concern, or suggest areas for improvement
using iWantGreatCare, leaflets, comment
cards (positioned in patient areas), and
through discharge patient surveys.
Involvement includes gathering feedback
from external stakeholders as well as using
patients’ and carers’ views. This involvement
enables these groups to feedback and
scrutinise the Trust’s activity relating to
patient and carer involvement. The
organisation also has patient experience
groups, where patients and carers are
members, which oversee and monitor
involvement and patient experience activity
in the Trust. Our patient advice and liaison
service (PALS) provides central reporting of
low level concerns and issues raised by
patients, General Practitioners (GPs) and the
public. It is also fully integrated with the
complaints management process. These and
other patient experience issues are considered
at the pathway patient experience groups,
which report to the Patient Experience
Steering Group and then ultimately into the
Quality and Governance Committee. This,
along with other quality data, is reported in a
quality dashboard that was introduced in the
organisation during 2013/14. The Trust has
also actively taken part in the national Friends
and Family Test model. However, this has now
been replaced by the iWantGreatCare
initiative, an implementation that has
successfully seen unprecedented levels of
feedback from our service users, carers and
relatives.

Our council of governors has been in place
from 1 May 2009, which has strengthened
arrangements for the involvement and
accountability of patients, carers, staff,
partners and the public. The council of
governors also has a sub-group structure in
place, whose remits include finance, planning
and performance, patient safety and
experience, staff and resources, and
membership and governance. These subgroups help support the Trust’s scrutiny and
assurance processes. The council of governors’
corporate assessment group reviews papers
discussed at Trust Board of Directors’
meetings held in public, as well as the agenda
and minutes of the Board of Directors’
meetings held in private session.
Governor links with the quality agenda have
continued to strengthen over the year. In
2016/17, the council of governors received
presentations, and had the opportunity to
comment on the Trust’s volunteering
strategy, its strategic objectives and
operational plan. The council also received a
report in January 2017 from a governor
working group, which provided positive
assurance on the Trust’s incident investigation
policies and procedures. The council of
governors is an important piece of the overall
governance jigsaw of the Trust.
As an employer, with staff entitled to
membership of the NHS pension scheme,
control measures are in place to ensure all
employer obligations contained within the
scheme regulations are complied with. This
includes ensuring that deductions from salary,
employer’s contributions and payments into
the scheme are in accordance with the
scheme rules, and that member pension
scheme records are accurately updated in
accordance with the timescales detailed in the
regulations.
Similar controls are also in place for
employees entitled to membership of the
local government pension scheme (LGPS), or
individuals who contribute to the national
employment savings trust (NEST) pension
scheme.
Control measures are in place to ensure that
we comply with all our obligations under
equality and human rights legislation.
Compliance is reported on an annual basis in
the published Equality Information report,
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and in regular progress reports to the Board
of Directors, Quality and Governance
Committee and the quality forum. Our
equality and inclusion work is assured via the
equality and inclusion assurance board (EIAB),
chaired by the director of nursing, AHPs and
quality. It includes a non-executive director
(as the vice chair), governor, staff, service user
and carer representation. Its line of
accountability feeds into the Quality and
Governance Committee agenda and the
quality forum. The Trust undertakes relevant
and proportionate equality analysis to
consider the effects of our policies, functions
and actions in relation to groups protected
under the Equality Act 2010. In addition, the
same process is applied to organisational
change, service redesign and cost
improvement programmes. The organisation
is using the NHS equality delivery system
(EDS2) and the Equality Information report to
prioritise equality objectives (cited within a
local plan) and actions and to influence
service reviews, redesigns, and business
planning. The Trust is currently planning the
implementation of the EDS2 for 2017/18. The
Trust also adheres to any NHS England
equality and diversity standards, such as the
workforce race equality standard and the
accessible information standard.
The Trust has undertaken risk assessments
and carbon reduction delivery plans are in
place in accordance with emergency
preparedness and civil contingency
requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009
weather projects, to ensure that this
organisation’s obligations under the Climate
Change Act and the adaptation reporting
requirements are complied with.

REVIEW OF ECONOMY,
EFFICIENCY AND
EFFECTIVENESS OF THE USE
OF RESOURCES
The Trust reviews economy, efficiency and
effectiveness through the review of finance
and performance at budget manager, service
director and overall Trust level. In addition to
a system of devolved budget management,
the Trust operates a service review process
where achievement of performance, quality

standards and financial targets is considered.
There is also a system of reporting finance
and performance to the Board of Directors,
supported by detailed performance and
financial reporting to the Performance
Committee. For an indication of economy and
efficiency in the organisation, the Trust used
benchmarking information from 1 April 2016
to 31 March 2017. Information from the
2015/16 national reference costing exercise is
being used to identify services where our
reference costs are significantly higher than
the national average. Further detailed work is
being undertaken as part of the cost
improvement planning process for 2017/18
and in support of ongoing efficiency
improvement. This work will enable the Trust
to understand why costs of individual services
appear to be high and to identify
opportunities to improve economy and
effectiveness through our productivity and/or
cost improvement programmes.
The Trust is a member of the NHS
benchmarking network and has participated
in several benchmarking exercises in 2016/17
for the following areas: mental health
inpatients and mental health community
services, low secure and forensic services,
usage of restraint and seclusion, community
inpatients and community services, older
people living with frailty, and CAMHS. The
Trust is also a member of the Healthcare
Financial Management Association Mental
Health (HFMA) Cluster Benchmarking Club,
which will support more detailed
benchmarking of mental health cluster costs
in future years. The Trust has implemented
informal Service Line Reporting (SLR) since
March 2015.
In addition to showing profitability and
contribution by service lines the system also
currently provides reference cost comparison
with our service line unit costs and
comparison by service line with reference
costs of our statistical nearest neighbours,
enabling internal benchmarking between
wards and teams. This is underpinned by a
high level patient level costing that also
enables comparison between patients and
between clinicians.
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I NFORMATION GOVERNANCE
During the period 1 April 2016 to 31 March
2017 the Trust has undertaken a range of
actions to improve the manner in which it
manages and controls information
governance risks by reviewing and
monitoring information assets, information
flows and information governance incidents
via our Information Governance Team. This
activity supports the application and
monitoring of compliance against the
requirements of the information governance
(IG) toolkit. Achievement against this is
monitored through the information
management and technology (IM&T)
programme board. The Trust has exceeded
the minimum standard for IG toolkit
submission and has established a framework
to oversee information governance
compliance within the organisation. The
IM&T programme board receives reports on
all key information governance issues. The
Information Governance Team received 397
incidents between 1 April 2016 and 31 March
2017. This figure includes any medical records
incidents as well as the reported loss of
smartcards. This figure also includes 14
incidents that relate to other organisations
that have been logged by Trust staff on the
Trust reporting system. There have been three
incidents classified as Level 2 or above in the
information governance incident national
reporting tool. These incidents related to the
loss or theft of clinical information.
These incidents have been reviewed by the
Information Commissioner's Office which has
determined that the Trust has taken
appropriate action and no fines or penalties
were levied towards the Trust.

ANNUAL QUALITY REPORT
Under the Health Act 2009 and the National
Health Service (Quality Accounts) regulations
2010 (as amended), the directors are required
to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial
year. NHSI has issued guidance to NHS
foundation trust boards on the form and
content of annual quality reports that
incorporate the above legal requirements in
the NHS foundation trust annual reporting
manual.

The organisation has clear governance and
leadership arrangements to ensure the
development and achievement of quality
improvements across the organisation, which
is underpinned by a robust framework.
Executive responsibility for quality rests
jointly with the director of nursing, AHPs and
quality and the medical director.
The Quality Team works with operational
managers and deputy directors to monitor
progress in delivering our core quality
initiatives inclusive of Commissioning for
Quality and Innovation (CQUIN), the quality
schedule and the quality account. Quality
initiatives within the Trust continue to be
reinforced by our quality strategy, which is
continually being reviewed and updated.
The organisation has established
arrangements for the regular review of
service performance, monthly monitoring of a
range of quality and effectiveness indicators
and supporting innovation, including quality
improvements in efficiency and cost
effectiveness. The key document for quality
measurement and reporting is the quality
account, of which a quarterly update is
delivered to the Quality and Governance
Committee. In addition, we have introduced a
monthly dashboard, subject to continuous
development, which allows pathways to
receive detailed information relating to their
services in line with all aspects of quality and
safety. Data from the dashboard is reviewed
and submitted in report format to the quality
forum, where it is reviewed and areas of
risk/good practice are escalated to the Quality
and Governance Committee.
These concerns need to be highlighted so that
actions can be developed to ensure the Trust
maintains its vision to deliver high quality
care for all.
Statutory reporting on elective waiting times
is required for only two Trust services, with
waiting lists and access times fully monitored
for and triangulated. Data quality is assured
through a combination of timely patient level
reporting for each service and the reporting
of both access times for patients seen and
wait times for patients still waiting to be
seen, through the organisation’s established
performance framework meetings. Internally,
performance in this area is measured against
an 18-week expectation with action planning
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required as standard for areas of under
attainment. Risks to data quality in this area
are managed through weekly communication
between the Performance Team and clinical
service leads and dashboard reporting.
The Quality and Governance Committee, on
behalf of the Board of Directors, receives
reports on patient safety, patient experience,
clinical effectiveness, statutory registration
assurance and assurances on learning from
national inquiries. In addition to this,
thematic reviews of service areas or indicators
of concern are commissioned by and shared
with the Quality and Governance Committee
as they arise. Through these thematic reviews
and regular reporting, we have a clear
understanding on where we need to focus to
improve clinical practice and effectiveness
and reduce the incidents of harm.
In addition to this, the Trust’s Board of
Directors receives reports on issues impacting
on quality, including:
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

Progress on key strategic objectives
Patient stories
Serious incidents, GP concerns and
complaints
Safer staffing
Equality and inclusion
Infection prevention and control
Safeguarding
Agency usage
Organisational risk registers

Clinical quality issues, particularly relating to
best practice and national guidance, are
scrutinised and discussed at the quality forum.
Representatives from all relevant professional
groups attend this forum to ensure clinical
quality is reviewed. The forum also evaluates
impact assessments on the quality of care
when there are changes in services, either as a
result of the cost improvement programme or
because of service redesign. The forum
receives papers from a variety of internal
groups and quality focused committees
(including pathway specific ones), its role is to
scrutinise quality activity and report to the
Quality and Governance Committee.

REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS
As accounting officer, I have responsibility for
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control. My review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control
is informed by the work of the internal
auditors, clinical audit and the executive
managers and clinical leads within the Trust
who have responsibility for the development
and maintenance of the internal control
framework. I have drawn on the content of
the quality report attached to this annual
report and other performance information
available to me.
My review is also informed by comments
made by the external auditors in their
management letter and other reports. I have
been advised on the implications of the result
of my review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control by the board, the
Audit Committee, the Quality and
Governance Committee and the Performance
Committee, and a plan to address weaknesses
and ensure continuous improvement of the
system is in place. The organisational risk
register provides me with evidence that the
effectiveness of controls that manage the
risks to the organisation achieving its
principal objectives have been reviewed. My
review is also informed by:
x
x
x

x
x
x
x

x

Routine reporting on incidents to the
Board of Directors
PALS, GP concerns and complaints
reports
Delivering and monitoring safe
staffing reports to the Board of
Directors and the Quality and
Governance Committee
The Trust’s assurance structure and
reporting for statutory body
registration requirements
Internal audit assessment of the Trust’s
risk management structure processes
Patient-led assessment of the care
environment (PLACE) scores (which
have replaced PEAT inspections)
External Well Led Governance review
and the regular progress reports to the
board and committees throughout the
year
Board development days
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QUALITY REPORT
PART ONE
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INTRODUCTION
As a leading provider of
health and wellbeing
services, safety and quality
are at the foundation of
everything we do. In this
report, we explain our
approach to our services
and how we make a
difference through quality
care. We also share how
we measure our
performance and use our
analysis of these measures
to progress, continuously
improve and deliver a
positive experience for
service users, their carers
and families.
As part of this continuous
improvement, we built on
our learnings and successes
from 2015/16 and used this
knowledge to define our
priorities for this year. We
also used our quality
priorities to further our
involvement strategy and
develop our carer’s charter.
From this year’s
experiences and outcomes,
as well as the feedback we
received from patients,
service users, families and
carers, we set our future
priorities for 2017/18.
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STATEMENT OF QUALITY
From Angela Hillery, Chief Executive

Our commitment to quality
complements our focus on making a
positive difference for and with our
patients, service users, carers and
staff. In this report, we provide an
insight into how we are delivering
this, along with our achievements
and progress.
We have a good record of delivering
quality care and a high standard of patient
experience. However, we are never
complacent and continually look to adopt
best practice, drive innovation and, most
importantly, learn and improve when we
do not meet the high standards we have
set for ourselves.
Northamptonshire Healthcare NHS
Foundation Trust has continued to work to
improve the quality of its services, ensuring
they reflect service user need, and has
made good progress against our quality
priorities.
Our progress this year was recognised by
the Care Quality Commission (CQC) when it
inspected our Trust in January 2017. We
were awarded an overall rating of ‘Good’,
and ‘Outstanding’ for Caring, which reflects
our efforts to make this positive difference
through quality care. It also reflects the
collaborative, open and involved culture of
our Trust. We were rated ‘Requires
improvement’ for the Safety domain, and
we take this very seriously and strive with
our quality improvement to move this to
good and beyond. More details of our
domain ratings and feedback from the CQC
can be found inside this report.
Our Quality Report features our priorities
for the year ahead. Making a difference for
and with our community has meant we
have worked hard to find ways to involve
our patients, service users, carers and their
families.

As involvement is a key part of our quality
strategy, and we are committed to
continuing to build an open and
transparent organisation, this will continue
to feature in our future priorities.
Over the past few years, feedback from
those who used our patient and carer
feedback tool, called iWantGreatCare
(iWGC), has been encouraging. It has
helped us to shape and develop our plans,
services and care. This trend has continued
during 2016/17, so improving and evolving
how we use this valuable tool will again be
a priority for 2017/18. Our plans include
building on the insight we gain from this
feedback by identifying themes, and
sharing this information directly with staff
providing care.
Embracing diversity is also a key theme
running through many of our work
streams. Two examples of this are our
Leadership Matters organisational
development programme and our Moving
Ahead project, which supports the
reduction of inequalities in care for the
black minority and ethnic (BME) community
and other service users in protected groups.
It is vital that we appoint staff with values
and beliefs that are aligned with the needs
of our service users and carers.
In 2017/18, we plan to continue to increase
the involvement of service users and carers
in recruitment and training at the Trust. We
will continue working with our medical
staff to develop morbidity and mortality
meetings, and using this information to
further support quality improvement,
improving outcomes for service users and
carers.
As well as these commitments, we will
continue to prioritise training and
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STORIES FROM THIS YEAR
HOW INVOLVEMENT MAKES A DIFFERENCE

Service user involvement
Testimony from James Durban, support
worker at N-Step South

However, this simply was not the case, as I
soon learned.

"My experience within mental health
services has completely changed my career
prospects, and being part of the
involvement team has given me a unique
opportunity to shape my future.

I was not alone and my experience was not
without a silver lining. As my cognition
improved and time moved forward, I came
to realise that I was not in a prison without
parole. I recognised that I was somewhere I
came to view as sanctuary.

The prelude and aftermath of a psychotic
episode is both destructive and traumatic,
to both ourselves and the ones around us.
In the summer, I became unwell. I started
acting in ways that both surprised and
concerned friends and family. It started
with small things, like strange posts on
social media and exaggerated beliefs
surrounding my abilities. These actions and
beliefs would now have sent alarm bells
ringing and, with hindsight, indicate a
relapse. However, at the time no one had
any idea why I was acting the way I was.
Upon diagnosis of psychosis and the
admission to hospital, I was put on harsh
medication, which led to some of the worst
feelings I’d ever felt. I slipped between
deeply deluded zombification and a feeling
of lost, instinctual frustration. I felt
tranquilised and blunted. Kept on
observation and anti-psychotics that caused
violent and disabling side effects, I couldn’t
eat, sleep or tie my own shoes. With no
lucidity in sight, days and nights blurred
into an endless stretch of torment. Alone in
a room of people without faces.

Despite the negative connotations that
mental hospitals engender, it cannot be
denied that they provide safety to most.
The pathways into this sanctuary are not
perfect, as with the sanctuary itself.
However, huge efforts are being made to
improve services throughout mental
healthcare.
This is where we service users come in. Who
better to decide what will improve services
than those of us who have either
experienced it personally or watched a
loved one go through it. We can inform
those within the Trust of our views
regarding the care we received and how it
can be improved for future people in need.
This, however, can only be achieved if
people continue to come forward with
their experiences.
The involvement team has been
instrumental in giving lift to the active shift
in thinking surrounding service user care.
From groups focused on co-producing care
plans with service users, to sitting on
interview panels for key roles within the
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Trust. These are just some of the parts we
can play to improve the Trust.
Our numbers are rapidly growing, with
more opportunities becoming available
daily.
The most valuable thing I have gained by
working with the involvement team is
hope. This is priceless to someone fresh out
of hospital, feeling like they have no
prospects. I cannot recommend getting
involved highly enough. An opportunity to
meet people who have been through
similar experiences. Doing work that alters
perception and improves care. What could
be better?

Naturally, I was initially nervous about
joining the involvement team, but the
support from the involvement leads, who
really go above and beyond for anyone in
the service, is amazing.

Support also comes in the form of other
service users and carers who are friendly,
supportive and I haven’t met anyone who
wouldn’t go out of their way to make a
new face feel part of the team.
The opportunity to meet some of the
inspiring people working within the Trust
and seeing the good they do has
completely changed my outlook on my
career. I am extremely fortunate to be a
part of the team, to meet new friends and
increase my knowledge around the work
the Trust does. My experiences in mental
health services have been invaluable as I
look to the future. I have now gained
employment within the Trust. A feat that I
believe speaks volumes about the Trust
themselves, and the potential of any service
user or carer willing to get involved.”
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guidance. They are a link between
the Trust and Northamptonshire
Carers. A joint patient and carer
forum takes place every month. This
is when policies are reviewed,
services are developed and
monitored, and support is available.

CARER INVOLVEMENT

This year, our focus on involving and
supporting carers created new
opportunities and benefits for the quality
of our care. In November 2016, we
appointed a carer ambassador to further
our work to include and support family
carers, developed a carer strategy and
action plan, and revised and re-launched
our Carer’s Charter. We also kept our
partnership with Northamptonshire Carers
(NC) central to our activities. As we
developed carer awareness training in
partnership with NC both our operational
staff and family carers benefited from
understanding real life stories from the
carer’s perspective. The Trust is also an
active contributor to the Carer Strategic
Partnership and is a signatory to the County
Carer Strategy.
Some of the services that were
developed to support and involve carers
include:

x

The Older Adults Mental Health
Inpatient Service at Berrywood and
St. Mary’s Hospitals carers are now
offered a carer’s assessment through
Northamptonshire Carers. They are
recorded on the electronic patient
system called SystmOne, included in
the admission care plan, and
routinely involved in care and
discharge planning. Psychological
support is also provided for carers of
people with dementia, along with
regular carer support groups.

x

The Welland Centre in Kettering has
carer ambassadors established on
each ward who are responsible for
increasing staff carer awareness, and
act as a focal point for advice and

x

The School Nursing Service
developed an action plan for young
carers aimed at offering support to
any young carer. Reviews have taken
place for service themes for young
people and on the impact of the Do
Not Attend (DNA) policy on young
carers. There have also been reviews
into ways of introducing greater
flexibility of appointments and
highlighting a young carer on
SystmOne.

x

Berrywood Hospital’s Wheatfield
Ward (Forensic) psychologists run
evening groups for carers focusing
on understanding processes,
conditions and how to cope as a
carer. A project is underway to
extend this to the whole hospital.
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T HE IMPACT OF CARER
INVOLVEMENT
In order to obtain better feedback from
carers through iWantGreatCare, a specific
question about them was added in early
2017. Asking whether carers feel
supported, this year’s feedback has so far
revealed that 97% would recommend the
Trust (and less than 1% would not). Carers
awarded the Trust 4.97 out of 5 stars for
feeling supported.

How feedback from iWantGreatCare
makes a difference
Our Electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) Centre
uses iWantGreatCare (iWGC) to gather
continual feedback from patients and their
carers. This feedback is very helpful, in
particular because general perception of
the treatment can be negative.

During the year, the ECT Centre received
160 reviews. Of these, 97% stated they
would recommend the centre to friends
and family. The centre was also awarded a
4.94 out of 5 star rating for the overall
experience of their care and treatment.

Feedback that typifies how our ECT
service is received
“The wonderful treatment of ECT has been
so helpful to me. Depression is such a
dangerous, sad illness. It has brought me
near death so many times. ECT and all the
nurses that go with the treatment have
saved my life so many, many times. Myself
and my family will always be grateful to
the actual treatment and the doctors and
nurses, always.”

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
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PART TWO
PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT AND STATEMENTS OF
ASSURANCE FROM THE BOARD
PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT
We are passionate about embedding the
principles of patient safety, experience and
clinical effectiveness into our organisation.
Our commitment to these principles means
that this year’s priorities will help shape the
future care we provide and support the
organisation as we continue to make sure
that safe, quality care is at the heart of all
we do.
In line with our focus on partnership, coproduction and involvement, we have been
working with our stakeholders to embed
these principles. As a result, this year’s
priorities have been developed in
collaboration with our staff and patients.
Our staff groups include the quality team,
patient experience team, quality account
meeting members, the Nursing Advisory
Committee, colleagues from training and
our staff group networks. We consult with
service users and carers by inviting a sample
of those on our database to provide their
feedback.
1. Patient safety
x
x
x

To reduce the level of risk associated
with self-harm incidents
To embed the mortality and
morbidity process across the
organisation
To increase the levels of reporting
associated with falls, ensuring that
all relevant patients and service
users in inpatients and community

settings have a falls assessment
completed, and those identified at
risk have a falls care plan
implemented
2. Patient experience
x
x
x

To collaboratively develop a
recovery college model with the
organisation
To increase the number of service
users and carers involved in staff
recruitment
To use iWantGreatCare (iWGC) and
other sources of feedback to learn
from and respond to patients and
carers

3. Clinical effectiveness
x

x

x

To work collaboratively internally to
share our patient safety experiences
and outcomes in order to improve
learning from incidents, complaints
and compliments and reduce harm
To develop the skills and
competence of all newly qualified
Band 5 nursing staff and allied
health professionals (AHPs)
To increase the reporting associated
with completing physical
examinations within the mental
health services
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x Audits and
thematic
reviews of selfharm incidents
will be

x Self-harm
incidents that
meet the
criteria for a
serious incident
are investigated
and included in
safety planning.

x Self-harm
incidents will
continue to be

x Serious incident
investigations
relating to selfharm incidents
will be
identified and
reviewed
collectively to
identify any
trends or
commonality.

x Improvements in
the level of risk
reported in
incidents around
self-harm will be
measured via
Datix reporting.
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x 2017/18 Quality
Account.

x Quarterly reports
to the Quality and
Governance
Committee.

x Training records.

x The number of
staff who have
undergone
training.

x All staff will
have access to
training for
patient selfharm.

There has been a rise
in the number of
Datix incidents
associated with a
higher level of risk in
self-harm incidents.
This priority will
enable us to
understand themes
and complexities
around these
incidents, to learn
lessons and improve
service user outcomes.

To reduce the
level of risk
associated with
self-harm
incidents.

Safe

x Six-monthly
thematic reports
(if relevant) with
actions to address
issues.

REPORTING

HOW WE WILL
MEASURE IT

HOW WE WILL
MONITOR IT

HOW WE WILL
ACHIEVE IT

REASON

PRIORITY

CQC
DOMAINS

P ATIENT SAFETY

Progress against each of our quality priorities will be reported on a quarterly basis to the Quality and Governance Committee.

OUR QUALITY PRIORITIES FOR 2017/18

REASON

Nationally, the use of
morbidity and
mortality meetings
varies. They vary in
terms of the way
deaths are reviewed
and the integration of
these meetings into
the overall
governance
framework of an
organisation.
Evidence suggests the
introduction of a
standard process to
morbidity and
mortality meetings
will improve
accountability of
mortality data and

PRIORITY

To embed the
mortality and
morbidity
process across
the
organisation.

CQC
DOMAINS

Safe

x Mapping how
we review
deaths in
physical health
community
services. This is
because the
medical care of
these patients is
with the GP,
and some die in
the acute
hospitals.

x Working with
the patient
safety manager
to ensure
meaningful
data is
available.

conducted.

HOW WE WILL
ACHIEVE IT

x Reviews will be
considered
collectively to
identify any
trends or
commonality.

x Morbidity and
mortality
meetings will
take place in all
clinical
directorates
quarterly and
the
organisation’s
morbidity and
mortality
steering group
will oversee
these.

reported on the
Trust’s Datix
system and will
be reviewed in
line with our
policy.

HOW WE WILL
MONITOR IT

x Evidence of
sharing and
implementation
of learning.

x Minutes of
regular quarterly
morbidity and
mortality review
meetings across
all clinical
directorates.

HOW WE WILL
MEASURE IT

Quarterly
report to
Quality and
Governance
Committee.

2017/18
Quality
Account.

x

x
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Bimonthly
mortality and
morbidity
steering
group.

x

R EPORTING

To increase the
levels of
reporting
associated with
falls, ensuring
that all relevant
patients and
service users in
inpatients and
community
settings have a
falls risk
assessment
completed, and
that those
identified at risk

Safe

Effective

Caring

PRIORITY

CQC
DOMAINS

Falls are a major
concern for patient
safety and a marker
of care quality.
Nationally, a
significant number of
falls result in death or
severe or moderate
injury, at an
estimated cost of £15
million per annum for
immediate healthcare
treatment alone.
Locally in the Trust
there was a slight
increase in the

support quality
improvement and, in
turn, users and carer
experience.

REASON

HOW WE WILL
MONITOR IT

x Develop the
role of falls
champions in
the inpatient
units.

x Quarterly
thematic reports
(if relevant) with
actions to address
issues, quarterly.
x Number of falls
champions in

x Falls champions
in place

x Training records
x Increase in the
number of falls
risk assessments
completed and
falls care plans
where required.

HOW WE WILL
MEASURE IT

x Quarterly
reporting on
number of falls
and completion
of risk falls
assessment and,
if necessary,
falls care plans.

x Training around x The number of
prevention of
staff who have
falls will be
undergone
available for
training.
staff.

x Working
collaboratively
with the
commissioners
and primary
care to ensure
reviews are
thorough and
meaningful.

HOW WE WILL
ACHIEVE IT

2017/18
Quality
Account.

x
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Quarterly
reporting to
Quality and
Governance
Group.

Locally within
directorate
meetings.
x

x

R EPORTING

CQC
DOMAINS

x

x

Low harm
from 115
(2015/6) to
132 (2016/17)
Moderate
harm from 18
(2015/16) to
20 (2016/17)
Severe harm
from 2
(2015/16) to 3
(2016/17)

number of falls
reported on Datix
from 294 (2015/16) to
382 for the same
period in 2016/17.
This included an
increase in falls
classified as:

have a falls care
plan
implemented.

x

REASON

PRIORITY

HOW WE WILL
ACHIEVE IT
throughout the
inpatient units.

HOW WE WILL
MONITOR IT
place.

HOW WE WILL
MEASURE IT
R EPORTING
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To collaboratively
develop a
recovery college
model within the
organisation.

Safe

Responsive

Caring

PRIORITY

CQC DOMAINS

P ATIENT EXPERIENCE

Identification of
resource required.
Full prospectus
and development
of courses.
Recruitment of
service users to
participate in
courses.
Development of
positive outcome
measures to
ensure course is
achieving
objectives.
Recruitment of
trainers and peer

x

x

x

x

x

x Attendance for

x Trainers
recruited.

x Outcome
measures in
place.

x Course
prospectus
developed.

x Minutes of
planning
groups.

x

As the
recovery
college

x Outcome
measures
showing
review of
courses and
changes made
where
necessary.

x Percentage of
patients
attending
sessions.

x Number of
sessions
offered.

x

x

x

x Number of
trainers
recruited.

x Evidence of
engagement of
staff and
patients in
developing the
Recovery
College.

Development of the
Recovery College
including:

Embedding a
recovery-based
approach will
play a central
role in achieving
positive patient
reported
outcomes and
improving
patient
experience. This
could lead to
improved clinical
outcomes,
reduced lengths
of stay and
fewer
readmissions.
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2017/18 Quality
Account.

Quality and
Governance
Committee.

CQUIN
Implementation
meeting.

REPORTING

HOW WE WILL
MEASURE IT

HOW WE WILL
MONITOR IT

HOW WE WILL
ACHIEVE IT

REASON

PRIORITY

Increase the
numbers of
service users and
carers involved in
staff recruitment.

CQC DOMAINS

Well Led

We recognise
that service users
and carers
should play a key
role in the
recruitment of
clinical staff. It is
paramount that
staff are
appointed who
have values and
beliefs aligned to
the needs of our
service users and
carers. Including
more service
users and carers
who would like
to be part of the
ongoing
development of
the Trust clearly

REASON

Develop and
maintain
database of
service users and
carers and their
skills.
Active
recruitment of
more service users
and carers who
are willing to be
involved.
Educating staff
about the
usefulness of
including service
users in
recruitment

x

x

x

trainers.

HOW WE WILL
ACHIEVE IT
model
develops
throughout
the year we
will be able
to set targets
for
subsequent
years.

HOW WE WILL
MEASURE IT

x A database
x 20% increase
listing service
in number of
users and carers
service users
willing to be
and carers
involved in
willing to be
staff
involved in
recruitment.
staff
recruitment (to
be reported
x The patient
six-monthly).
involvement
team will
monitor how
x Increase by
many service
50% number
users and
of service users
carers are
and carers who
requested to
have been a
support with
member of a
interview
recruitment
activity.
panel
compared to

courses.

HOW WE WILL
MONITOR IT
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2017/18 Quality
Account.

Quality and
Governance
Committee.

x

x

Patient
Experience
Group.

x

REPORTING

PRIORITY

Using
IWantGreatCare
(iWGC), and
other sources of
feedback to learn
from and
respond to
patients and
carers.

CQC DOMAINS

Responsive
Effective

This was a
priority for
2016/17 and
continues to be
vital to our drive
to listen and use
experience to
shape care
delivery and
service design.

shows our
commitment to
service user
engagement.

REASON

Ensuring staff at
the Trust are
offered and
include service
users when
recruiting new
staff.

Patient service
user and carer
feedback will be
gathered using
the Trust’s
recognised
systems.
Outcomes will be
triangulated and
services will be
required to

x

x

x

process.

HOW WE WILL
ACHIEVE IT

x

The iWGC
and patient
experience
teams will
monitor the
embedded
feedback
process and
any required
actions.

HOW WE WILL
MONITOR IT

Quarterly
reports
outlining
number of
feedback
reports
required and
received via
iWGC.

Six-monthly
evaluation of
post
interview
feedback and
evidence of
tailoring of
processes
where found
to be
necessary.

x 10% increase
in the number
of responses

x

2016/17 (to be
reported
quarterly
monitoring of
numbers).

HOW WE WILL
MEASURE IT

x
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2017/18 Quality

x Quality and
Governance
Committee.

x Quality Forum.

x Locally within
directorate
meetings.

REPORTING

CQC DOMAINS

PRIORITY

REASON

respond to their
feedback.

HOW WE WILL
ACHIEVE IT

HOW WE WILL
MONITOR IT

x Evidence in
board and
committee
reports that
the Trust is
triangulating
iWGC feedback
with other
source of
information,
for example
complaints,
serious
incidents, and
safe staffing.

required and
number of
actions taken
as a result.

HOW WE WILL
MEASURE IT
Account.

REPORTING
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x Potentially
undertaking a
survey to
understand how
staff would like to
see lessons being
learned across the
organisation.

x National and local
circulation of risks,
safety concerns and
best practices will
continue to be
shared with staff
groups via numerous
mechanisms.

x The number of
investigations that
have a joint focus
will provide
evidence of the
need to share
information and
jointly plan for
patient safety across
the health system.

x Quality and
Governance
Committee.

x A six-monthly
report outlining an
evaluation of the
ways that staff
members learn and
share information.
For example,
webinars, patient
and carer stories,
medicine bulletins,
conferences,
governance
meetings, and
patient experience
groups.

x We will monitor our
lessons learnt
activity and
platforms, and
identify outcomes
from these that have
contributed to our
internal safety
agenda.

x Continuing to
consider additional
innovative ways of
sharing information
arising from serious
incidents,
complaints and
concerns in order to
improve the sharing
further. For
example, the
utilisation of social
media to support
lessons.

This was a
quality priority
for 2016/17.
Further work
is required to
ensure that
learning is
embedded
effectively
within the
organisation.

To work
collaboratively
internally to
share our
patient safety
experiences and
outcomes in
order to
improve
learning from
incidents,
complaints and
compliments,
and reduce
harm.

Safe
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x 2017/18 Quality
Account.

REPORTING

HOW WE WILL
MEASURE IT

HOW WE WILL
MONITOR IT

HOW WE WILL
ACHIEVE IT

REASON

PRIORITY

CQC
DOMAINS

CLINICAL EFFECTIVENESS

x Implementation of
the sessions on
preceptorship,
development and
expansion of
practice
development
nurses’ roles.

x Development of an
evaluation tool,
which will evaluate
the deeper learning.
x Attendance data
x Evaluations
x Successful
completion
x Identified clinical
competences
x Online supervision
package
x Mentorship
qualification (at the
end of the
programme)

This will be carried out
via the preceptorship
programme and a
report will be produced
twice a year that will
include:

x Development of
preceptorship
programme.

To ensure that
newly
qualified staff
are supported
and engaged
quickly to
develop their
skills base and
quality care.

Develop the
skills and
competence of
all newly
qualified band 5
nursing staff
and allied
health
professionals.

Well Led

Safe

HOW WE WILL
MONITOR IT

HOW WE WILL
ACHIEVE IT

REASON

PRIORITY

CQC
DOMAINS

x All newly quality
nurses are
identified, and have
taken part in and
successfully
completed the
programme.

x A six-monthly
report outlining
progress and uptake
of preceptorship
programme.

HOW WE WILL
MEASURE IT

112

x 2017/18 Quality
Account.

Quality and
Governance
Committee.

x TNAC. (Trust
Nursing and
Advisory
Committee)

REPORTING

x Electronic access to
the Integrated
Clinical Environment
(ICE) system.

x Outlining number of
staff who have had
physical health
training.
x Progress with access
to ICE system.
x Results of audit
around physical
examinations with
action plan.

Quarterly reporting for
the following:

x Continuing physical
health training for
staff and medics.

Improved
physical health
care for
people with
severe mental
illness.

To increase the
reporting
associated with
completed
physical
examinations
within the
mental health
services.

Safe

Effective

HOW WE WILL
MONITOR IT

HOW WE WILL
ACHIEVE IT

REASON

PRIORITY

CQC
DOMAINS

x 2018/19 – 75% have
physical health
measurements
recorded.

x 2017/18 – 65% of
patients have
physical health
measurements
recorded.

Community Mental
Health services:

x 90% of patients
have physical
healthcare
measurements
recorded.

Inpatients and EIP:

HOW WE WILL
MEASURE IT

2017/18 Quality
Account.

x
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Quality and
Governance
Committee.

CQUIN
implementation
Meeting.
x

x

REPORTING

STATEMENTS OF ASSURANCE FROM THE BOARD
Our statements of assurance contain information about the Trust and address the
requirements of the Quality Account regulators.

A REVIEW OF OUR SERVICES
During 2016/17, the Trust provided and/or sub-contracted 139 relevant health services (these
are services we deliver within the Trust). 112 of these services were fully contracted service
lines and 27 were sub-contracted services under service level agreement.
We have reviewed all the data available to us on the quality of care in 139 of these relevant
health services.
The income generated by the relevant health services reviewed in 2016/17 represents 94.7% of
the total income generated from the provision of relevant health services by the Trust for the
year.
In 2016/17, three national clinical audits and one national confidential enquiry covered the
relevant health services that we provide.
During that period, the Trust participated in 100% of national clinical audits and 100% of
national confidential enquiries of the national clinical audits and national confidential
enquiries that it was eligible to participate in.

…………………………………………………………………………………………………………..
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NATIONAL CLINICAL AUDITS
T he national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that we were eligible to
participate in during 2016/17 were as follows:
x
x
x

Cardio metabolic assessment and treatment for patients with psychosis (CQUIN)
Prescribing observatory in mental health
Early intervention in psychosis and national confidential enquiry into suicides and
homicides

The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries we participated in (and for
which data collection was completed during 2016/17) are listed below, alongside the number
of cases submitted to each audit or enquiry. These are noted as a percentage of the number of
registered cases required by the terms of that audit or enquiry.
TITLE
Cardio metabolic assessment and treatment for patients
with psychosis (CQUIN)

%
100% of eligible sample

Prescribing observatory in mental health
100% of eligible sample
Topic 11. prescribing antipsychotic medication for people
with dementia
100% of eligible sample
Topic 7e monitoring of patients prescribed lithium
Early intervention in psychosis

100% of eligible sample

National confidential enquiry into suicides and homicides

This was a data capture
exercise only

The provider reviewed the reports from these three national clinical audits and one national
confidential enquiry in 2016/17. We intend to take the following actions to improve the
healthcare provided:
Cardio metabolic assessment and treatment for patients with psychosis (CQUIN)
x

Data from this audit was collected in January and submitted online in March. We will
develop an action plan as required when we receive the report.
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P rescribing observatory in mental health
Topic 11. prescribing antipsychotic medication for people with dementia
x

We received the provider’s report and are currently developing an action plan.

Topic 7e monitoring of patients prescribed lithium
x

We received the provider’s report and are currently developing an action plan.

Early intervention in psychosis
x
x
x

Staff are attending relevant cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) for psychosis courses
to ensure the service can offer CBT to service users.
The team psychologist has attended the train the trainer course for family intervention
therapy, and is currently cascading family therapy training to all the team.
Every patient has access to activities that can improve their physical health, including
sports or hobby-based groups, for example, the gardening project, Green Patch.

National confidential enquiry into suicides and homicides
x
x
x

We developed and formed a suicide prevention group that met approximately five
times this year and formulated priorities for the next two years.
The suicide prevention group took account of latest national confidential enquiry data,
as well as national suicide prevention strategy local data.
The group used this to develop a proposed work plan that will include partnerships
with CCGs and public health to develop an over-arching countywide strategy (in line
with national recommendations).

…………………………………………………………………………………………………..

LOCAL CLINICAL AUDITS
YEAR AUDIT COMMENCED/A
APPROVED

REPORTS REVIEWED BY THE CAEC IN
2016/17

2015/16

28

2016/17

32
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We reviewed the reports of 32 local clinical
audits in 2016/17, and have either
completed or are in the process of taking
the following actions to improve the
quality of healthcare provided:

We held an education session on the
importance of reviewing bowel charts and
prescribing appropriate interventions
discussed. Bowel charts are now being
reviewed during every consultant ward
round.

1 . Audit of Q risk 2 in psychiatric patients
5. Driving and dementia audit
We have developed and implemented a
physical health training package for clinical
and medical staff. Discussions have ensured
standardisation for where investigations
are stored on the electronic record.
2. Auditing accuracy of Pro Re Nata (PRN)
strong opiate prescription on To Take
Away medication (TTA) from Cransley
Hospice and Cynthia Spencer Hospice
We developed a poster for doctors’ desks
reminding ward doctors to include strong
opioid PRN usage frequency on the
discharge letter and TTA. Checking TTA was
included on middle grade doctors’ core
duty lists, emphasising that this is part of
clinical governance and risk management
for comment on their e-portfolio.
3. Audit of medicine reconciliation record
forms at St Mary’s and Berrywood adult
mental health inpatient wards and the
Community Hospital inpatient wards

To promote completion of driving status,
the section on the memory assessment
template where this is documented has
been highlighted.
6. Monitoring of extrapyramidal side
effects in patients on antipsychotic
medications in a low secure unit
Patients are being given extra support and
help to complete the Glasgow
Antipsychotic Side Effect Scale (GASS),
especially when antipsychotic dose is
increased or if they are on high dose of
medications.
7. Evaluating client and staff experience
of an open support group facilitated by
the psychology team
The following recommendations have
been implemented:
x

The MMP013 Medicines Reconciliation
Policy was reviewed to reflect best practice.
The Medication Reconciliation Record
Forms (MRRF) template on SystmOne was
reviewed to simplify recording of
medication, resources used and changes to
medication.

x

x
4 . Audit comparing assessment and
management of constipation in the
Hospice, comparing practice to the
National Institute for Health and Care
Excellence (NICE) guidance

x

The support group is being
facilitated in a quiet side room away
from the main ward area to
minimise the impact of echoing and
noise.
It is made clear to attendees in the
group what information will be
acted on or taken forward if it was
raised in the group.
The support group does not coincide
with cigarette breaks on the wards.
Members of staff are being offered
support and guidance with how to
manage negative feedback
expressed within the group.
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8 . An evaluation of the effectiveness of
the Cognitive Stimulation Therapy (CST)
groups
A pathway is being developed to promote
access and equity in service provision for all
service users with a diagnosis of dementia
that would benefit from Cognitive
Stimulation Therapy (CST).
9. Do referrals for rTMS meet criteria for
treatment resistant depression?
A new form outlining the criteria for
treatment has been developed and
implemented. Changes have been made to
the rTMS policy ensuring that in order for
the referral to be accepted, all boxes must
be completed and noting ‘see SystmOne’
on the referral is unacceptable.

10. National early warning scores (NEWS)
audit
The NEWS observation chart has been
reviewed in community hospitals. We
devised new response triggers that are
more appropriate to a community hospital
setting. This was created in collaboration
with our Trust resuscitation lead and
medical colleagues.
A green care plan is now on SystmOne. This
means staff are able to document action
taken for scores 1 to 4. This was
subsequently incorporated into training
sessions and promoted to staff at ward
meetings. To increase compliance, we also
re-introduced set times for completion of
observations to teams as part of
observation rounds.

ACCREDITATION SCHEMES
The following services have participated in accreditation schemes during 2016/17. Participation
in these schemes demonstrates that staff members are actively engaged in quality
improvement and take pride in the quality of care they deliver.
SCHEME

SERVICE

ACCREDITATION STATUS

Quality Network for Older
Adults Mental Health Services
(QNAOMHS)

Forest Centre

Accredited

Brookview Unit

Accredited as excellent

Riverside

Accredited as excellent

Electro Convulsive Therapy
Accreditation Service (ECTAS)

Berrywood

Accredited as excellent

Quality Network for Inpatient
Child and Adolescent
Community Mental Health
Services (QNIC)

The Sett

Accredited
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RESEARCH AND INNOVATION ADVICE AND SUPPORT
The Trust’s innovation and research
strategy has grown and developed this
year, and its impact is now linked directly
to clinical effectiveness. The Trust’s strategy
includes five key strategic goals.
1.. Develop a research culture of
Innovation Research and Clinical
Effectiveness (IRCE)
Our Innovation Research and Clinical
Effectiveness (IRCE) strategy is led by Dr
Alex O’Neill-Kerr, Medical Director, and is
supported by our executives. A specialist
clinical IRCE team works Trust-wide to
support each directorate with the
development of their understanding of
priorities, and to develop their own IRCE
strategies.
A monthly ideas forum supports this
strategy – and any member of staff is able
to submit an idea for discussion.
The forum is chaired by Dr Alex O’Neill-Kerr
and includes senior IRCE staff and library
services. The forum also supports staff with
advice on literature reviews, project
planning, governance, evaluation design
and resources.
2.. Improve capability and capacity
IRCE is presented at a number of Trust
forums, including consultant away days,
nursing and allied health professional
conferences, and undergraduate training.
Dr Koranteng, a nationally recognised
research investigator, has mentored
clinicians with the set up and delivery of
commercial clinical trials in two other areas:
mental health and elderly care. In addition,
physiotherapist Russell Brown has a fulltime National Institute Health Research
funded place for a Master’s in Clinical
Research at Warwick University.
Other applicants are supported to submit
expressions of interest.

3. Clinical effectiveness
This strategic goal is about the clinical
research delivery of the National Institute
Health Research (NIHR) portfolio. 337
patients receiving health services provided
or sub-contracted by the Trust in 2016/17
were recruited to participate in research
approved by a research ethics committee.
This is an increase of 77% from 2015/16.
These participants have been recruited
from 17 separate studies, which include
clinical trials not only in dementia, where
the Trust continues to perform well, but
also in mental and physical health. A full
list of all NIHR clinical trials is available on
the Trust’s website.
The Trust is a partner of the NIHR
Collaboration for Leadership in Applied
Health Research and Care (CLAHRC) East
Midlands. This year, the Trust has
collaborated with partners to deliver four
CLAHRC research projects in a variety of
roles.
The Trust took a lead in the physical health
study A randomised controlled trial to
investigate the effect of structured
education on people at high risk of
cardiovascular disease (3R Study). It also led
a new mental health study implementing
NICE guidelines on bipolar disorder into
routine health care: integrated managed
innovation network approach versus other
implementation approaches.
It is supporting community engagement of
our diverse population in Implementation
of A Safer Ramadan and working
collaboratively to support other trusts to
answer important research questions with
Innovative hypoglycaemia pathway for selfcare at home and admission avoidance: a
partnership approach with a regional
ambulance trust (The Ambulance-Hypo
Study).
IRCE works with other partners across the
East Midlands to ensure the adoption of
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evidence-based protocols and the
development of clinical effective services.
This includes an adoption project from the
Academic Health Science Network (AHSN)
The Barcelona Protocol Psychoeducation
Manual for Bipolar Disorder adapted for
use in the NHS in England (PARADES).

Partner in Project training to eight lay
members to equip them to work with the
NHS and academics for the co-creation of
research and innovation projects in this
area.

The Trust is a partner with Medilink and
the Open University for the Advanced
Clinical Technical Innovation Support
(ACTIS) project, which covers the southeast
midlands local enterprise area supporting
life science industries to develop technical
solutions useful to health care.
We continue to develop our own account
research, innovation and evaluation
portfolio and share the results of this
through publication and presentation. This
area is targeted for growth in 2017/18.
4 . Develop collaborative partnerships
The Trust has formal partnerships with all
NIHR organisations in the East Midlands
that support research and innovation
including the Clinical Research Network,
Collaboration for Leadership in Applied
Health Research and Care, Research Design
Service, Medilink and the Academic Health
Science Network. It is also developing a
portfolio of memorandum of
understanding with academic partners,
including the University of Northampton,
Open University, and local organisations
such as Healthwatch and St Andrew’s, as
well as two commercial companies.
5. Ensure the engagement of patients
and the public
This remains a high priority for all research,
innovation and evaluation projects, as all
our bids require a high level of lay and
patient engagement prior to submission.
This year, we were awarded funding by the
Academic Health Science Network (AHSN)
to support a Patient and Public Involvement
Group for the ‘moving ahead’ project,
which aims to improve the outcome of
people from the black minority and ethnic
(BME) community using mental health
services. The Trust worked with the
University of Northampton to deliver
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MOVING AHEAD
Innovation in practice and improving
access for BME communities
Moving Ahead is an innovative and exciting
project designed to improve access and
services for black and minority ethnic (BME)
communities throughout
Northamptonshire. Irrespective of ethnic
background, everyone who uses a mental
health service (or cares for someone who
does) should have equitable access to
effective interventions, and equitable
experiences and outcomes. As a mental
health service provider, we should be
culturally capable and able to address the
diverse needs of a multi-cultural population
through effective and appropriate forms of
assessment and interventions.
Nevertheless, throughout the UK, evidence
shows that BME communities have
significantly poorer mental health
outcomes and poorer experience of
services. For some individuals, limited
knowledge of available support and the
ways to access it allows mental health
problems to become more entrenched and
difficult to cope with.
During the first phase of the project, the
Trust adopted a transformative practice
and service model that was developed by
the National NHS BME Network called
‘reverse commissioning’. We found this to
be an effective tool to address health
inequalities and to improve access, services
and patient experiences for our BME service
users. We took positive action to work coproductively with members of our local
BME communities, service users and carers,
to develop an action plan to address any
disparities.
We have now entered into the second
phase of the project. While the original
reverse commissioning project has been
vital in getting us to this point, as we move
forward and accelerate our activities on
improving services and delivering equality,
we have a new focus and name for the

project – Moving Ahead – Delivering
Equality in Mental Health Services for BME
Communities. This new phase shows our
progress and commitment to moving
forward and our commitment to equality.

COMMISSIONING FOR
QUALITY AND INNOVATION
INCOME
A proportion of the Trust’s income in
2016/17 was conditional, based on
achieving quality improvement and
innovation goals. These goals were agreed
between the Trust and person or body who
entered into a contract, agreement or
arrangement with for the provision of
relevant health services, through the
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
payment framework.
Further details of the agreed goals and for
the following 12-month period are
available electronically at www.nhft.nhs.uk.
The total monetary income in 2016/17 that
was conditional on achieving quality
improvement and innovation goals was
£3,016,937. Of this, £2,847,910 was from
Nene and Corby CCGs. Achievement against
the cumulative CQUIN target as at the end
of quarter 3 was 88.4%. Quarter 4
achievement is still to be confirmed by CCG
and NHS England.
The total monetary income in 2015/16 that
was conditional on achieving quality
improvement and innovation goals was
£3,255,645, of which £2,816,074 was from
Nene and Corby CCGs. The Trust achieved
88.9% payment for the agreed goals.
In 2016/17, the organisation responded
positively to both the allocated and
negotiated CQUIN goals and worked hard
to implement new innovations and
practices within the designated clinical
areas. A number of patient centred
successes were noted as part of the CQUIN
evaluation process – these outcomes would
have a positive and lasting effect for the
service users and their carers.
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A recovery college is being developed as
part of our forensic inpatient setting.
This builds on the objectives in the Health
and Social Care Act, to allow service users
to be partners in their care, to have clear
involvement in planning at both individual
and service level and to have genuine
treatment choices made available to them.
Embedding a recovery-based approach at
the Trust will play a central role in
achieving positive patient reported
outcomes and improving patient
experience. We expect this to lead to
improved clinical outcomes, reduced
lengths of stay and fewer readmissions.
Another CQUIN focuses on end of life care.
Its aim was to ensure that people are asked
what their preferred place of death is and
that those preferences are met. This CQUIN
objective has encouraged us to better
understand, assess and resolve issues that
prevented people dying in their preferred
place. The CQUIN goals also highlighted
areas where further development was
needed.

CARE QUALITY
COMMISSION
The Trust is required to register with the
Care Quality Commission (CQC). We
confirm we have no conditions of
registration and that our registration status
is fully compliant.
The CQC has not taken any enforcement
action against the Trust during 2016/17. We
have not participated in any special reviews
or been investigated by the CQC during the
reporting period.

SERIOUS INCIDENTS
A total of 38 incidents were reported as
serious incidents in 2016/17, and one of
these was subsequently downgraded. The
incident was downgraded with the
agreement of the commissioners, as it did
not meet the serious incident criteria. Of

these incidents, 29 were reported in Adult
Mental Health and Learning Disabilities
Specialty Services. Adult and Children
Services accounted for the remaining nine
incidents (one of which was downgraded,
as previously mentioned). Two of these
incidents were categorised as ‘never
events’.
We have continued to review and improve
the serious incident management process
to improve learning. In addition, the
serious incident internal assurance meeting
(IAM) has also been strengthened. At this
meeting, the level of required investigation
is identified against the national
framework.
Adult Mental Health, Learning Disabilities
and Specialty Services now review all of the
incidents that have been identified as
required to go through the IAM process
during their directorate team meetings.
Attendees at this meeting include
experienced clinical leaders and subject
matter experts who lead the discussion on
the recommended level of investigation
that is required to be relayed to the IAM
group. These recommendations are then
reviewed as part of the normal IAM
process, making them subject to a more
thorough review. During 2016/17, the
adults and children’s IAMs process was a
managed by the internal assurance meeting
for serious incidents.
As standard and where appropriate,
patients, service users and carers are always
offered the chance to participate in the
investigation of incidents that they are
involved in. This generally involves
providing an account of the individual
concerned. Their involvement contributes
to the terms of reference for the
investigation and engagement in a debrief
with the investigator following the report’s
sign off.
This approach is also applied to clinical
reviews (which are investigations that do
not meet the criteria for a serious incident
investigation, but meet the criteria for
internal review).
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The Patient Safety Team also manages the
Trust’s compliance with the Duty of
Candour process in relation to serious
incidents and clinical reviews. It also
monitors compliance for all other incidents
that meet the threshold for Duty of
Candour. The Datix incident reporting
system was amended to allow staff to
record that the incident has been discussed
with the patient or their family, as well as
record when it was undertaken and by
whom.
Discussing patient safety incidents for
incidents that do not meet serious incident
or clinical review criteria in this way
develops and supports a culture of
openness and transparency.
We also now have a dedicated serious
incident investigator for each directorate,
which allows us to continue to develop the
investigation process, extraction of
learnings and quality of investigation
reports. Root cause analysis training
continues to be available to appropriate
staff through the Trust’s Learning and
Development Service. Two substantive
investigators are also being involved in our
Human Factors Analysis and Classification
System (HFACS). This is a joint project with
the East Midlands Patient Safety
Collaborative that is designed to enhance
the lessons extracted from investigations
from within mental health and community
settings. A service user governor with
experience of HFACS is also involved in this
process.

purpose is to review learning received from
the clinical areas, monthly incident data,
key themes and recent action plans,
including iWantGreatCare (iWGC)
feedback. The group meets on a monthly
basis.
The patient safety team collate and share
themes and learning directly with
operational directorates quarterly to be
disseminated in team meetings. This is one
of the ways we share learning across the
Trust.
The group’s ‘learning lessons’ webinars
were also delivered during 2016/17, giving
clinicians an opportunity to learn from their
peers at a time and location that is
convenient to them. Incident reporting
systems were updated during the year,
which helped to reduce the duplication of
reports. A number of systems and processes
have changed following serious incident
investigations. Some examples include:
x

LESSONS LEARNED
The way in which we share lessons from
serious incidents, complaints and concerns
has continuously been reviewed and
improved. The Trust uses many different
ways to share learning. These are just a few
examples: lessons learned bulletins,
webinars, and sharing at team meetings.
In September 2016, a new group called
‘The Learning Lessons Exchange’ was
introduced. With a range of professionals
from clinical and corporate services, its

x

Following a serious incident related
to District Nursing Services, a
continence passport has been
developed for patients with
identified continence needs. This
was consulted with our healthcare
partners and subsequently
trialled. The continence passport
provides healthcare services with a
clear understanding of how the
service user’s continence is
managed. This prevents the service
user from having to explain their
history numerous times. This has
been positively received and it is
anticipated that we will roll it out to
all services and the acute Trusts.
After a serious incident concerning a
patient fall, a new falls training
package has been devised and
piloted. It was launched in March
2017 and will be available to all
clinical staff via the e-learning
platform. It will have clear pre and
post fall messages within it.
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x

x

x

Skills based Training On Risk
Management (STORM) training is
now being delivered in the prison
settings as a tool to support staff in
undertaking comprehensive suicide
and self-harm assessments.
A key learning from the children’s
and adult pathway was highlighted
following an information
governance breach. Staff were
reminded of the Trust’s policy and
practice. Staff who needed
information governance training
received it, and a general
communication about patient record
safety was discussed with clinical
teams.
Following an incident in Dentistry
Services, the teams have introduced
a new standardised records template
and a process that ensures they
meet the National Safety Standards
for Invasive Procedures (NATSSIP)

recommendations. The system has
already been started and audited to
ensure their practice is compliant.

Lessons learned and changes to practice
assurance are shared with Trust board
members and the public via the serious
incident and complaints reports to the
Public Trust Board meetings.
During the year, PricewaterhouseCoopers,
our internal auditors, audited the Trust on
lessons learned and awarded us a low risk
rating. In their inspection report, the CQC
said we had thoroughly investigated
serious incidents and outcomes, and that
we shared learnings in a variety of
governance meetings and ways. Our
communications strategy to share lessons
learnt was described as robust.
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REPORTING AGAINST CORE INDICATORS
Our quality priorities for the coming year are outlined in this part of our account.

This table shows how we have performed against key quality indicators set by NHS
Improvement. The Health and Social Care Information Centre offers data from outside
the Trust for the following indicators.

INDICATOR

TRUST
SCORE
2014/15

TRUST
SCORE
2015/16

2016/17
YEAR TO
DATE

NATIONAL
AVERAGE
SCORE

FT
HIGHEST
SCORE
2016/17

FT LOWEST
SCORE
2016/17

NON FT
HIGHEST
SCORE
2016/17

NON FT
LOWEST
2016/17

The data made available to the Trust with regard to the percentage of patients on
Care Programme Approach (CPA) who were followed up within seven days after
discharge from psychiatric inpatient care during the reporting period.
Percentage
o f patients
on Care
P rogramme
Approach
(CPA)
followed
up within
seven days
of
discharge
from an
inpatient
facility.

97.2%

97.0%

97.7%
%

96.6%

98.8%

59.4%

99.5%

93.2%

The data made available to the Trust with regard to the percentage of admissions to
a cute wards for which the Crisis Resolution Home Treatment Team (CRHTT) acted as a
gatekeeper during the reporting period.
Percentage
of
admission
to acute
wards for
which the
Crisis
Resolution
Home

97.8

98.9%

96.4%

98.13%

100%

93.18%

100%

91.9%

%
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INDICATOR

TRUST
SCORE
2014/15

TRUST
SCORE
2015/16

2016/17
YEAR TO
DATE

NATIONAL
AVERAGE
SCORE

FT
HIGHEST
SCORE
2016/17

FT LOWEST
SCORE
2016/17

NON FT
HIGHEST
SCORE
2016/17

NON FT
LOWEST
2016/17

Treatment
T eam acted
as a
g atekeeper
during the
reporting
period.
The data made available to the Trust by the Health and Social Care Information
Centre with regard to the percentage of patients aged:
(i)
0 to 15 and
(ii)
16 or over
readmitted to a hospital that forms part of the Trust, within 28 days of being
d ischarged from a hospital that forms part of the Trust, during the reporting period.
Notes: Benchmark data has not been updated since Dec 2013
(i) 0 to 15

2.13

4%

2.94%

10.00%

13.6%

%

0%

14.94

0%

(5.74%)

%

(3.75%
)

(ii) 16 or
o ver

7.15

7.69%

7.09%

11.45%

%

17.15

0%

17.72

0%

%

(4.88%)

%

(3.35%
)

The data made available to the Trust by the Health and Social Care Information
C entre with regard to the percentage of staff employed by, or under contract to, the
Trust during the reporting period who would recommend the Trust as a provider of
care to their family or friends.
The
percentage
of staff
employed
by, or
under
contract to,
the Trust
during the
reporting

77%

77%

79%

66%

75%

55%

74%

58%
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INDICATOR

TRUST
SCORE
2014/15

TRUST
SCORE
2015/16

2016/17
YEAR TO
DATE

NATIONAL
AVERAGE
SCORE

FT
HIGHEST
SCORE
2016/17

FT LOWEST
SCORE
2016/17

NON FT
HIGHEST
SCORE
2016/17

NON FT
LOWEST
2016/17

period who
would
recommend
the Trust as
a provider
o f care to
their family
o r friends.
Patient experience of community health services indicator score with regard to a
p atient’s experience of contact with either a health or social care worker.
Notes: Data is taken from the 2015/16 survey that was published in 2016/17.
Questions used to complete this indicator are from Questions 5, 6 and 7 of the Mental
Health Survey. This was changed in 2014. Comparative data is based on the
composition of the indicators in 2013 and has not been updated since then.
Patient
e xperience
of
community
mental
health
services
indicator
score with
regard to a
patient’s
e xperience
of contact
with either
a health or
social care
worker.

87%

84%

87%

89%

90.9%

80.9%

91.8%

81.6%

The data made available to the Trust by the Health and Social Care Information
C entre with regard to the number and, where available, rate of patient safety
incidents reported within the Trust during the reporting period, and the number and
p ercentage or such patient safety incidents that resulted in severe harm or death.
Notes: The Trust score for 2014/15 data shows the full year effect. 2016/17 data
provided is as published by NRLLS March 2017 for the period 1 April 2016 to 30
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INDICATOR

TRUST
SCORE
2014/15

TRUST
SCORE
2015/16

2016/17
YEAR TO
DATE

NATIONAL
AVERAGE
SCORE

FT
HIGHEST
SCORE
2016/17

FT LOWEST
SCORE
2016/17

NON FT
HIGHEST
SCORE
2016/17

NON FT
LOWEST
2016/17

September 2016. The available data set that allows benchmarking of this information
p rovides a rate per 1000 bed days.
As a mental health and community trust, our rate will show inflation, as it does not
take into consideration community contacts. This will be an issue for all mental health
and community trusts.
The
number of
patient
safety
incidents
reported
with
hin the
Trust
during the
reporting
period.

3705

Where
a vailable,
rate of
p atient
safety
incidents
reported
within the
Trust
during the
reporting
period.

1815

1963

1930

6349

40

5073

1043

33.16

35.83

46

88.97

10.28

84.51

14.14

Number of
p atient
safety
incidents
resulting in
severe
harm or
death.

9

4

7

33

101

2

86

4

Percentage
o f patient
safety

0.24

0.22%

0.36%

1.11%

10%

0.26%

6.06%

0.31%

%
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INDICATOR

TRUST
SCORE
2014/15

TRUST
SCORE
2015/16

2016/17
YEAR TO
DATE

NATIONAL
AVERAGE
SCORE

FT
HIGHEST
SCORE
2016/17

FT LOWEST
SCORE
2016/17

NON FT
HIGHEST
SCORE
2016/17

NON FT
LOWEST
2016/17

incidents
resulting in
severe
h arm or
death.
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STATEMENTS OF ASSURANCE FOR SELECTED CORE
INDICATORS
INDICATOR

TRUST
SCORE

STATEMENT 1

STATEMENT 2

THE TRUST CONSIDERS
THAT THIS DATA IS
DESCRIBED FOR THE
FOLLOWING REASONS:

THE TRUST HAS TAKEN
THE FOLLOWING ACTIONS
TO IMPROVE OUR TRUST
SCORE, AND SO THE
QUALITY OF ITS SERVICES,
BY:

The data made
a vailable to the
National Health
Service Trust or NHS
Foundation Trust with
regard to the
p ercentage of patients
on Care Programme
Approach who were
followed up within
seven days after
discharge from
p sychiatric inpatient
care during the
reporting period.

96.67% This data reflects how
the Trust has
maintained
performance above the
target for seven-day
follow-ups from
hospital.

The alert system
implemented last year
from wards to community
services continues to
ensure all patients are
prepared for discharge
and follow-up
arrangements are fully in
place. The wards continue
to ensure correct contact
details for the service user
are available to
community services.

The data made
a vailable to the
National Health
Service Trust or NHS
Foundation Trust with
regard to the
percentage of
a dmissions to acute
wards for which the
Crisis Resolution Home
Treatment Team acted
a s a gatekeeper during
the reporting period.

96.1%

This data reflects how
the Trust has
maintained
performance above the
target for the
gatekeeping of acute
mental health
admissions.

The deployment and
development of the acute
mental health liaison
service, alongside
improved reporting
mechanisms continue to
ensure performance is
maintained above target.

The data made
a vailable to the
National Health
Service Trust or NHS
Foundation Trust by

2.27%

This data reflects a very
low rate of
readmissions for this
cohort (one
readmission within 28

Continued alignment
between community and
inpatient provision has
helped maintain strong
performance for this
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INDICATOR

TRUST
S CORE

the Health and Social
C are Information
Centre with regard to
the percentage of
patients aged 0 to 15
readmitted to a
hospital, which forms
p art of the Trust
within 28 days of
being discharged from
a hospital, which
forms part of the
Trust, during the
reporting period.

STATEMENT 1

STATEMENT 2

THE TRUST CONSIDERS
THAT THIS DATA IS
DESCRIBED FOR THE
FOLLOWING REASONS:

THE TRUST HAS TAKEN
THE FOLLOWING ACTIONS
TO IMPROVE OUR TRUST
SCORE, AND SO THE
QUALITY OF ITS SERVICES,
BY:

days in 2016/17 for this
age cohort).

indicator.

The data made
a vailable to the
National Health
Service Trust or NHS
Foundation Trust by
the Health and Social
Care Information
C entre with regard to
the percentage of
patients aged 16 or
over readmitted to a
hospital, which forms
part of the Trust
within 28 days of
being discharged from
a hospital, which
forms part of the Trust
during the reporting
period.

7.85%

This data reflects a very
low rate of
readmissions for this
cohort.

Continued alignment
between community and
inpatient provision has
helped maintain strong
performance for this.

The data made
a vailable to the
National Health
Service Trust or NHS

79%

We have continued to
focus on our culture
and organisational
development, and

Our strategic target is
80% recommendation.
We are extremely close to
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INDICATOR

Foundation Trust by
the Health and Social
Care Information
C entre with regard to
the percentage of staff
e mployed by, or under
contract to, the Trust
during the reporting
period who would
recommend the Trust
as a provider of care
to their family or
friends.

TRUST
S CORE

STATEMENT 1

STATEMENT 2

THE TRUST CONSIDERS
THAT THIS DATA IS
DESCRIBED FOR THE
FOLLOWING REASONS:

THE TRUST HAS TAKEN
THE FOLLOWING ACTIONS
TO IMPROVE OUR TRUST
SCORE, AND SO THE
QUALITY OF ITS SERVICES,
BY:

embedding our mission
statement – making a
difference for you, with
you – as a driver for all
we do. We believe our
activity has resonated
with our staff and as
such they are confident
to recommend our
Trust as a provider of
care.

meeting this target.
Our initiatives to improve
this staff
recommendation include:
x

Our leadership
matters
programme and
conferences, based
on sound
organisational
development
principles
x Our development
of our appraisal
programme, and
so our staff’s focus
on their delivery
of care
x Our efforts in
workforce
development and
recruitment
initiatives, to
support our
vacancy challenges
x Our focus on
improvements in
clinical and
workforce
eSystems, to
improve working
conditions and
efficiencies
Our new staff intranet,
improving our already
well established methods
for staff communication,
Trust openness and
transparency.
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INDICATOR

TRUST
S CORE

STATEMENT 1

STATEMENT 2

THE TRUST CONSIDERS
THAT THIS DATA IS
DESCRIBED FOR THE
FOLLOWING REASONS:

THE TRUST HAS TAKEN
THE FOLLOWING ACTIONS
TO IMPROVE OUR TRUST
SCORE, AND SO THE
QUALITY OF ITS SERVICES,
BY:

Patient experrience of
community health
services indicator score
with regard to a
p atient’s experience of
contact with either a
h ealth or social care
worker.

87%

This improvement
reflected in our reports
from iWantGreatCare
and service evaluations.

Development and
continued
implementation of coproduced recovery
groups, who review the
production of care
planning and delivery of
care. This ensures our
service users and carers
are an integral part of
our service planning and
delivery both on an
individual and strategic
level.

The data made
a vailable to the
National Health
Service Trust or NHS
Foundation Trust by
the Health and Social
Care Information
C entre with regard to
the number and,
where available, rate
of patient safety
incidents reported
within the Trust
during the reporting
period, and the
number and
percentage or such
p atient safety
incidents that resulted
in severe harm or
death.

1963

This score reflects that
the Trust continues to
make reporting of
incidents a priority.

The Trust has invested
resource into simplifying
the incident data capture
process and review and
sign off processes
encouraging the
reporting of incidents
and improving its
accuracy to support
learning.

0.36%
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HOSPITAL EPISODE STATISTICS – SECONDARY USES
SERVICE AUDIT
Northamptonshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust (RP1) submitted records during
2016/17 to the secondary uses service for inclusion in the hospital episode statistics,
which are included in the latest published data (February 2017). The percentages of
records in the published data are below.
THE PERCENTAGE
OF RECORDS IN
THE PUBLISHED
DATA

ADMITTED
PATIENT CARE

OUTPATIENT
CARE

ACCIDENT AND
EMERGENCY
CARE

Included
p atient’s valid
NHS number

100%

100%

The Trust does not
report A&E data
as we are not
acute

Included the
p atient’s valid
general medical
p ractice code

99.9%

99.9%

The Trust does not
report A&E data
as we are not
acute

INFORMATION GOVERNANCE ASSESSMENT REPORT
All standards have been completed this year with a 1% improvement. The Trust’s
Governance Toolkit was completed as satisfactory/green, at 89%.

CLINICAL CODING
A clinical classifications approved auditor undertook the Clinical Coding Audit of ICD-10
in line with the Information Governance Toolkit requirements using the suggested
audit sample size of 50 episodes. These episodes contained a total of 321 individual
codes with a 100% accuracy for primary diagnoses and 98.52% for secondary
diagnosis. These results should not be extrapolated further than the actual sample
audited.

WAITING TIMES
Our Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) have appointed two doctors
in the south of the county, which is where the majority of waiting time issues have
arisen. In addition, based on feedback from our patient participation group, we are
implementing a process to keep patients and their families informed of waiting times
and opportunities to inform us when their condition changes. We expect waiting times
to be within 13 weeks by October 2017.
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LOCAL INDICATOR
Our auditors, KPMG, reviewed our local performance indicator, which is measuring
whether the Trust has increased the amount of service users/carers involved on
recruitment panels. The below information summarises the findings of their draft
report.
Findings
The Involvement Team maintains a monthly list of involvement on recruitment panels,
in order to capture this information in a timely way. However, auditor testing proved
that the figures were not always linked back to the source documentation. This was
because it has not been retained and appropriate arrangements are not in place to
ensure the quality of the data for this indicator. As a result, the auditors were unable
to provide an opinion on this indicator. The testing did, however, demonstrate that not
all involvement in recruitment is captured by the Involvement Team, and there is
evidence in the service areas that they are involving service users in recruitment.
Because all involvement in recruitment has not been captured and recorded by the
Involvement Team, it was accepted that we over-achieved our target. The Trust has
since formulated a new process to collect all of the involvement in recruitment data,
which will ensure that required information will be available to access and the figures
reported will be traceable back to the source data.
Recommendations
It was recommended that the following processes be put in place:
x

x

To ensure that all instances of involvement in recruitment are captured, there
should be regular communication with recruitment leads about the process and
importance of reporting to the Involvement Team any service user/carer
involvement on a timely basis.
The Trust should retain evidence for each example of service user/carer
involvement and, where possible, include evidence to show service users/carers
input in the interviews.

Agreed action
The Trust has recently introduced a new process to capture and retain the evidence of
service user/carer involvement in recruitment. The Trust is committed to maintaining
and evidencing this involvement across the organisation. First steps were taken to
deliver this message at the Nursing Conference held 12th May 2017, where the
conference theme was focused on involvement, co-production and making a
difference, for you and with you.
Responsible Person: Beth Brand, Head of Patient Experience
Target Date: September 2017
………………………………………………………………………………………………
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PERFORMANCE AGAINST RELEVANT INDICATORS AND
PERFORMANCE THRESHOLDS
In 2016/17 we achieved 13 of the 13 of our statutory targets that were statutory at Q4.
Our performance against target is summarised in the table below.
S CORED

2016/17

2015/16

IN--

INDICATORS

TARGET

OUTTURN

MONTH

2016/17

Adult CPA

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

2016/17
Outturn

TARGET

95%

97.22%

95%

P atients

97.3

97.3

97.8

98.1

%

%

%

%

97.3

99.7

96.6

95.7

%

%

%

%

94.7

93.3

95.5

95.8

%

%

%

%

97.4

96.8

95.7

95.5

%

%

%

%

97.7%

receiving
follow-up
contact
within seven
days of
discharge
Adult CPA

95%

95.45%

95%

p atients

95.7%

having formal
review within
12 months
Early

50%

N/A

50%

intervention

95.00%

in psychosis p atients seen
within two
weeks of
referral
Admissions to
inpatient

95%

97.8%

95%

96.4%

services

136

S CORED

2016/17

2015/16

IN--

INDICATORS

TARGET

OUTTURN

MONTH

2016/17

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

2016/17
Outturn

TARGET

having access
to crisis
resolution
home
treatment
teams
Delayed

7.5%

4.3%

7.5%

3.5%

3.6%

N/A

N/A

N/A

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

75%

N/A

75%

68.9

84.6

86.1

81.4

80.55%

%

%

%

%

transfer of
care - adult
mental
h ealth, older
adults mental
health and
learning
d isability
Access to
h ealthcare
for people
with a
learning
d isability
(Selfcertification)
Improving
a ccess to
psychological
therapies:
Patients seen
within six
weeks of
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S CORED

2016/17

2015/16

IN--

INDICATORS

TARGET

OUTTURN

MONTH

2016/17

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

2016/17
Outturn

TARGET

referral
Improving

95%

N/A

95%

a ccess to

98.4

99.6

99.8

99.8

%

%

%

%

99.32%

psychological
therapies:
Patients seen
within 18
weeks of
referral
18 week

95%

100%

95%

100%

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

92%

99.8%

92%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

97%

98.0%

97%

99.3

98.7

97.1

97.1

98.0%

%

%

%

%

88.5

88.1

86.0

88.0

%

%

%

%

referral to
treatment
(non
admitted
p atients) complete
p athways
18 week RTT
(non
admitted
p atients) incomplete
p athways
Data
completeness:
identifiers
Data
completeness:

50%

78.6%

50%

87.7%

outcomes
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S CORED

2016/17

2015/16

IN--

INDICATORS

TARGET

OUTTURN

MONTH

2016/17

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

2016/17
Outturn

TARGET

(patients on
C PA)
Data

50%

65.7%

50%

completeness:

66.1

65.1

65.1

65.0

%

%

%

%

99.8

99.9

99.9

99.9

%

%

%

%

100%

100%

100%

100%

65.3%

community
services referral
information
Data

50%

99.9%

50%

completeness:

99.9%

community
services - care
contact
information
Data

50%

100.0%

50%

100%

completeness:
community
services referral to
treatment
information
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OUR ACTIONS TO IMPROVE DATA QUALITY
Data quality provides the foundation for everything we do, including clinical,
performance and information activities. In the last few years, we have been fully
compliant with national data quality reporting expectations.
The Data Quality Dashboard, which is part of our main electronic reporting system, was
strengthened in 2016. Staff will now have an enhanced ability to check if any
important pieces of information from the patient record are missing or inconsistent.
They can also check on the context, relevance and timeliness of the information that is
captured. We will continue in our actions to ensure this system is used consistently
across all levels of the Trust.
The Data Quality (DQ) Framework Improvement Plan for 2017/18 includes:
National Dataset Monitoring
With the recent introduction of a common national dataset format, NHS Digital have
recently introduced the publishing of a new set of DQ Dashboards. At present, we are
monitoring the content within the Business & Intelligence (B&I) Team for
benchmarking purposes, however we are looking to release of a suite of targeted
reports to highlight the key areas of concern raised on these of these dashboards, on a
service line/team level. Work to introduce these will commence in Quarter 3, 2017/18.
Nation Dataset Reconciliation
Work has started with reconciling Contract Activity with National Data Submissions
(MHSDS, SUS, IAPT & CYPHS) with a target of ensuring figures resolve by the end of Q2
2017/18. The project in partnership with Nene/Corby CCG and the CSU, will allow us to
identify gaps in the reporting capability, and specific areas of improvement in the
quality of the data being submitted by NHFT, from the beginning of Q3 2017/18.
EDS2 & Equality and Diversity (E&D) Demographics
The current internal DQ framework within NHFT is based on reporting of the nine
protected characteristic demographics, required for compliance to the Trust’s E&D
framework. Although the framework is sound, reporting functionality on patient
demographics is of a very basic level. We are targeting a replacement of the present
reports by the end of Quarter 2, 2017/18.
Operational DQ Reporting
The B&I Team work closely with operation service managers to provide specialised
reports for reviewing and assessing the accuracy and timeliness of patient Flows,
Reviews & Assessments. There are already active Data Quality Improvement Plans
(DQUIPs) with several services, where problem areas are identified, monitored and a
target led plan raised.
………………………………………………………………………………………………
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Safe

To reduce levels of
harm associated with
medication
incidents.

CQC
PRIORITY
DOMAINS

PATIENT SAFETY

This is a
continuing
priority for the
Trust because
it is critical to
the safety and
wellbeing of

OBJECTIVES

x

The Medicines
Management
Committee and
Medicines Safety
Group continue to
meet to review all
reported medicines
incidents and ensure

WHAT WE ACHIEVED

x

The Medicines
Management
Group outcomes
are circulated via
the Trust’s
internal
communication
systems.

HOW WE MONITORED
IT

Medication
incidents are
reported on Datix.

x
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Reported national
moderate incident
rate is 3.7%.

x

HOW WE MEASURED IT

This section shows our local improvement planning and progress made against our priorities in the 2015/16 Quality Report, since its
publication.

Our progress during 2016/17

PROGRESS AGAINST OUR 2015/16 PRIORITIES

PART THREE

C QC
P RIORITY
DOMAINS
our service
users and
carers.

OBJECTIVES

The medical director
is the chair of both
the Medicines
Management
Committee and the
Medicine Safety
Group.

Incidents are
escalated and
reviewed within
these forums, with
lessons learned
distributed across the
organisation postmeeting.

Number of reported
medication-based
incidents has
increased during
2016/17 in line with
the corresponding

x

x

x

timely evaluation of
the medicines
related policies and
procedures.

WHAT WE ACHIEVED

Serious incidents
relating to
medication were
identified and
reviewed by the
Medicines
Management
Committee.
Quarterly reports
to the Quality
and Governance
Committee.

x

x

HOW WE MONITORED
IT

NRLS guidance has
been circulated.

Linked to the SU2S
campaign.

x

x

142

Evaluation of the
proportion of
medication
administrations
over Q4 to
estimate an error
rate.

x

HOW WE MEASURED IT

C QC
P RIORITY
DOMAINS
OBJECTIVES

However, there has
been a reduction of
moderate and low
risk medicationbased incidents from
27% of reported
medication-based
incidences in 2015/16
to 18% of reported
medication-based
incidents in 2016/17.
The Trust’s moderate
incident rate is less
than the reported
national rate at 2%
locally vs 3.7%
nationally.

There have been no
medication-based
serious incidents
investigated during
2016/17.

x

x

x

increase in the
number of face-toface contacts.

WHAT WE ACHIEVED

HOW WE MONITORED
IT
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HOW WE MEASURED IT

E ffective

Safe

To increase the levels
of reporting
associated with
NEWS, ensuring that
all patients have
NEWS undertaken at
relevant points
during their
inpatient admission.

C QC
P RIORITY
DOMAINS

Percentage of
patients who have
baseline NEWS
undertaken from
87% (2015/16) to
99% (2016/17).
Percentage of NEWS
correctly calculated
from 67% (2015/16)
to 98% (2016/17).
Percentage of
patients who have
observations
repeated at set times
in line with local
policy over 24 hour
period from 59%
(2015/16) to 94%
(2016/17).
Percentage of
patients whose
NEWS triggers the
need for review are
reviewed from 53%
(2015/16) to 87%

x

x

x

Increase in the:

NEWS
assessments
are central to
ensuring our
patients and
service users
are receiving
safe and
effective care.
It is also vital
for
recognising
any
deterioration
and ensuring
the
appropriate
intervention is
given.
x

WHAT WE ACHIEVED

OBJECTIVES

National Early
Warning Score
reporting is
being
undertaken
weekly or
monthly by the
inpatient units
and is reported
each quarter as
part of the
quality schedule.

Reporting to the
Trust’s quality
forum on a
monthly basis.

x

x

HOW WE MONITORED
IT

Compliance
monitored at
executive team
level.

x
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Weekly NEWS
audit results from
all inpatient areas.

100% target set by
commissioners.

x

x

HOW WE MEASURED IT

E ffective

Safe

To increase the levels
of reporting
associated with the
venous
thromboembolism
(VTE) assessment.
This ensures that all
patients have this
review undertaken
at relevant points
during their inpatient admission.

C QC
P RIORITY
DOMAINS

To ensure that
all patients
and service
users have had
a VTE risk
assessment
completed
and are
prescribed
relevant
medication
when
necessary.

OBJECTIVES

There have been no
new VTEs reported
on Datix during
2016/17.

x

x

There have been no
NEWS related serious
incident
investigations
undertaken in
2016/17.
Improvement in
completed VTE risk
assessment forms
from 81% (Q1) to
91% (Q4).

x

(2016/17).

WHAT WE ACHIEVED

Data is extracted
weekly from the
electronic
patient record
and reported to
the medical
director.
Reporting to the
Trust’s quality
forum on a
monthly basis.

x

x

HOW WE MONITORED
IT
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New VTE incidents
are identified via
Datix reporting.

Data extraction is
taken each week
from the
SystmOne records.

x

x

No national
comparators are
available.

x

HOW WE MEASURED IT

Safe

Effective

To ensure Duty of
Candour is
embedded into our
clinical practices
and incident
processes.

CQC
PRIORITY
DOMAINS

P ATIENT EXPERIENCE

To ensure that we
are supporting an
open and honest
culture across our
services.

OBJECTIVES

There has been
one breach
around Duty of
Candour, due to
staff annual
leave.

x

x

Any breach is
reported to the
patient safety
team.

Duty of Candour is
embedded in our
clinical practice and
cited in the serious
incident policy and Duty
of Candour checklist:

Duty of Candour
training has been
developed and is
available on
training tracker.

x

WHAT WE ACHIEVED

x

x

Reporting to the
Trust’s Quality
and Governance
Committee on a
quarterly basis.

The patient
safety team
monitors the
Duty of Candour
process.

HOW WE MONITORED
IT

Number of incidents
involving breaches
of Duty of Candour.

Training developed
and available for
staff.

Duty of Candour
checklist included in
serious incident
policy.

Duty of Candour
now monitored for
low-level incidents.

x

x

x

x
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No national
comparators are
available.

x

HOW WE MEASURED IT

CQC
PRIORITY
DOMAINS

OBJECTIVES

Breaches related
to serious
incidents and
clinical reviews
are reported to
the
commissioners as
part of the
quality schedule.

The principles of
Duty of Candour
and being open
are included in
serious incident
root analysis
training.

Incident checklist
for staff includes
the requirement
to inform and
apologise to
patients,
relatives and
carers for any
failure in their

x

x

x

WHAT WE ACHIEVED

HOW WE MONITORED
IT
HOW WE MEASURED IT

147

Well Led

Increase the
numbers of service
users and carers
involved in internal
training.

CQC
PRIORITY
DOMAINS

To ensure that
service users play a
key role in training
of clinical staff so
that we can
increase staff
awareness of
involvement and
the patient’s
experience.

OBJECTIVES

The revised
‘Being Open
Policy CRM006’
was agreed by
the policy board
in January 2017.

Numbers of
service users and
carers involved in
training has
increased from
17 (2015/16) to
25 (2016/17).
This represents
an overall
increase of 47%.

x

x

x

care or
treatment and to
outline what
lessons have
been found.

WHAT WE ACHIEVED

x

The Patient
Involvement
Team monitors
how many
service users and
carers are
requested to
support with
educational
activity.

HOW WE MONITORED
IT

Number of service
users and carers who
have been involved
in internal training
taken from service
users involvement
spreadsheet.
Requests and
feedback from
services for service
users available for

x

x
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No national
comparators are
available.

x

HOW WE MEASURED IT

Well Led

Increase the
numbers of service
users and carers
involved in staff
recruitment.

CQC
PRIORITY
DOMAINS

We recognise that
involving service
users in key roles
around
recruitment helps
to ensure that staff
are appointed who
have values and
beliefs aligned
with the needs of
our service users
and carers.

OBJECTIVES

Numbers of
service users and
carers involved in
recruitment has
increased from
11 (2015/16) to
66 (2016/17).
This represents
an overall
increase of
500%.

x

x

WHAT WE ACHIEVED

x
The Patient
Involvement
Team monitors
how many
service users and
carers are
requested to
support the
interview
process at the
Trust.

HOW WE MONITORED
IT

Number of service
users and carers who
have been involved
in recruitment taken
from service users
involvement
spreadsheet.
Revised spreadsheet
and monitoring by
the involvement
team.
Requests and
feedback from
services for service
users available to
attend interviews.

x

x

x
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No national
comparators are
available.

x

training.

HOW WE MEASURED IT

OBJECTIVE

To ensure
that lessons
are shared
and learned
across the
whole
organisation.

PRIORITY

To work
collaboratively
internally to
share our patient
safety
experiences and
outcomes in
order to improve
learning from
incidents,
complaints and
compliments, and
reduce harm.

CQC
DOMAINS

Safe

CLINICAL EFFECTIVENESS

The number of
serious incidents
has been decreased
from 40 (2015/16)
to 37 (2016/17).
This is an overall
reduction of 7.5%.

The alteration of
the identity and
access management
(IAM) process has
now commenced
and feedback has
so far been
positive. The
mental health
directorate reviews
their own incidents
on a weekly basis,
of which the
decisions are
reviewed
independently
within 24 hours by
a panel. This panel
includes the patient

x

x

WHAT WE ACHIEVED

x

x

Monitoring of
patient safety page
on intranet site.

The Patient Safety
Team monitors the
number of serious
incidents and
includes this
information in the
quarterly board
report.

HOW WE MONITORED IT

Examples of
changes to
practice following
the raising of
issues or concerns.

x
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Outcomes
included on the
Patient Safety
Team’s page are
available on the
intranet.

Feedback from the
IAM process.

x

x

Number of serious
incidents reported
within the Trust
extracted from the
Datix system.

x

HOW WE MEASURED IT

CQC
DOMAINS

PRIORITY

OBJECTIVE

x
The Trust has
developed a
number of ways to
ensure that staff
members learn and
share information
from patient safety
experiences,
outcomes and
complaints. These
included making
use of the new
Trust intranet. The
patient safety team
page now features
a very easy to
navigate section

safety manager,
deputy nurse
director, head of
patient experience
and safeguarding
clinical lead.
Incidents relating
to the adult and
children’s pathway
are only reviewed
by the panel for
the time being.

WHAT WE ACHIEVED

HOW WE MONITORED IT
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HOW WE MEASURED IT

CQC
DOMAINS

PRIORITY

OBJECTIVE

entitled ‘Shared
learning – recently
completed
investigation
reports’. This
section features
four examples of
recently completed
investigation
reports, complete
with action plans,
recommendations,
and identified
learning. The
examples will be
changed every two
months and will
always display
reports from a
variety of clinical
areas. Examples will
include
investigations that
have highlighted a
number of good
examples of service
or process
improvements that
could be applicable
to other areas
across the Trust.

WHAT WE ACHIEVED

HOW WE MONITORED IT
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HOW WE MEASURED IT

To ensure
that Trust
staff have the
skills,
knowledge
and
confidence to
deliver quality

Develop the skills
and competence
of all new band
1-4 clinical staff.

C aring

E ffective

OBJECTIVE

PRIORITY

CQC
DOMAINS

The patient safety
team page also has
easily accessible
sections that
provide
information on the
Human Factors
Analysis and
Classification
System (HFACS)
project, the
unexpected death
task and finish
group and the most
recent public Trust
board paper.

The total number
of staff eligible for
training in 2016/17
is 175 (103 staff
were eligible
during 2015/16).
The total number
of staff eligible

x

x

x

WHAT WE ACHIEVED

Identification of
new staff who
needed to take the
care certificate.

Number of staff
who enrolled on the
training.

x

x

HOW WE MONITORED IT

Data extracted
from professional
practice,
education and
training database.

x
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No national
comparators
available.

x

HOW WE MEASURED IT

CQC
DOMAINS

PRIORITY

care to service
users and
their carers.

OBJECTIVE

The total number
of staff eligible
who completed
training in 2016/17
is 119, which
corresponds to 68%
of those who
began the training
(compared to 99
(96%) in 2015/16).

The care certificate
continues to
receive positive
feedback from
attendees on the
non-registered
three-day
induction.

x

x

enrolled on
training in 2016/17
is 175 (compared to
103 in 205/16). All
eligible staff were
enrolled on
training.

WHAT WE ACHIEVED

HOW WE MONITORED IT

Number of staff
who were eligible
who enrolled on
the training.

Completion rates
and feedback.
Enrolment on the
collaborative
health education
England nursing
pilot test site
initiative.

x

x

x
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Number of new
staff who were
eligible for the
training.

x

HOW WE MEASURED IT

Patient,
service user
and carer
feedback is
used to shape
care, delivery
and service
design.

Using
iWantGreatCare
(IWGC), and
other sources of
feedback to learn
from and
respond to
patients and
carers.

E ffective

R esponsive

OBJECTIVE

PRIORITY

CQC
DOMAINS

A new process was
introduced to make
it easier for services
to respond to
comments.

The number of
feedback response
reports received is
28,882 (2016/17)
compared with
28,232 (2015/16).

The number of
responses requiring
responses is 1279.
The number of
responses received
is 754. We are
collating the
remaining
responses (data
only available from
June due to a
change in process).

x

x

x

x

WHAT WE ACHIEVED

x
The iWGC team
monitors the
embedded feedback
each month and
completes a
monthly report for
the quality forum.

HOW WE MONITORED IT

iWGC monthly
feedback was used
to source the
information.

Number and type
of initiatives that
have taken place.
Number of
compliments.
Number of
complaints.
Number of Patient
Advice and Liaison
Service (PALS)
enquiries.

x

x

x

x

x
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No national
comparators
available.

x

HOW WE MEASURED IT

CQC
DOMAINS

PRIORITY

OBJECTIVE

The number of
actions taken as a
result of the
feedback responses
is 270 (data only
available from June
due to a change in
process).

x

x

x
Access to car
parking being dealt
with by the car
parking strategy.
In the interim,
some services are
improving patient
information about
getting to
appointments.
There have been
comments about
varying inpatient
food quality. This is

E xamples of changes
include:

x

WHAT WE ACHIEVED

HOW WE MONITORED IT
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HOW WE MEASURED IT

CQC
DOMAINS

PRIORITY

OBJECTIVE

x

x

being dealt with
through a food
strategy group,
which has service
user involvement.
There was a review
of all signposts off
and on site at the
Trust.
We set minimum
requirements and
services to work
together to ensure
reception
arrangements are
satisfactory for all
patients.

WHAT WE ACHIEVED

HOW WE MONITORED IT
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HOW WE MEASURED IT

DUTY OF CANDOUR
The Trust has embraced and actively
undertaken its responsibility to implement
regulation 20: Duty of Candour. The
intention of this regulation is to ensure
that organisations are open and
transparent with the people who use its
services. It is a legal duty of NHS trusts to
inform and apologise to patients if there
have been mistakes in their care that have
led to significant harm. The Trust had one
Duty of Candour breach relating to a staff
investigator on leave. We determined that
the staff investigator should provide the
outcome and learning from their
investigation to the family, not to someone
the family did not know.
Following an incident, the Trust makes
contact with the service user and/or their
carer to notify them of the safety incident –
as soon as is reasonably practical after
becoming aware of the incident. This is
followed by a written notification within 10
working days, stating the details of the
incident and including an apology. In the
extremely rare case that Duty of Candour
cannot be undertaken, it is escalated so
that the decision can be confirmed or
challenged. The HMP prisoner liaison
officer at each prison undertakes the initial
contact with carers and families for prison
safety incidents on the Trust’s behalf.
Service users, patients and their families are
involved in serious incident investigations,
and are contacted at the start of the
investigation so that they have input into
the terms of reference.
It is also at this point that the investigator
offers additional support to the individual
and/or their carer. At the end of the
process, the investigator gives feedback

and a written copy of the investigation
outcome to the service user, patient or
carer. In some cases, the service user,
patient or carer may choose not to receive
feedback or be involved in the
investigation – this right is noted and their
wishes are respected.
Ensuring that Duty of Candour is
performed in all instances where significant
harm has been caused while delivering care
is important to the Trust. It remained one
of the Trust’s quality priorities for 2016/17.
All communications related to an
investigation are kept centrally, so a full
picture of the process can be sourced for
future use as needed. For part of any
investigation, the Trust ensures that all
investigators are aware of the Duty of
Candour process, which clearly details what
their role and responsibility is. There is a
document that is usually completed by the
investigator and returned to the central
file. This means that there is a full picture
of contact with the service user, patient or
carer that can be accessed and viewed
(including any contact attempts that were
made, but were unsuccessful).
Cases involving individuals under the age of
16, or those who lack mental capacity, are
reviewed individually. This is usually
achieved by involving the carer (if
appropriate), and the professionals
involved in the care, as they are deemed to
have the expertise.
It is part of the Trust’s organisational
culture to promote openness and honesty
and this is achieved in a number of ways.
Firstly, Duty of Candour training is available
to all investigators and senior managers
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who handle serious incidents. An e-learning
package has been created to enhance staff
knowledge of the process and legislation,
including the application of Duty of
Candour.
In addition, the Trust will be able to track
how many staff have been trained via the
training package. This will be used to set a
benchmark for the organisation.

Secondly, learning lessons from incidents is
a core priority for us and while the process
has significantly improved, the training
remains in place. The serious incident policy
has also been reviewed to tighten the
process to comply with our being open
policy, in line with internal deadlines.

…………………………….…………………………………………………………………………………..

SIGN UP TO SAFETY
The national Sign up to Safety (SU2S)
campaign aims for the NHS to become the
safest healthcare system in the world, to
deliver harm-free care for every patient
every time. This means taking all the
activities and programmes that each NHS
organisation undertakes and aligning them
with this single common purpose.
T he Sign up to Safety campaign aims to
halve avoidable harm in the NHS over
the next three years and save 6,000 lives
as a result.
We have agreed five key areas of patient
safety improvement to focus on, namely
managing violence and aggression,
medicine management, information
management and technology, national
early warning score (NEWS) and suicide and
self-harm prevention.
Each of these areas has an agreed plan,
which shows our commitment to the
campaign, and our quality forum monitors
progress with each action.
As part of the SU2S plan we added an
additional question to iWantGreatCare

(iWGC). It was designed to capture
feedback about whether our patients felt
safe in our care. Over the past 12 months,
10,624 people have responded to this
question with an average five star rating of
4.87 out of 5.
We are also proud to be part of the first
SU2S county sustainability and
transformation plan (STP) that has worked
on quality improvement together.
The county STP, which gained the support
of the East Midlands Academic Health
Science Network, plans to reduce avoidable
harm from failures or omission in care,
work collaboratively to improve patient
safety, share best practice and prevent
incidents in healthcare by sharing and
learning.
This countywide group has agreed on eight
themes to focus on in 2016/17, one of
which is related to the national priority
around reducing sepsis. We have agreed to
lead on the board-to-ward theme
countywide. Next year, work will
commence to specifically review the data
and assess the impact of the plans and
progress that were put in place during this
year.
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STAFF SURVEY RESULTS
The selected results from the 2016 national staff survey (in this financial year) look
specifically at our Trust responses to key questions regarding bullying, harassment,
equal opportunities and discrimination. These are key factors in the Workforce Race
Equality Standard (WRES). We have highlighted the differences between responses for
white and BME members of staff.
THE
TRUST IN
2015

THE
TRUST
IN 2016

AVERAGE
(MEDIAN) FOR
COMBINED
MENTAL HEALTH
LEARNING
DISABILITY AND
COMMUNITY
TRUSTS

White

18%

18%

20%

BME

20%

29%

24%

White

91%

88%

89%

BME

74%

75%

78%

RESPONSES

KF26 (percentage of staff
e xperiencing harassment,
b ullyin
ng or abuse from staff in
the last 12 months)

KF21 (percentage believing
that the Trust provides equal
opportunities for career
progression or promotion) for
the Workforce Race Equality
Standard

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………
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PATIENT EXPERIENCE
PATIENT INVOLVEMENT
This year, each of our services received
information about the value of learning
from service users’, patients’ and carers’
views and opinions. Involvement activity
across the Trust has also increased this year,
with patient involvement in many activities,
ranging from reviewing leaflets to projects,
training and recruitment. This has included
consultant psychiatrists, nurses and
administrative staff who have face-to-face
contact with patients and carers.
Patient stories remain well used and are a
powerful way of conveying messages across
the Trust. They are heard in many forums
including the Trust’s public board meetings.
Recent examples of this include a new
ambassador for breastfeeding mums and a
Child and Adolescent Mental Health
Services (CAMHS) participation worker
supporting their services to improve.
The gathering and use of patient and carer
feedback to improve patient experience
and quality of care is central to our Quality
Framework – and to constantly reviewing
and improving services. Feedback is
gathered from complaints, incidents, PALS
contacts, compliments and letters of
appreciation and, more systematically,
through iWGC. The head of patient
experience, iWGC manager, head of
performance and head of quality assurance
work closely together to ensure that these
varying forms of feedback are triangulated
and inform other quality improvement and
assurance processes. These include serious
incident investigations, lessons learned
(through the monthly lessons learned
exchange), service reviews and inspection.
Assurance from services is gained through

the service management reporting
structure, governance meetings and patient
experience groups. Reviews, comments and
responses through iWGC are also published
on the iWGC public website.
During the year, we received 28,881
reviews. 94% of respondents would
recommend the service to friends and
family and they awarded us an average 5
star rating across all services (including
prisons) of 4.74 for the overall experience
of their care and treatment.

Recovery College NHFT
In March 2017, we launched the new
Recovery College NHFT. The college
supports individuals with experience of
mental health difficulties to live the life
they want to lead, and become experts in
their own self-care. An educational
approach is used to improve health and to
complement treatment already offered by
the Trust.
The college offers strength-based courses
designed to contribute towards wellbeing
and to enable hope, control and
opportunity.
All courses are co-produced and codelivered by people with lived experience
of mental health difficulties and mental
health professionals, providing a shared
learning environment where those with
lived experience, those who provide their
support and NHS staff can learn together.
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Courses are open to service users, their
carers, friends and family, as well as Trust
staff. To find out more information about
enrolling, please contact the recovery
college office at:
recovery.college@nhft.nhs.uk or call 01933
235449 (open Monday to Friday 9:30am to
4pm).

I MROC: OUR CONTINUED
COMMITMENT TO
INVOLVEMENT AND
CO-PRODUCTION
Our Patient Involvement Team generates
ideas, developments and improvements for
involvement and co-production that span
our services and organisation. To ensure
ongoing learning, we have been further
developing Implementing Recovery
through Organisational Change (ImROC).
This national initiative, that supports
organisations to develop their recovery
model through hope, control and
opportunity, has allowed us to examine
and test our involvement process, as well as
develop and grow towards true coproduction with our service users and
carers. This led to a model of delivery with
clear parameters, expectations and process
to support service users and carers
involvement.
The community ImROC group has worked
in conjunction with the Patient
Involvement Team and ImROC to develop
our Trust’s model of co-production
outlining the requirements and process for
a sustainable model for future growth. The
model works on the foundation that

recovery is a pathway that needs hope,
control and opportunity. Involvement work
can be an ideal step in many people’s
recovery and skills developed and learnt
can be transferred to future opportunity.
We recognise that service users’ and carers’
path to recovery is not straight, however it
may lead to different levels of involvement
at different times. We developed four steps
in this pathway – some service users may
use all of these, and some may only use
one. All need to be available to support the
Trust’s growth and improvement in the
future so we can provide quality services to
the local population.

iWANTGREATCARE

We use iWGC to continuously collect
feedback from patients and carers in all
services, including prisons. Responses can
be given in a variety of formats and, in
addition to the Friends and Family Test,
respondents are asked to comment on a
variety of patient experience measures.
There is also room for free text. The
numerical data is integrated with our
performance reporting system, while free
text comments are used to improve services
through our patient experience and
governance groups.

Service managers respond to comments
with details of actions taken. All comments
are publicly available through the iWGC
website with the exception of prisons, some
sensitive services and where the respondent
has expressly requested that the feedback is
not publicly displayed.
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T he below table lists responses for the four main categories. There are 11
categories in all. The rating is out of 5, 5 being the highest.

Likely to
recommend

Kindness
and
compassion
of staff

Info.. about
care and
treatment

Involvement

year

Total
number of
responses

Dignity
and
respect

Ave.. 5
star
rating

Apr

2726

92.81%

4.89

4.8

4.8

4.88

4.84

May

2260

94.38%

4.76

4.79

4.83

4.91

4.82

Jun

2620

93.05%

4.87

4.74

4.79

4.88

4.82

Jul

2288

94.67%

4.89

4.77

4.82

4.9

4.84

Aug

2389

94.39%

4.9

4.76

4.80

4.91

4.84

Sep

2376

93.86%

4.9

4.79

4.82

4.91

4.85

Oct

2161

93.8%

4.87

4.78

4.8

4.89

4.83

Nov

2275

94.81%

4.92

4.81

4.84

4.91

4.87

Dec

2023

95.21%

4.91

4.85

4.85

4.92

4.88

Jan

2563

92.7%

4.91

4.68

4.74

4.91

4.81

Feb

2570

94.20%

4.95

4.80

4.85

4.92

4.88

Mar

2630

94.03%

4.86

4.70

4.76

4.85

4.79

FULL
YEAR

28,881

93.94%

4.89

4.77

4.80

4.89

4.84

Month//
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KEY COMPLAINTS DATA
FOR 2016/17
208 complaints were received in 2016/17,
compared to 184 in 2015/16. This represents
a 13% increase. The PALS service has
received 540 contacts in 2016/17, compared
to 528 in 2015/16, representing a marginal
2.3% increase. The Trust received 18
General Practitioner (GP) concerns.
End of year performance shows an average
of 99.9% of complaints were responded to
either within the 25 days timeframe or
within the extended timeframe, as agreed
with the complainant. As confirmed by the
Parliamentary and Health Service
Ombudsman (PHSO), 11 complaints were
referred to them. Of these 11, to date four
have been either fully or partially upheld,
two were not upheld and two
investigations were discontinued.
Three complaints to the PHSO continue to
be investigated and await an outcome.
A number of improvements have been
made to our complaints process. The team
developed simple flow charts to highlight
the key processes involved in complaints
relating directly to an individual staff
member, prison and Member of Parliament
(MP) concerns, which provide both clarity
and consistency. As part of the
investigation review, we included a box to
ensure consideration for a referral to the
safeguarding team has been added to the
template and to Datix (our patient safety
management system).
The PALS officer and complaints manager
continue to work closely in partnership and
have continued to encourage service leads
to deal with patient and carer concerns as
they arise and to record the concerns or
compliments on Datix. The PALS officer has
provided training sessions to the inpatient

and community teams, raising their
awareness of the options for addressing
their concerns.
In addition to managing queries from
patients and carers, the complaints and
PALS team continue to appropriately
manage queries received from MPs and
GPs. They are the link to the Parliamentary
Health Service Ombudsman and a detailed
report is provided to the Complaints
Review Committee on a quarterly basis.
This is chaired and co-chaired by the CEO
and chair. Patients and carers are informed
about their choices to either have their
concern reviewed in line with the formal
complaints process, or have the PALS officer
mediate with the service lead to ensure a
more speedy response to their query.
In order to further improve the complaints
process, peer reviewing has been
introduced. This allows previously
completed investigations to be looked at
objectively by a third party reviewer, with a
view to further learning about how we
investigate and respond to complaints.
Recruiting peer reviewers has been
challenging. However, the numbers are
now increasing and we now have
representatives from operational
directorates, governors and service users
and carers.
This process is still in its early stages and a
peer review forum has recently been
formed.
The Trust continues to actively monitor the
key themes identified from complaints
received. The top five themes around
complaints are:
x
x
x
x

Access to services
Communication from service staff
Waiting times
Level of service

164

x

Appointments

x

The Trust is now triangulating this
information with information generated
through other sources of feedback,
including PALS queries, serious incident
reporting, iWGC and compliments.
A number of systems and processes have
changed following patient, service user
and carer feedback. Some examples of
these changes include:
x

Informing families of the
opportunity for personal health
budgets to help them to be in
control for sourcing of equipment
for their relative.

x

A gap in service for people with mild
symptoms of EUPD (Emotionally
Unstable Personality Disorder) led to
an action plan to develop a range of
options that meets the needs of
people with EUPD at different
stages in the pathway. These
developments have progressed and
there is now an ‘understanding and
managing emotions group’ available
for people with less severe
difficulties. The first participant has
been recruited.
There are also a range of groups
about to be delivered jointly with
the Planned Care and Recovery
Team (PCART) and Urgent care and
Treatment (UCAT) staff members.

…………………………………………………………………………………………………
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STAFF ENGAGEMENT
x
The staff engagement score is key to all
elements of the staff survey and it is
therefore proposed that the development
of staff engagement is a real focus for this
year’s action plan. It is considered the best
strategy to deliver improvement in the staff
experience and also in the staff survey
itself.
T his will be central to our
communications and organisational
development plans. Measurement will be
determined within our planning
schedule, with a key focus being the
improvement of the engagement scores
for 2017. Our current objectives are:
x

x

To understand the staff working
experience and culture in highly
engaged teams and share these
learnings across the Trust.
To build on and improve our staff
engagement scores in 2017 and
onwards.

x
x

To support our managers to engage
and manage their teams effectively.
To engage staff and improve staff
experience, and as a result, the place
to work score for 2017 survey.
To develop conversations across the
Trust in teams around the key areas
identified for improvement.

The issues identified with bullying and
harassment will need a separate focus,
which is encompassed in both our work on
our WRES and diversity action plans and
the Trust’s work on ‘freedom to speak up’.
One of the key elements in our action
planning was our ‘leadership matters’
conference, held in March 2017, which
focused on diversity and inclusion. The
conference was co-produced with the staff
diversity network leaders and has had a
positive response from staff who attended.
Outputs from this conference will be used
to inform our planning for 2017/18.

…………………………………………………………………………………………………
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CARE QUALITY COMMISSION (CQC) RATINGS
Our CQC ratings
The CQC carried out a comprehensive assessment of our services in January 2017. In
March 2017, the CQC rated the Trust overall as ‘Good’. This was an improvement on the
last inspection in 2015, when we received the rating ‘Requires improvement’.

OUR RESULTS

DOMAINS

OVERALL

GOOD
SAFE

REQUIRES IMPROVEMENT

EFFECTIVE

GOOD

CARING

OUTSTANDING

RESPONSIVE

GOOD

WELL LED

GOOD

We have 15 service reports and one overall Trust report. Our results are listed in
the table below by service grouping.
REPORT

SAFE EFFECTIVE CARING RESPONSIVE

WELL-OVERALL
LED

Community Health Services for
Adults

RI

G

G

G

G

G

Community Health Services for
CYP

G

G

G

G

G

G

Community Dental Services

G

O

G

G

O

O

Community End of Life Care

G

G

O

G

G

G

Community Health Inpatient
Services

RI

RI

G

G

G

RI

Mental Health Crisis Services
and HBPoS

RI

G

G

G

G

G
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R EPORT

SAFE EFFECTIVE CARING RESPONSIVE

WELL-OVERALL
LED

Community Based Mental
Health Services for Adults

RI

G

G

G

G

G

Specialist Community Mental
Health Services for CYP

G

G

G

G

G

G

Community Based Mental
Health Services for Older
People

G

RI

G

G

RI

RI

Community Based Mental
Health Services for People with
Learning Disabilities

G

G

O

RI

G

G

Acute wards for adults of
working age and PICU

RI

G

G

G

G

G

Child and adolescent mental
health wards

G

O

O

G

O

O

Forensic inpatient/secure
wards

G

G

G

G

G

G

Long stay/rehabilitation
mental health wards for adults

G

G

G

G

G

G

Wards for older people with
mental health problems

G

G

O

G

G

G

Our results clearly indicate the dedication
and hard work of our staff. Our patients,
service users and carers are and have always
been our highest priority – and we are
delighted that we were rated as
‘Outstanding’ in the Care domain.
The CQC recognised that our team were
helpful and empathetic, and that our
service users were treated with kindness
and dignity. They noted that our boardlevel leadership was outstanding, and the
senior leadership team was instrumental in
delivering the quality improvement work
across the Trust.

We are encouraged that our management
frameworks were reported as sound, and
we were reported to be effectively
facilitating our continued quality
improvement. We look forward to
continuing to apply these frameworks
across all our pathways of care and in all
our partnership activity.
We also know that we still have work to do
– and that our journey does not end here.
In particular, we need to focus on the Safe
domain, where improvements are required.
The CQC have conveyed that they are
confident we will work to deliver these
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improvements on behalf of all of our
patients. The CQC identified the following
main themes that require improvement in
some services: medicines management,
infection control, environment, staff
receiving supervision, mandatory training
and appraisal, staff receiving the right level
of safeguarding training to meet their role.

x
x
x
x
x

The CQC found that:
x
x
x
x
x

Patients are treated with kindness,
dignity and respect
Staff attitudes were helpful and
understanding
Staff language was kind and
supportive so patients would
understand
Staff communication was kind,
respectful and compassionate
We encouraged feedback with the
online feedback website receiving
61,000 reviews since launch

x

x
x
x

The Trust was committed to
involvement, including a wellattended involvement group
There was robust governance and
safeguarding systems in place
The Trust had a clear vision and set
of values
We have invested in an extensive
range of staff wellbeing
programmes
Staff involved patients in their care
plans
All teams described effective and
collaborative team working and had
effective working relationships with
external agencies
Physical healthcare needs had been
addressed at inpatient mental
health settings
The Trust board encouraged
candour, openness and honesty
from staff
Staff felt supported by the board to
work with change and felt able to
provide feedback about their
experiences

The full service reports and overall Trust report can be found on the CQC website.
…………………………...……………………………………………………………………………
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OUR RATINGS GRID
Overall our Trust received a rating of ‘Good’ in March 2017.
At the time of writing this report, our Trust had completed its quality summit, the
meeting at which the inspection phase of our review ends. Because of this timing, we
are refining our action plans. The CQC inspection team has advised that they are
satisfied with our methods for addressing our actions and that the Trust is in a good
place to achieve against them. Below is an overview of our approach to managing our
required actions:
x
x
x
x
x

Focus on project managing activity, building on previous good practice
Establishing the process and ensuring staff are clear on their responsibility
Sharing the good news with staff and stakeholders
Clarity on our priority areas through focusing on the Safe domain, requirement
notices and areas requiring improvement
Maintaining a future focus to ensure we have a resilient plan

CQC
CRITERIA

RATING

HOW YOU PLAN TO ADDRESS ANY
AREAS THAT REQUIRE
IMPROVEMENT OR ARE
INADEQUATE

DATE BY
WHEN YOU
EXPECT IT
TO
IMPROVE

SAFE

Requires
improvement

A snapshot of actions taken at the
time of writing are:

Dates to be
finalised

x

Development of SMART action
plans at service and Trust-wide
level actions to achieve
requirement notices, must and
should dos

x

Medication management
action plan:
1. Omission medication audit
cycle
2. Review and strengthen
medicines management policy
3. Review and strengthen cold
chain policy
x
x

Review of 136 suite against
guidance.
Infection control Trust-wide
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CQC
CRITERIA

RATING

HOW YOU PLAN TO ADDRESS ANY
AREAS THAT REQUIRE
IMPROVEMENT OR ARE
INADEQUATE

DATE BY
WHEN YOU
EXPECT IT
TO
IMPROVE

audit process reviewed and
strengthened. Planning NHSHI
infection control review visit.
x

Weston Favell Health Centre:
1. Infection control audit
2. Removal of out of date
equipment and disposal of
fridge
3. Formal request for multiagency building meeting

x

Safeguarding training level
three children – TB nurses
(completed)

EFFECTIVE

Good

N/A

N/A

CARING

Outstanding

N/A

N/A

RESPONSIVE

Good

N/A

N/A

WELL LED

Good

N/A

N/A
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HOW OUR QUALITY ACCOUNT WAS PREPARED
Many people and health and
wellbeing bodies were involved in
developing our quality account and
agreeing priorities for the next year.
These included:

ͻ

Allied healthcare professional leads

ͻ

Healthwatch

ͻ

Education and Training Team

ͻ

Nursing Advisory Committee

ͻ

Our governors

ͻ

Patient Experience Team

ͻ

Patient Involvement Team,

ͻ

Pharmacy

ͻ

Quality Forum

ͻ

Quality Team

ͻ

The Trust’s non-executive directors

ͻ

The Trust’s executive team

ͻ

The Quality and Governance
Committee

Themes identified in complaints and
serious incidents were also used to help
identify priorities for improvement
during the next year.

including patients, service users and
carers

…………………………………………………………….……………………………………………..
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OUR QUALITY CARE PRIORITIES
AN EASY READ VERSION
These are things we will do to make your care better next year.
We will make sure you are safe by:

Finding better ways to make sure people do not hurt
themselves.

Making sure we always check how we do things.

Understanding why people may fall over and who might
fall over. Then make plans to help them.

We will always check how patients are feeling by:

Creating courses that help people get better.

Getting more service users to help us decide who should
work for us.
Finding more ways to help service users tell us what they
think.
We will make sure your care is the best it can be by:
Sharing stories and information with our staff, to help us
give better care.
Teaching our staff new ways to give you even better
care.

Doing our best to always check your physical health.
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ANNEX 1

STATEMENTS FROM STAKEHOLDERS
NHS Improvement’s Annual Reporting Manual determines the Trust’s mandatory
obligations for items to be included in the Annual Report. We welcome suggestions
from our key stakeholders regarding content and incorporate these suggestions where
it is appropriate to do so. Clinical Commissioning Groups, Healthwatch and the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) were all invited to comment on our Quality
Report and we welcome their responses. We include the feedback from our
stakeholders exactly as it is received. Where we were able to make adjustments to the
Quality Report we did so. We will continue to work with our stakeholder partners to
provide further assurance that we deliver patient-centred, quality services.
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ANNEX 2
STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service
(Quality Accounts) Regulations to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year.
NHS Improvement has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and
content of annual Quality Reports (which incorporate the above legal requirements) and on
the arrangements that NHS foundation trust boards should put in place to support the data
quality for the preparation of the Quality Report.
In preparing the Quality Report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy
themselves that:
x

The content of the Quality Report meets the requirements set out in the NHS
foundation trust annual reporting manual 2016/17 and supporting guidance
The content of the Quality Report is not inconsistent with internal and external
sources of information including:

x

o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
x
x
x
x
x

Board minutes and papers for the period April 2016 to 25/05/2017
Papers relating to quality reported to the board over the period April 2016 to
25/05/2017
Feedback from commissioners dated 17/05/2017
Feedback from Healthwatch dated 15/05/2017
The Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority
Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, dated 25/05/2016
The latest national patient surveys dated as below:
Community mental health survey 2016 – 17/08/2016
Inpatient mental health survey 2016 – 04/01/2017
The latest national staff survey dated 07/03/2017
The head of internal audit’s annual opinion of the Trust’s control environment dated
23/05/2017
CQC inspection report dated 11/04/2017
The Quality Report presents a balanced picture of the Trust’s performance over the
period covered
The performance information reported in the Quality Report is reliable and
accurate
There are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures
of performance included in the Quality Report, and these controls are subject to
review to confirm that they are working effectively in practice
The data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Report is
robust and reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed
definitions, is subject to appropriate scrutiny and review
The Quality Report has been prepared in accordance with NHS Improvement’s annual
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD
ENDED 31 MARCH 2017

NOTE

2016/2017

2015/2016

£000

£000

1 87,642

178,889

Revenue
Operating income from patient care activities

4

Other operating income

5

10,551

8,977

Operating expenses

6

(191,633)

(185,357)

6,560

2,509

Operating surplus/(deficit)
Finance costs
Finance income

12

116

171

Gains/(losses) on disposal of assets

13

295

(50)

Finance expense - financial liabilities

14

(2,751)

(2,854)

Finance expense - unwinding of discount on provisions

34

(18)

(18)

Public dividend capital dividends payable

(1,292)

(1,153)

Net finance costs

(3,650)

(3,904)

Share of profit/(loss) of associates/ joint ventures

19

1 48

0

Gain/(loss) from transfer by absorption

9

2 57

0

3,315

(1,395)

Retained surplus/(deficit) for the period*
Other comprehensive income
Impairments and reversals
Gains on revaluations
Remeasurements of defined benefit pension scheme (liability)/assets

43
15/16
9

(2,094)

(539)

310

5,748

0

311

0

0

117

0

1,648

4,125

2 ,634

0

Net gain/(loss) on other reserves
Net gain/(loss) on available for sale financial assets
Asset disposals
Other reserve movements

9

Reclassification adjustments:
- Transfers from donated and government grant reserves
- On disposal of available for sale financial assets
Total comprehensive income for the period
Note*
Includes Sustainability and Transformation Funding of
Retained surplus/(loss) excluding Sustainability and Transformation Funding

681

(1,395)

The notes that follow form part of these accounts.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY

P ublic Retained
Donated
Revaluation
dividend
asset
reserve reserve
capital (PDC) earnings
£ 000

£000

£000

19,216

17,303

Retained surplus/(deficit) for the period

0

3,315

0

0

Transfers between reserves

0

0

0

0

Impairments and reversals

0

0

(2,094)

0

0

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant,
equipment

0

0

310

0

0

0

310

Asset disposals

0

54

(54)

0

0

0

0

Remeasurement of defined net benefit pension scheme
asset/liability

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Other reserve movements

£000

T otal

37,255

T axpayers equity at 1 April 2016

£000

Gov’t
grant P ension
reserve reserve
£000

£000

(117)

73,657

0

0

3,315

0

0

0
(2,094)

0

0

0

0

0

117

117

Balance at 31 March 2017

37,255

22,585

15,465

0

0

0

75,305

Taxpayers equity at 1 April 2015

37,255

20,479

12,226

0

0

(428)

69,532

0

(1,395)

0

0

0

0

(1,395)

Retained surplus/(deficit) for the period
Transfers between reserves

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Impairments and reversals

0

0

(539)

0

0

0

(539)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant,
equipment

0

0

5,748

0

0

0

5,748

Asset disposals

0

132

(132)

0

0

0

0

0

0

311

311
0
0
73,657

Remeasurement of defined net benefit pension scheme
asset/liability
Other recognised gains and losses
New PDC received
Balance at 31 March 2016

0

0

0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0

0

0
0

37,255

19,216

17,303

0

0

(117)
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31
MARCH 2017

2016/2017

2015/2016

NOTE

£000

£000

Operating surplus/(deficit)

SoCI

6 ,560

2,509

Depreciation and amortisation

15/16

4,884

4,606

5 61

(591)

Cash flows from operating activities

Impairments and (reversals)

17

Pension liability

9

0

42

(Increase)/decrease in inventories

21

22

(26)

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables

22

(1,775)

963

(Increase)/decrease in other current assets

24

0

0

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables

26

1 ,503

901

Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities

28

36

32

Increase/(decrease) in provisions

34

82

(1,145)

Other movements in operating cash flows
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities

0

0

11,873

7,291

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received

12

116

171

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

15

(2,605)

(4,290)

Sale of property, plant and equipment

15

675

515

Purchase of intangible assets

16

(495)

(519)

Purchase of other investments

20

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities
Net cash inflow/(outflow) before financing

(79)

0

(2,388)

(4,123)

9,485

3,168

Cash flows from financing activities
Public dividend capital received

0

0

(1,345)

(1,292)

Capital element of PFI obligations

32

Capital element of finance lease payments

29

(6)

(8)

Interest paid

14

(3)

(78)

Interest element of PFI obligations

32

(2,747)

(2,773)

Interest element of finance lease payments

29

(1)

(2)

(1,368)

(1,228)

PDC dividends paid
Cash flows from other financing activities
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

0

0

(5,470)

(5,381)

4,015

(2,213)

31,421

33,634

35,436

31,421

Cash and cash equivalents (and bank overdrafts)
at the beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents (and bank overdrafts)
at the end of the financial period

25
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NOTES TO ACCOUNTS
1.0 Accounting policies and other
information
NHS Improvement, in exercising the
statutory functions conferred on Monitor, is
responsible for issuing an accounts
direction to NHS foundation trusts under
the NHS Act 2006. NHS Improvement has
directed that the financial statements of
NHS foundation trusts shall meet the
accounting requirements of the
Department of Health Group Accounting
Manual (DH GAM), which shall be agreed
with the Secretary of State. Consequently,
the following financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with the DH
GAM 2016/17 issued by the Department of
Health. The accounting policies contained
in that manual follow International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and
HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual
(FReM) to the extent that they are
meaningful and appropriate to the NHS.
The accounting policies have been applied
consistently in dealing with items
considered material in relation to the
accounts.

1.1 Accounting convention
These accounts have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, modified to
account for the revaluation of property,
plant and equipment, intangible assets,
inventories and certain financial assets and
financial liabilities.

1.2 Going concern
These accounts have been prepared on a
going concern basis.
The DH GAM states that for non-trading
bodies in the public sector, the anticipated
continuation of the provision of a service in
the future, as evidenced by inclusion of
financial provision for that service in
published documents, is normally sufficient

evidence of going concern. DH group
bodies should therefore prepare their
accounts on a going concern basis unless
there are material uncertainties that may
cast doubt on this assumption.
The Board of Directors are not aware of
any such material uncertainties at the time
of preparation of these accounts.

1.3 Consolidation
1.3.1 Subsidiaries
Subsidiary entities are those over which the
Trust is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the
entity. The income, expenses, assets,
liabilities, equity and reserves of
subsidiaries are consolidated and shown in
the appropriate financial statement lines.
The capital and reserves attributable to
minority interests are included separately in
the Statement of Financial Position.
The amounts consolidated are taken from
the published financial statements of the
subsidiaries for the year (except where a
subsidiary’s financial year end is before 1
January or after 1 July, then the actual
amounts for each month of the Trust’s
financial year are obtained from the
subsidiary and consolidated).
Where subsidiaries’ accounting policies are
not the same as those of the Trust
(including where they report under UK
Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 102)
then amounts are adjusted during
consolidation where the differences are
material. Any balances, transactions and
gains/losses between entities are removed
on consolidation.
Subsidiaries that are classified as held for
sale are measured at the lower of their
carrying amount and fair value less selling
costs.
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The Trust has charitable funds that are
managed alongside those from
Northampton General Hospital NHS Trust
(NGH). The charity responsible for
managing the funds attained independent
status on 1 April 2016 and as such the
power to govern the financial and
operating policies of the funds sits with
them. The value of the Trust’s element of
charitable funds at 31 March 2017 was
£448,000. As the value of the charitable
funds is not considered to be material to
the Trust’s accounts and the funds are
managed on its behalf by the independent
charity, they have not been consolidated in
these accounts.

1.3.3 Joint ventures

The Trust has not accounted for any
subsidiaries in the financial statements for
this period.

Joint operations are arrangements where
the Trust has joint control with one or more
other parties and has the rights to the
assets, and obligations for the liabilities,
relating to the arrangement. The Trust
includes in its financial statements its share
of the assets, liabilities, income and
expenses.

1.3.2 Associates
Associate entities are those over which the
Trust has the power to exercise a significant
influence. Per IAS 28 Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures, significant
influence is considered to be a holding of
20% or more of the voting rights in an
entity. Associate entities are recognised in
the Trust’s financial statement using the
equity method. The investment is initially
recognised at cost.
It is increased or decreased later to reflect
the Trust’s share of the entity’s profit or
loss or other gains and losses (e.g.
revaluation gains on the entity’s property,
plant and equipment) following
acquisition. It is also reduced when any
distribution (e.g. share dividends) is
received by the Trust from the associate.
Associates that are classified as held for sale
are measured at the lower of their carrying
amount and fair value less selling costs.
The Trust has accounted for its investment
in First for Wellbeing as an associate as it
holds 38% of the voting rights. The
investment in First for Wellbeing is
accounted for using the equity method.

Where the Trust has joint control with one
or more parties, and has the rights to the
net assets of the arrangement, it is called a
joint venture.
Joint ventures are accounted for using the
equity method.
The Trust has not accounted for any joint
ventures in the financial statements for this
period.

1.3.4 Joint operations

The Trust has not accounted for any joint
operations in the financial statements for
this period.

1.3.5 Other investments
Investment in associates and joint ventures
that are not considered to be material are
accounted for as non-current financial
assets.
The Trust has accounted for its investment
in 3Sixty Care Ltd as a financial asset and
has recognised the fair value of the
shareholding within Other Investments. The
Trust is deemed to have significant
influence over the entity by way of the
50% shareholding, but the share of profit
and net assets of the entity are not
considered to be material.
1 .4 Income
Income for services provided is recognised
when those services are received, measured
at the fair value of those services. The main
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source of income for the Trust is contracts
with commissioners for healthcare services.

to the retirement, regardless of the method
of payment.

Where income is received for a specific
activity that is to be delivered in the
following financial year, that income is
deferred.

1.5.2.2 Local Government Pension Scheme

Income from the sale of non-current assets
is recognised only when all material
conditions of sale have been met, and is
measured as the amount due under the
sale contract.

1 .5 Expenditure on employee benefits
1.5.1 Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related
payments are recognised in the period that
the service is received by employees. The
cost of annual leave entitlement earned
but not yet taken by employees is included
in the financial statements where they are
allowed to carry it into the next year.

The Trust employs a number of staff who
were members of the Local Government
Pension Scheme (LGPS). These staff
transferred during 2013/2014 under TUPE
following a tender process for the
Children’s Respite Service, where
Northamptonshire County Council (NCC)
previously ran some services.
The staff were all transferred out of the
LGPS into the NHS Pension Scheme at 31st
March 2016.
The LGPS is a multi-employer pension
scheme and each employer’s share of fund
assets and liabilities are identifiable.
In accordance with IAS19 Employee
Benefits the scheme is accounted for as a
defined benefit pension scheme as follows:
x

The Trust recognises its share of
assets within the pension scheme at
fair value and its liabilities at the
present value of the defined benefit
obligation to the staff it employs in
the foundation trust accounts.

x

The increase in the liability arising
from the pensionable service earned
by the staff during the financial year
is recognised within operating
expenses in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

x

The re-measurement of the net
defined benefit liability (asset) is
recognised within reserves and
reported as Other Comprehensive
Income in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income. It comprises:

1.5.2. Pension costs
1.5.2.1 NHS Pension Scheme
Past and present employees are covered by
the NHS Pension Scheme. The scheme is an
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that
covers NHS employers, general practices
and other bodies, allowed under the
direction of the Secretary of State, in
England and Wales. It is not possible for the
Trust to identify its share of the underlying
scheme liabilities. For this reason, the
scheme is accounted for as a defined
contribution scheme.
Employers pension cost contributions are
charged to operating expenses as they
become due.
The only additional pension liabilities for
early retirements funded by the scheme are
those where the retirement is due to ill
health. The full amount of the liability for
the additional costs is charged to the
operating expenses when the Trust agrees

 Actuarial gains and losses
 Return on plan assets, excluding
amounts included in net interest
on the net defined benefit
liability (asset) and
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 Any change in the effect of the
asset ceiling excluding amounts
included in net interest on the net
benefit liability (asset)
x

The interest cost coming from the
unwinding of the discount on the
scheme liabilities during the
financial year is recognised within
the finance costs.

IAS19 requires that all actuarial gains and
losses be recognised immediately in
Taxpayers’ Equity. So, actuarial gains and
losses happening during the year as a result
of the re-measurement of the defined
benefit liability are recognised in the
Income and Expenditure Reserve reported
as an item of Other Comprehensive Income.
While IAS19 permits the re-measurement of
the defined benefit liability to be
recognised as a separate component of
Taxpayers’ Equity, the Foundation Trust
Annual Report Manual requires it to be
recognised in the Income and Expenditure
Reserve.
The net surplus or deficit of the scheme is
recorded on the Statement of Financial
Position (SoFP). This net surplus or deficit is
the value of the scheme’s assets allocated
to the Trust less the present value of the
scheme’s liabilities plus or minus the
scheme actuarial gains or losses.
IAS19 does not specify whether an entity
should separate current and non-current
portions of assets and liabilities arising
from post-employment benefits. The Trust
has chosen to include the net surplus or
deficit on the pension scheme within noncurrent assets (where there is a net surplus
position) or non-current liabilities (where
there is a net deficit position).
Accounting for the LGPS as a defined
benefit scheme under IAS19 requires the
Trust to make a number of assumptions.
The Trust has adopted the assumptions
recommended by the LGPS scheme actuary,
Hymans Robertson.

The IAS19 assumptions and further
information is shown in Note 9 to the
accounts.

1.5.2.3 National Employment Savings Trust
(NEST)
The Pensions Act 2008 requires the Trust to
automatically enrol all eligible staff into a
workplace pension scheme.
If staff meet the eligibility criteria for the
NHS Pension scheme they will be
automatically enrolled into it. If staff are
eligible under auto enrolment law but do
not meet the eligibility criteria for the NHS
Pension scheme they will be automatically
enrolled into the NEST scheme, which is the
Trust’s designated alternative scheme.
NEST is a defined contribution pension
scheme and details of the contributions
paid by the Trust on behalf of employees
are shown in Note 9 to the accounts.

1 .6 Expenditure on other goods and
services
Expenditure on goods and services is
measured at fair value and is recognised
when they have been received. Expenditure
is recognised in operating expenses except
where it results in the creation of a noncurrent asset such as property, plant and
equipment.

1.7 Property, plant and equipment
1.7.1 Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is
capitalised where:
x

It is used for delivering services or
for administrative purposes

x

It is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to, or service
potential be provided to the Trust
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x

It is expected to be used for more
than one financial year

x

The cost of the item can be
measured reliably and

x

The item has a cost of at least £5,000
or

x

Collectively, a number of items have
a cost of at least £5,000 and
individually have a cost of more
than £250. The assets are
functionally interdependent, were
purchased around the same time,
are expected to have the same
disposal dates and are under single
managerial control or

x

Items are part of the initial
equipping and setting-up cost of a
new building, ward or unit,
whatever their individual or group
cost.

Leased assets valued at the start of the
lease at less than £5,000 will not be
capitalised and will be expensed through
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

IFRS 13 fair value measurement, if it does
not meet the requirements of IAS 40
investment property or IFRS 5 non-current
assets held for sale.
Land and buildings used for the Trust’s
services or for administrative purposes are
shown in the Statement of Financial
Position at their revalued amounts, being
the fair value at the date of revaluation less
any further depreciation and impairment
losses.
Revaluations are performed regularly to
ensure that carrying amounts are not
materially different from those that would
be calculated at the end of the reporting
period.
Fair values are calculated as follows:
x

Land and non-specialised buildings –
market value for existing use.

x

Specialised buildings – depreciated
replacement cost.

Where a large asset, for example a
building, includes a number of parts with
significantly different asset lives, (e.g. plant
and equipment), then these parts are
treated as separate assets and depreciated
over their own useful economic lives.

1.7.2 Measurement
1.7.2.1 Valuation
All property, plant and equipment assets
are measured to begin with at cost, taking
into account the costs involved in
purchasing or building the asset and
bringing it to the location and in the
condition required for it to do its job. All
assets are measured going forward at
valuation.
An item of property, plant and equipment
which is surplus with no plan to bring it
back into use is valued at fair value under
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Until 31 March 2008, the depreciated
replacement cost of specialised buildings
has been estimated for an exact
replacement of the asset in the same
location. HM Treasury has adopted a
standard approach to depreciated
replacement cost valuations based on
modern equivalent assets and, a different
site can be valued if it still works for the
service being provided. HM Treasury agreed
that NHS foundation trusts must apply
these new valuation requirements by 1
April 2010.
The Trust carried out a valuation based on
modern equivalent assets at 31 March 2014
and this is how the properties are valued in
the Trust's accounts. An annual desktop
review of asset values is carried out by an
External Valuer for the Trust to make sure
that any significant changes are identified
and shown in the accounts.
Properties being built for service or
administration purposes are carried at cost,
less any impairment loss. Cost includes
professional fees but not borrowing costs,
which are recognised as expenses
immediately, as allowed by IAS23 for assets
held at fair value. Assets are revalued and
depreciation begins when they start to be
used.
Until 31 March 2008, fixtures and
equipment were carried at replacement
cost, as assessed by indexation and
depreciation of historic cost. From 1 April
2008 indexation ceased. The carrying value
of existing assets at that date is being
written off over their remaining useful
lives.
From 1 April 2008, new fixtures and
equipment are carried at depreciated
historic cost, as this is not believed to be
materially different from fair value.

1.7.2.2 Subsequent expenditure
Further spending relating to an item of
property, plant and equipment is
recognised as an increase in the carrying
amount of the asset when it is probable
that additional future economic benefits or
service potential as a result of the spending
to fix the item will be an advantage to the
Trust and the item can be valued reliably.
Where part of an asset is replaced, the cost
of the replacement is capitalised if it meets
the criteria above. The carrying amount of
the part replaced is derecognised.
Spending on repairs and maintenance is
charged to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income at the time it
happens as this does not generate extra
benefits in the future.

1.7.2.3 Depreciation
Items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated over their remaining useful
economic lives in a way consistent with the
using up of economic or service delivery
benefits.
The Trust has decided the useful economic
lives for each category of asset to be:
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

Buildings determined by working
with an external valuer
Plant and machinery 5-15 years
Medical and other equipment 5-15
years
Transport equipment 7 years
Information technology 5-10 years
Mainframe IT equipment 8 years
Fixtures and fittings 5-10 years

Freehold land is considered to have an
endless life and is not depreciated.
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Assets purchased using finance leases are
depreciated over their useful economic
lives, or where shorter, the lease term.
Property, plant and equipment that have
been reclassified as Held for Sale stop being
depreciated when they are reclassified.
Assets being built and residual interests in
off-Statement of Financial Position PFI
contract assets are not depreciated, until
the asset is brought into use or reverts to
the Trust, respectively.

1.7.2.4 Revaluation gains and losses
Revaluation gains are recognised in the
revaluation reserve, unless they reverse a
revaluation decrease that has already been
recognised in operating expenses, then
they are recognised in operating expenses
netted against revaluation losses.
Revaluation losses are charged to the
revaluation reserve while there is an
available balance for the asset concerned,
and then they are charged to operating
expenses.
Gains and losses recognised in the
revaluation reserve are reported in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income as an
item of other comprehensive income.

1.7.2.5 Impairments
In accordance with the DH GAM,
impairments that clearly come from the
using up of economic benefits or service
potential in the asset are charged to
operating expenses. A compensating
transfer is made from the revaluation
reserve to the income and expenditure
reserve of the lower of these two amounts:
(i) the impairment charged to operating
expenses; and (ii) the balance in the
revaluation reserve identified to that asset
before the impairment.
An impairment that arises from a clear
using up of economic benefit or service
potential is reversed when the reason the
loss happened changes back to the original
state. Reversals are recognised in operating
expenditure to the extent that the asset is
restored to the carrying amount it would
have had if the impairment had never been
recognised. Any remaining reversal is
recognised in the revaluation reserve. If a
transfer was made from the revaluation
reserve to the income and expenditure
reserve at the time of the original
impairment an amount is transferred back
to the revaluation reserve when the
impairment reversal is recognised.
Other impairments are treated as
revaluation losses. Reversals of other
impairments are treated as revaluation
gains.

1.7.2.6 De-recognition
Assets intended for disposal are reclassified
as Held for Sale once all of the following
criteria are met:
x

The asset is available for immediate
sale in its present condition subject
only to terms which are normal for
such sales

x

The sale must be highly probable
i.e.:
o

Management are committed to
a plan to sell the asset
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o

An active programme has
begun to find a buyer and
complete the sale

o

The asset is being actively
marketed at a reasonable price

o

The sale is expected to be
completed within 12 months of
the date of classification as
Held for Sale and

o

The actions needed to
complete the plan indicate it
will go ahead without major
changes

Following reclassification, the assets are
measured at the lower of their existing
carrying amount and their fair value minus
the selling costs. Depreciation stops being
charged and the assets are not revalued,
except where the fair value minus selling
costs becomes less than the carrying
amount.
Assets are de-recognised when all material
sale contract conditions have been met.
Property, plant and equipment which is to
be scrapped or demolished does not qualify
for recognition as Held for Sale and instead
is retained as an operational asset and the
asset’s economic life is adjusted. The asset is
de-recognised when scrapping or
demolition takes place.
1.7.3 Donated, government grant and
other grant-funded assets
Donated and grant-funded property, plant
and equipment assets are capitalised at
their fair value when received. The
donation/grant is credited to income at the
same time, unless the donor has laid down
a condition that the future economic
benefits included in the grant are to be
used in a way specified by the donor, then
the donation/grant is deferred within
liabilities and is carried forward to future
financial years because the condition has
not yet been met.
The donated and grant-funded assets are
then accounted for in the same manner as

other items of property, plant and
equipment.

1 .8 Private Finance Initiative (PFI)
transactions
PFI transactions that meet the IFRIC 12
definition of a service concession, as
interpreted in HM Treasury’s FReM, are
accounted for as on-Statement of Financial
Position by the Trust.
In accordance with IAS17, the underlying
assets are recognised as property, plant and
equipment at their fair value, together
with an equivalent finance lease liability.
The assets are accounted for as property,
plant and equipment and/or intangible
assets as appropriate.
The annual contract payments are divided
between the repayment of the liability, a
finance cost and the charges for services.
The service charge is recognised in
operating expenses and the finance cost is
charged to Finance Costs in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income.

1.8.1 Lifecycle replacement
Parts of the asset replaced by the operator
during the contract (‘lifecycle replacement’)
are capitalised where they meet the Trust’s
criteria for capital expenditure. They are
capitalised at the time they are provided by
the operator, as planned within the PFI
operator’s model, and are measured
initially at their fair value.
The part of the yearly full payment
allocated to lifecycle replacement is predetermined for each year of the contract
from the operator’s planned programme of
lifecycle replacement.
No changes are made for actual lifecycle
costs during the year or the timing of those
costs, as this is not practical or cost effective
and the impact in year has been confirmed
as not being material.
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Any material changes in asset values will be
identified through the five yearly
revaluations of property, plant and
equipment.

x

Trust to complete the development
and sell or use the asset and
The Trust can measure reliably the
expenses attributable to the asset
during development

1 .9 Intangible assets
1.9.1 Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets
without physical substance that are capable
of being sold separately from the rest of
the Trust’s business or which come from
contractual or other legal rights. They are
recognised only where it is probable the
Trust will gain from future economic
benefits, or service potential and where the
cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

1.9.3

Software that is essential to the operation
of hardware, (e.g. an operating system), is
capitalised as part of the item of property,
plant and equipment. Software that is not
essential to the operation of hardware,
(e.g. application software), is capitalised as
an intangible asset.

1.9.4
1.9.2 Internally generated intangible
assets
Internally generated goodwill, brands,
mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists
and similar items are not capitalised as
intangible assets.
Expenditure on research is not capitalised.
Expenditure on development is capitalised
when all of the following can be
demonstrated:
x

x
x
x

x

The project is technically feasible to
the point of completion and will
result in an intangible asset for sale
or use
The Trust intends to complete the
asset and sell or use it
The Trust has the ability to sell or
use the asset
How the intangible asset will
generate probable future economic
or service delivery benefits (e.g. the
presence of a market for it or its
output), or where it is to be used for
internal use, the usefulness of the
asset
Adequate financial, technical and
other resources are available to the

Software

Measurement

Intangible assets are recognised initially at
cost, made up of all costs needed to create,
produce and prepare the asset to the point
that it is able to operate in the way
required by management.
Subsequently intangible assets are
measured at current value in existing use.
Where no market exists, intangible assets
are valued at the lower of amortised
replacement cost and the value in use
where the asset is income generating.
Revaluation gains and losses and
impairments are treated in the same way as
for property, plant and equipment. An
intangible asset which is surplus with no
plan to bring it back into use is valued at
fair value under IFRS 13 fair value
measurement, if it does not meet the
requirements of IAS 40 investment property
or IFRS 5 non-current assets held for sale.
Intangible assets held for sale are measured
at the lower of their carrying amount or
fair value minus selling costs.

1.9.5

Amortisation

Intangible assets are amortised over their
expected useful economic lives in a way
that takes into account the using up of
economic or service delivery benefits, which
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is normally expected to be at least five
years.

1 .10 Revenue government and other
grants
Government grants are grants from
government bodies other than income
from commissioners, foundation trusts or
NHS trusts for the provision of services.
Where a grant is used to fund revenue
expenditure it is taken to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income to match that
expenditure.
1.11 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. The cost of
inventories is measured using the first in,
first out (FIFO) method. This is considered
to be a reasonable approximation to fair
value.

1.12 Financial instruments and financial
liabilities
1.12.1 Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities
which come from contracts for the
purchase or sale of non-financial items
(such as goods or services), which are
entered into following the Trust’s normal
purchase, sale or usage requirements, are
recognised when receipt or delivery of the
goods or services is made.
Financial assets or financial liabilities for
assets acquired or disposed of through
finance leases are recognised and measured
in line with the accounting policy for leases
described below.
All other financial assets and financial
liabilities are recognised when the Trust
becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

1.12.2 De-recognition
All financial assets are de-recognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the
assets have expired or the Trust has
transferred substantially all of the risks and
rewards of ownership.
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when
the obligation is discharged, cancelled or
expires.

1.12.3 Classification and measurement
Financial assets are categorised as fair value
through income and expenditure, loans
and receivables or available-for-sale
financial assets.
Financial liabilities are classified as fair
value through income and expenditure or
as other financial liabilities.

1.12.4 Financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through income and
expenditure
Financial assets and financial liabilities at
fair value through income and expenditure
are financial assets or financial liabilities
held for trading. A financial asset or
financial liability is classified in this
category if acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the short-term.
Derivatives are also categorised as held for
trading unless they are designated as
hedges.
Derivatives which are part of other
contracts but not closely related to them
are separated-out and measured in this
category.
Assets and liabilities in this category are
classified as current assets and current
liabilities.
These financial assets and financial
liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value, with transaction costs expensed in
the income and expenditure account. Later
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movements in the fair value are recognised
as gains or losses in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
The Trust has not accounted for any
financial assets and financial liabilities at
fair value through income and expenditure
in this period.

1.12.5 Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments which are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets.
The Trust’s loans and receivables comprise:
current investments, cash and cash
equivalents, NHS debtors, accrued income
and other debtors.
Loans and receivables are recognised
initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs, and are later measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.
The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset or, when appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset.
Interest on loans and receivables is
calculated using the effective interest
method and credited to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

1.12.6 Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are nonderivative financial assets, which are either
chosen to be in this category or not
classified in any of the other categories.
They are included in long-term assets unless
the Trust plans to dispose of them within
12 months of the Statement of Financial
Position date.
Available-for-sale financial assets are
recognised initially at fair value, including
transaction costs, and measured afterwards
at fair value, with gains or losses recognised

in reserves and reported in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income as an item of
other comprehensive income. When items
classified as available-for-sale are sold or
impaired, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognised are transferred
from reserves and recognised in Finance
Costs in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.
The Trust has not accounted for any
available-for-sale financial assets in this
period.

1.12.7 Other financial liabilities
All other financial liabilities are recognised
initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and measured afterwards at
amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
The effective interest rate is the rate that
discounts exactly estimated future cash
payments through the expected life of the
financial liability or, when appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount
of the financial liability.
Other financial liabilities are included in
current liabilities. Amounts due to be paid
more than 12 months after the Statement
of Financial Position date are classified as
long-term liabilities. Interest on financial
liabilities carried at amortised cost is
calculated using the effective interest
method and charged to Finance Costs.
Interest on financial liabilities taken out to
finance property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets is not capitalised as part of
the cost of those assets.

1.12.8 Determination of fair value
For financial assets and financial liabilities
carried at fair value, the carrying amounts
are decided as is right for the item being
recognised.
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1 .13 Impairment of financial assets
At the Statement of Financial Position date,
the Trust checks whether any financial
assets, apart from those held at fair value
through income and expenditure, are
impaired. Financial assets are impaired and
impairment losses are recognised only if
there is fair information of impairment as a
result of one or more events taking place
after the initial recognition of the asset and
which has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised
cost, the amount of the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the revised future cash flows
discounted at the asset’s original effective
interest rate. The loss is recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income and
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced
through the use of a bad debt provision.
Where there is any uncertainty that a
financial asset is impaired, a bad debt
provision is used to reduce the carrying
amount of the asset. The value of the bad
debt provision is calculated by looking at
the chances of collection.
Where it is certain that a financial asset is
impaired, any loss not previously included
in the bad debt provision is recognised
directly through the Statement of
Comprehensive Income at the time it is
known.

1.14 Leases
1.14.1 Finance leases – the Trust as lessee
Where substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership of a leased asset are borne by
the Trust, the asset is recorded as property,
plant and equipment and a corresponding
liability is recorded.

rate implicit in the lease. The asset and
liability are recognised at the start of the
lease. After this, the asset is accounted for
as an item of property plant and
equipment.
The annual rental is split between the
repayment of the liability and a finance
cost so that a constant rate of finance over
the life of the lease can be achieved. The
annual finance cost is charged to Finance
Costs in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income. The lease liability is de-recognised
when the liability is discharged, cancelled
or expires.
1.14.2 Finance leases – the Trust as lessor
Amounts due from lessee under finance
leases are recorded as receivables at the
amount of the Trust’s net investment in the
leases. Finance lease income is allocated to
accounting periods to reflect a constant
periodic rate of return on the Trust’s net
investment outstanding in respect of the
leases.

1.14.3 Operating leases – the Trust as lessee
Other leases are regarded as operating
leases and the rentals are charged to
operating expenses on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease. Operating lease
incentives received are added to the lease
rentals and charged to operating expenses
over the life of the lease.

1.14.4 Operating leases – the Trust as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease. Initial direct costs,
incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease, are added to the carrying
value of the leased asset and recognised on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The value at which both are recognised is
the lower of the fair value of the asset or
the present value of the minimum lease
payments, discounted using the interest
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1.14.5 Leases of land and buildings

1.15.1 Clinical negligence costs

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the
land part is separated from the building
part and the classification for each is
judged separately.

The Trust pays an annual contribution to
the NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA),
which operates a risk-pooling scheme. The
NHSLA in return settles all clinical
negligence claims. Although the NHSLA is
responsible for the administration of all
clinical negligence cases, the legal liability
remains with the Trust. The total value of
clinical negligence provisions carried by the
NHSLA on behalf of the Trust is disclosed at
note 35 but is not recognised in the Trust’s
accounts.

1.15 Provisions
The Trust recognises a provision where it
currently has a legal or constructive
obligation without knowing the time or
amount, for which it is probable that there
will be a financial or resource cost, and a
reliable estimate can be calculated.
The amount recognised in the Statement of
Financial Position is the best estimate of the
resources required to settle the obligation.
Where the effect of the time value of
money is significant, the estimated riskadjusted cash flows are discounted using
the discount rate published and mandated
by HM Treasury.
The receivable is recognised as an asset if it
is virtually certain that some or all of the
economic benefits needed to settle a
provision will be recovered from a third
party and the amount of the receivable can
be measured reliably.
Present obligations arising under onerous
contracts are recognised and measured as a
provision. An onerous contract is one
where the Trust has a contract where the
unavoidable costs of meeting the
obligations under the contract exceed the
economic benefits expected to be received
under it.

1.15.2 Non-clinical risk pooling
The Trust takes part in the Property
Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to
Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling
schemes where the Trust pays an annual
contribution to the NHSLA and in return
receives assistance with the costs of claims
arising. The annual membership
contributions, and any excesses payable in
respect of particular claims, are charged to
operating expenses when the liability
arises.

1.16 Contingencies
Contingent assets (assets arising from past
events whose existence will only be
confirmed by one or more future events
not entirely within the entity’s control) are
not recognised as assets, but are disclosed
in note 35 where an inflow of economic
benefits is probable.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised,
but are disclosed in note 35, unless a
transfer of economic benefits is unlikely.
Contingent liabilities are defined as:
x

Possible obligations coming
from past events which will
only exist if one or more
uncertain future events
happen and the entity is not in
full control or
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x

Present obligations coming
from past events where a
transfer of economic benefits
is unlikely or where the
amount of the obligation
cannot be measured with
enough reliability

1 .17 Public dividend capital
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of
public sector equity finance based on the
excess of assets over liabilities when the
NHS trust was formed. HM Treasury has
decided that PDC is not a financial
instrument within the meaning of IAS32.
A charge, reflecting the cost of capital used
by the Trust, is payable as a dividend. The
charge is calculated at the rate set by HM
Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average
relevant net assets of the Trust during the
financial year. Relevant net assets are
calculated as the value of all assets less the
value of all liabilities, except for (i) donated
assets (including lottery funded assets), (ii)
average daily cash balances held with the
Government Banking Services (GBS) and
National Loans Fund (NLF) deposits,
excluding cash balances held in GBS
accounts that relate to a short-term
working capital facility, and (iii) any PDC
dividend balance receivable or payable.
Under the requirements laid down by the
Department of Health (as the issuer of
PDC), the dividend for the year is calculated
on the actual average relevant net assets as
set out in the pre-audit version of the
annual accounts. The dividend is not
revised should any change to net assets
occur following the audit of the annual
accounts.

1.18 Value Added Tax (VAT)
Most of the activities of the Trust are
outside the scope of VAT and, in general,
output tax does not apply and input tax on
purchases is not recoverable.
Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the
relevant expenditure category or included
in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed
assets. Where output tax is charged or
input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are
stated net of VAT.

1.19 Corporation tax
NHS foundation trusts must pay
corporation tax if they are delivering largescale commercial activities that are not part
of core healthcare delivery, like running a
commercial laundry.
The majority of the Trust’s income is core
healthcare and so corporation tax was not
payable by the Trust in 2016/2017.

1.20 Foreign exchange
The Trust uses and presents its figures in
sterling.
A transaction, which is valued in a foreign
currency, is translated into sterling at the
spot exchange rate on the date of the
transaction.
Where the Trust has assets or liabilities
valued in a foreign currency at the
Statement of Financial Position date:
x

Monetary items (other than
financial instruments
measured at fair value through
income and expenditure) are
translated at the spot
exchange rate on 31 March

x

Non-monetary assets and
liabilities measured at
historical cost are translated
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using the spot exchange rate
at the date of the transaction
and
x

Non-monetary assets and
liabilities measured at fair
value are translated using the
spot exchange rate at the date
the fair value was decided

Exchange gains or losses on monetary items
(arising on settlement of the transaction or
on re-translation at the Statement of
Financial Position date) are recognised in
income or expense in the period when they
arise.
Exchange gains or losses on non-monetary
assets and liabilities are recognised in the
same manner as other gains and losses on
these items.

1 .21 Third party assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as
money held on behalf of patients) are not
recognised in the accounts since the Trust
has no beneficial interest in them.
However, they are published in a separate
note to the accounts following the
requirements of HM Treasury’s FReM.

1.22 Losses and special payments
Losses and special payments are items that
Parliament would not have considered
when it agreed funds for the health service
or created new laws. By their nature they
are items that ideally should not arise. They
are therefore subject to special control
procedures compared with the generality
of payments. They are divided into
different categories, which guide the way
that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to
the relevant functional headings in
expenditure on an accrual basis, including
losses which would have been recovered
through insurance had the Trust not been
bearing their own risks (with insurance

premiums then being included as normal
revenue expenditure). However, the losses
and special payments note is put together
directly from the losses and compensations
register, which reports on an accrual basis
with the exception of provisions for future
losses.

1.23 Gifts
Gifts are items that are voluntarily
disclosed, with no preconditions and
without the expectation of any return. Gifts
include all transactions economically
equivalent to free and unremunerated
transfers, such as the loan of an asset for its
expected useful life, and the sale or lease of
assets at below market value.

1.24 Transfers of functions to/from other
NHS/local government bodies
The assets and liabilities for functions that
have been transferred to the Trust from
another NHS/local government body are
recognised in the accounts at the date of
the transfer. The assets and liabilities are
not adjusted to fair value prior to
recognition. The net gain or loss
corresponding to the net assets/liabilities
transferred is recognised within
income/expenses, but not within operating
activities.
For property, plant and equipment assets
and intangible assets, the cost and
accumulated depreciation/amortisation
balances from the transferring entity’s
accounts are kept on recognition in the
Trust’s accounts. Where the transferring
body recognised revaluation reserve
balances attributable to the assets, the
Trust makes a transfer from its income and
expenditure reserve to its revaluation
reserve to maintain transparency within
public sector accounts.
For functions that the Trust has transferred
to another NHS/local government body, the
assets and liabilities transferred are de-
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recognised from the accounts at the date of
the transfer.
The net gain/loss corresponding to the net
assets/liabilities transferred is recognised
within expenses/income but not within
operating activities. Any revaluation
reserve balances attributable to assets derecognised are transferred to the income
and expenditure reserve.

1 .25 Critical accounting judgments and
key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Trust’s accounting
policies, management is required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not obvious from other
sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are
helpful. Actual results may differ from
those estimates and the estimates and
underlying assumptions are continually
reviewed.
Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period they affect when
the estimate is revised. That may be only
one period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods.

based on regular studies of actual asset
lives and the intended use for those assets.
Changes in technology or the condition of
the asset may mean that the actual life or
remaining value is different to the
estimate.

Where the Trust decides that the useful life
of property, plant and equipment should
be shortened or residual value reduced, it
depreciates the net book value in excess of
the residual value over the revised
remaining useful life, as a result increasing
depreciation expense. Any change in an
asset’s life or residual value is shown in the
Trust’s financial statements when the
change in estimate is decided.

1.25.1.2 Impairment of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets
The identification of impairment indicators
and the deciding of the recoverable
amount for assets need good judgment
concerning the identification and proof of
impairment indicators. Key sources on
impairment indicators are found externally
and internally.
External sources of information may be:
1.

During the period, an asset’s
market value has declined a lot
more than would be expected
during normal use over time

2.

Significant changes in
technology and regulatory
environments and

3.

Significant dips in the
economy

1.25.1 Critical judgments in applying
accounting polices
The following are the critical judgments,
apart from those involving estimations (see
below) that management has made in the
process of applying the Trust’s accounting
policies and that have the biggest effect on
the amounts included in the financial
statements.

Internal sources of information may be:
1.25.1.1 Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment

1.

Out of date or physical
damage

Judgments are required to give useful lives
and residual values to property, plant and
equipment. Key sources of those values are

206

2.

Not able to perform to the
expected level now or in the
future and

3.

Large changes in the use of its
assets or the strategy for its
overall use

The Trust decides any impairment by
comparing the carrying values of assets to
their net realisable value. Net realisable
value represents fair value as assessed
through valuation on a modern equivalent
assets basis.

1.25.1.3 Revenue recognition
Revenue, which does not include discounts,
represents the amount due for services
provided to customers and is accounted for
on an accrual basis to match revenue with
the provision of service. Revenue is
recognised monthly as services are
provided. Where services are invoiced in
advance, revenue is deferred and
recognised when the service is delivered.
Revenue for unbilled services is accrued.
Judgment is required in how these
principles are applied and the specific
guidance for Trust revenues.

1.25.1.4 Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market is agreed
by using valuation techniques. The Trust
uses a variety of methods and makes
assumptions that are based on the market
conditions at each statement of financial
position date.
In the application of the Trust’s accounting
policies, management is required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not obvious from other
sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical
experience and other helpful factors.
Actual results may differ from those

estimates and the estimates and underlying
assumptions are continually reviewed.
Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period they affect, when
the estimate is revised. That may be only
one period or in the period of the revision
and future periods.

The nominal value less estimated credit
adjustments of trade receivables and
payables are assumed to approximate their
fair values. The fair value of financial
liabilities for disclosure purposes is
estimated by discounting the future
contractual cash flows at the current
market interest rate that is available to the
Trust for similar financial instruments.
The following are the critical judgments,
apart from those involving estimations (see
below) that management has made in the
process of applying the Trust’s accounting
policies and that have the largest effect on
the amounts included in the financial
statements.
1.25.2 Key sources of estimation
uncertainty
The following are assumptions about the
future and other major sources of
estimation uncertainty that have a
significant risk of resulting in a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.
1.25.2.1 Provisions
The identification of impairment indicators
and the deciding of the recoverable
amount for assets need good judgment
concerning the identification and proof of
impairment indicators. Key sources on
impairment indicators are found externally
and internally.
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1 .26 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any
financial institution repayable without
penalty on notice of not more than 24
hours. Cash equivalents are investments
that mature in three months or less from
the date of acquisition and that are easy to
cash with very little risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and
cash equivalents are shown net of bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and that form a key part of the Trust’s cash
management.

x

x

1.27 Accounting standards and
amendments issued but not yet adopted
The DH GAM does not require the
following standards and interpretations to
be applied in 2016/2017. These standards
are still subject to HM Treasury FReM
adoption, with IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 being for
implementation in 2018/2019, and the
government implementation date for IFRS
16 still subject to HM Treasury
consideration.
x

IFRS9 financial instruments –
application required for
accounting periods beginning

x

on or after 1 January 2018, but
not yet adopted by the FReM:
early adoption is not therefore
permitted
IFRS 15 revenue from contracts
with customers – application
required for accounting
periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018, but not yet
adopted by the FReM: early
adoption is not therefore
permitted
IFRS 16 leases – application
required for accounting
periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019, but not yet
adopted by the FReM: early
adoption is not therefore
permitted
IFRIC 22 foreign currency
transactions and advance
consideration – application
required for accounting
periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.

1.28 Accounting standards issued that
have been adopted early
There are no accounting standards issued
that have been adopted early for this
financial period.
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2. OPERATING SEGMENTS
The Trust operates under only one material segment which is healthcare and income is
almost totally for the supply of services.
Management information is produced on a monthly basis to enable the chief operating decision maker to make
informed decisions on the allocation of resources.
Under IFRS 8, reporting segments para 13, the quantitative threshold is 10% or more of combined revenue in
determining a segment.
Non-patient care income is 5.3% (5.3% in 2015/2016) and therefore disclosure is not required.

3. INCOME GENERATION ACTIVITIES
The Trust undertakes income generation activities with an aim of achieving profit, which is then used in patient care.
The Trust does not have any income generation activities whose full cost exceeds £1 million in a full year or is otherwise
material. Income from the sale of goods is immaterial.

4. REVENUE FROM PATIENT CARE ACTIVITIES
4.1 OPERATING INCOME BY SOURCE
2 016/2017

2015/2016

£000

£000

NHS
NHS trusts
CCGs and NHS England
Foundation trusts
NHS other

1,013

987

1 57,729

149,249

1,523

1,473

22

0

2 6,925

25,458

23

0

Non-NHS
Local authorities (healthcare services)
Private Patients
Other*

407

1,722

187,642

178,889

*Other includes
CAN
Miscellaneous

0

1,400

407

322

407

1,722

The Trust has no income from the injury cost recovery scheme (nil to 31 March 2016).
There was no income arising from exchange of goods/services (nil to 31 March 2016).
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2016/2017

2015/2016

£000

£000

83,621

77,126

1,517

2,740

Income from CCGs and NHS England

79,211

79,486

Income not from CCGs, NHS England

23,270

19,537

23

0

4.2 OPERATING INCOME BY NATURE
Mental health trusts
Block contract income
Other clinical income from mandatory services
Community trusts (any trusts providing community services)

All trusts
Private patient income

0

0

187,642

178,889

Other clinical income
Total income from activities

All income from activities has been deemed to have arisen from commissioner requested services.

4.3 PRIVATE PATIENT INCOME

2016/2017

2015/2016

£000

£000

23

0

Total patient related income

187,642

178,889

Proportion (as percentage)

0%

0%

Private patient income

4.4 INCOME FROM OVERSEAS VISITORS (RELATING TO PATIENTS CHARGED DIRECTLY BY THE
FOUNDATION TRUST)
The Trust did not have any income from overseas visitors in 2016/2017 (2015/2016 £nil).

5.OTHER OPERATING INCOME

2016/2017

2015/2016

£000

£000

462

608

Education and training

2,961

2,638

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure

1,438

1,259

574

572

0

0

Research and development

Non-patient care services to other bodies
Income generation

0

0

Rental revenue from operating leases

167

159

Income in respect of staff where accounted on a gross basis

451

482

0

0

Profit on disposal of land and buildings

Reversal of impairments of property, plant and equipment
Sustainability and Transformation Fund income

2,634

0

Other revenue*

1,864

3,259

10,551
* Other revenue includes:

8,977
(Restated)

Canteen income

274

261

IT recharges

386

502

Estates recharges

698

1,673

Miscellaneous

506

823

1,864

3,259
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6. OPERATING EXPENSES
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Employee expenses - executive directors
Employee expenses - non-executive directors
Other employee benefits
Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drugs)
Supplies and services - general
Establishment
Research and development (not included in employee expenses)
Research and development (included in employee expenses)
Transport - business travel only
Transport - other
Premises - business rates payable to local authorities
Premises - other
Increase/(decrease) in impairment of receivables
Increase in other provisions
Inventories written down
Drug costs (non-inventory drugs only)
Inventories consumed (excluding drugs)
Drugs inventories consumed
Rentals under operating leases - minimum lease payments
Rentals under operating leases - contingent rent
Rentals under operating leases - sublease receipts
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Amortisation on intangible assets
Impairments of property, plant and equipment
Impairments and reversals of intangible assets
Audit fees payable to the external auditors:
- audit services - statutory audit
- other auditor remuneration (external auditor only)
Clinical negligence - amounts payable to the NHSLA (premiums)
Clinical negligence - excesses payable and premiums (alternative insurer)
Loss on disposal of intangible fixed assets
Loss on disposal of land and buildings
Loss on disposal of other property, plant and equipment
Loss on disposal of assets held for sale
Legal fees
Consultancy services
Internal audit costs (not included in employee expenses)
Training courses and conferences
Patient travel
Car parking and security
Redundancy (not included in employee expenses)
Redundancy (included in employee expenses)
Early retirements (not included in employee expenses)
Early retirements (included in employee expenses)
Hospitality
Publishing
Insurance
Other services, external payroll, IM&T
Losses, ex gratia and special payments (not included in employee expenses)
Losses, ex gratia and special payments (included in employee expenses) *
Other

2 016/2017
£000
4,709
1,010
111
131,010
9,544
3,468
1,940
11
476
2,669
429
563
6,767
2,298
0
0
6,845
0
0
4,542
0
0
4,498
386
561
0

(Restated)
2015/2016
£000
4,234
1,025
120
128,562
8,567
2,848
2,157
47
619
2,652
320
576
8,331
85
0
0
7,353
0
0
4,569
0
0
4,323
283
(591)
0

51
14
236
0
0
0
0
0
405
655
152
636
145
64
0
281
0
0
0
0
88
3,394
38
364
3,273
191,633

61
24
241
0
0
0
0
0
217
929
153
480
130
94
0
2,144
0
0
0
109
78
3,965
24
0
628
185,357

2016/2017

2015/2016

£000

£000

* = Voluntary Severance Scheme (VSS) expenditure and is disclosed in employee costs (note 8).

6.1 OTHER AUDIT REMUNERATION (PAID TO THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR)
The auditing of accounts of any associate of the Trust
Audit-related assurance services

0

0

14

12

Taxation compliance services

0

0

All taxation advisory services not falling within the line above

0

12

Internal audit services

0

0

All assurance services not falling within the lines above

0

0

Corporate finance transaction services not falling within the lines above

0

0

All other non-audit services not falling within the lines above

0

0

14

24

2016/2017

2015/2016

£000

£000

500

500

Total

6.2 LIMITATION ON AUDITOR'S LIABILITY
Limitation on auditor's liability
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7. OPERATING LEASES
7.1 AS LESSEE
The significant lease arrangements where the Trust is the lessee relate to lease of buildings and office equipment (photocopiers)
over various lease periods.
Renewal and any restrictions imposed by the lease arrangement will be as per the individual lease agreements held by the
relevant managers within the Trust.
Limited purchase options are available as per the lease contracts.
2016/2017

2015/2016

£000

£000

4,542

4,569

Contingent rents

0

0

Less: sub-lease payments received

0

0

4,542

4,569

2016/2017

2015/2016

£000

£000

3,968

3,075

345

429

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments

Total

Total future minimum lease payments
Payable:
Not later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

56

100

4,369

3,604

No future sub-lease payments are expected to be received.

7.2 AS LESSOR
The leasing arrangements where the Trust is lessor relate to leasing of vacant areas of buildings where the Trust is the owner or
the main occupier.
2016/2017

2015/2016

£000

£000

167

159

Contingent rent

0

0

Other

0

0

167

159

2016/2017

2015/2016

£000

£000

Not later than one year

141

156

Between one and five years

243

243

Rental Revenue
Minimum lease receipts

Total rental revenue

Total future minimum lease receipts
Receivable:

After five years
Total

0

60

384

459
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8. EMPLOYEE COSTS AND NUMBERS
8.1 EMPLOYEE COSTS

2 016/2017
£ 000

2015/2016
£000

Salaries and wages

1 00,418

95,229

Social security costs

9 ,367

7,101

1 2,430

12,165

Employer contributions to NHS Pension Scheme
Other pension costs

11

108

Other post-employment benefits

0

0

Other employment benefits

0

0

Termination benefits (on an accruals basis)

6 45

2,144

Agency/contract staff

1 0,411

15,710

Total gross staff costs

1 33,282

132,457

Less income where netted off expenditure
Total staff costs

Of the total above:
Employee benefits charged to capital
Employee benefits charged to revenue
Total

0

0

133,282

132,457

2016/2017

2015/2016

£ 000

£000

141

107

133,141

132,350

133,282

132,457
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9. PENSION COSTS
9.1 NHS PENSION SCHEME
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pensions Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and
rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined
benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State,
in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the
underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the
cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the
accounting period
In order that the defined benefit obligations in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be
determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that "the period between formal valuations
shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years". An outline of these follows:
a ) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into
account their recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March
2012. The Scheme Regulations allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary of State for Health, with
the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer
representatives as deemed appropriate.
The next actuarial valuation is to be carried out as at 31 March 2016. This will set the employer contribution rate payable from
April 2019 and will consider the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap. There are provisions in the Public Service
Pension Act 2013 to adjust member benefits or contribution rates if the cost of the Scheme changes by more than 2% of pay.
Subject to this 'employer cost cap' assessment, any required revisions to member benefits or contribution rates will be
determined by the Secretary of State for Health after consultation with the relevant stakeholders.
b) Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary s Department) as
at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with
updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and are accepted as providing suitably robust figures
for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability at 31 March 2017, is based on the validation data as at 31
March 2016, updated to 31 March 2017 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial
assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM
Treasury have been used
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of the annual
NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are
published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
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9.2 LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME (LGPS)
Under TUPE, following a tender process for the children’s respite service, 31 staff working for Northamptonshire County Council
(NCC) transferred to the Trust as members of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). The LGPS is a defined benefit statutory
scheme which provides its members with defined benefits relating to pay and service. The scheme is administered by NCC in
accordance with LGPS Regulations. The Trust became a contributing member of the LGPS with effect from 1 August 2013 when the
children’s respite service transferred.
In accordance with LGPS regulations the pension liabilities for the staff who transferred to NHFT (who are active members of the
LGPS scheme) also transferred to the trust on 1 August 2013. The pension liabilities were calculated by the LGPS actuary, Hymans
Robertson LLP, at the date of transfer as £1.2 million, calculated on a ‘funding’ basis. As part of the admission agreement into the
LGPS NHFT were admitted on a ‘fully funded’ basis into a closed scheme which means that new joiners are not permitted to join
the LGPS. As such £1.2 million of assets also transferred from NCC to NHFT at 1 August 2013 to match the liability at the date of
transfer. Due to differences between 'funding' and International Accounting Standard 19 Employee Benefit (IAS19) assumptions,
the gross pension liability that NHFT recognised in its accounts at 1 August 2013 is £1.4 million. As such, the net IAS19 pension
liability as at 1 August 2013, and therefore the opening position, was £0.2 million.
All staff were transferred out of the scheme with an effective date of 31 March 2016. The Foundation Trust's liability ended at
that date but as the information was not available until after the financial statements for 2015/2016 were closed and are not
considered to be material to either party, the entries are shown in the 2016/2017 financial statements. The final report from the
scheme actuary is not yet available due to the LGPS reporting timetable being different to that for NHS bodies.
The disclosure notes required under IAS19 are included to support the comparative figures.
As the recognition of the pension scheme assets and liabilities was treated in the 2013/14 financial statements of the Trust as a
'transfer by absorption' the same treatment has been applied to the de-recognition.
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Employer contribution rates are determined by the scheme’s actuary based on triennial actuarial valuations, with the last formal
actuarial valuation at 31 March 2013. In accordance with IAS19, the determination of the present value of the net defined benefit
asset or liability is to be carried out with sufficient regularity such that the amounts recognised in the financial statements do not
differ materially from those that would be determined at end of the reporting period. In line with this and the LGPS Regulations
2008, the LGPS fund is required to undertake triennial actuarial valuations at intervals no longer than three years, to provide a
‘health check’ on the viability of the fund.
IAS 19 establishes that the cost of providing employee benefits should be recognised in the period in which the benefit is earned
by the employee. Therefore the financial statements of an employer, i.e. NHFT, should reflect a liability when employees have
provided a service in exchange for benefits to be paid in the future. This is in contrast to the cashflow for contributions to the
scheme which are reassessed with every triennial actuarial valuation.
The LGPS is a ‘multi-employer’ defined benefit final salary scheme but where the scheme assets and liabilities attributable to each
employer can be identified. Therefore NHFT will only recognise its share of LGPS assets (at fair value) and its share of the LGPS
defined benefit obligation (at present value) in its accounts.
The present value of liabilities of LGPS liabilities attributable to NHFT are recorded in the SoFP on an actuarial basis using the
‘projected unit credit method’, i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits
earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates, etc. and projections of
earnings for current employees.
This requires benefit to be attributed to the current period (to determine current service cost) and the current and prior periods
(to determine the present value of defined benefit obligation).
The assumptions used by the LGPS actuary, Hymans Robertson, in calculating NHFT’s liabilities and assets are shown below (details
taken from the Hymans Robertson report ‘Actuarial Valuation as at 31 March 2016 for IAS 19 purposes’).

Financial assumptions

2015/
2016

2014/
2015

1 Aug 2013

Discount rate

3.6%

3.3%

4.6%

Pension increase

2.2%

2.5%

2.8%

Salary increase
Discount rate:

4.2%

4.4%

4.6%

The fund liabilities are essentially the benefits promised to fund members upon retirement or death. The valuation places a
present value of these liabilities in order to assess the funds needed to meet the benefits as they fall due. For this purpose,
liabilities are discounted to their net present value using a discount rate determined by the yield on AA corporate bonds. A
discount rate of 3.6% is assumed in the Schedule of Results March 2016 (3.3% Schedule of Results March 2015).
Price inflation/pension increases
Retail Price Inflation (RPI) is typically derived from the market expectation of long term future inflation as measured by the
difference between yields on fixed and index-linked government bonds at the valuation date and should be consistent with the
derivation of the discount rate.
The pension increase assumption is in line with the Consumer Price Index (CPI) and will be calculated as RPI less 1.0% p.a. (0.9%
2014/2015).
The change in the assumption gap between RPI and CPI reflects the view from the Office of National Statistics about the 'formula
effect', the key component of the difference between RPI and CPI.
Salary growth is assumed to increase by RPI plus 1.0%.
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With effect from 2011, the UK Government announced that pension increases or revaluations for public sector schemes should be
based on the Consumer Prices Index (CPI) measure of price inflation, rather than the Retail Prices Index (RPI) measure of price
inflation. The assumption is taken from the Schedule of Results 2016.

To validate the assumptions used above by the LGPS actuary, the following statistics have been noted:
- CPI at March 2016 was 0.5% (Office of National Statistics) which compares to 2.8% at March 2013 when the assumptions were
based and 0.0% at March 2015.
- RPI at March 2015 was 1.6% (Office of National Statistics) which compares to 3.3% at March 2013 when the assumptions were
based and 0.9% at March 2015.

Expected return on asset by category:

2015/2016 2014/2015

Equities

2.9%

2.9%

Bonds

4.7%

4.7%

Property

5.9%

5.9%

Cash

4.3%

4.3%

The expected return on assets is based on the long term future expected investment return for each asset class as at the beginning of
the period. The actual return on scheme assets in the year was 0.8% (12.6% year to 31 March 2015).
Demographic assumptions
Mortality:
Life expectancy is based on the Fund’s VitaCurves in line with the CMI 2010 model assuming the current rate of improvements has
peaked and will converge to a long term rate of 1.25% p.a., improvements will decline for the over 90s. The resultant average future
life expectancies at age 65 are:
2015/2016
Current pensioners
Future pensioners
Historic mortality: the following life expectancies are based on the Fund's VitaCurves:
Prospective pensioners

Pensions

2014/2015

Male
22.3

Female
24.3

Male
22.3

Female
24.3

24.0

26.6

24.0

26.6

at 31 March 2016
CMI 2010 model
assuming the current
rate of improvements
has peaked and will
converge to a long
term rate of 1.25%.
CMI 2010 model
assuming the current
rate of improvements
has peaked and will
converge to a long
term rate of 1.25%.

at 1 August 2013
Year of birth,
medium cohort and
1% minimum
improvement from
2010
Year of birth,
medium cohort and
1% minimum
improvement from
2010
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Other demographic assumptions used in forming the valuation are:
- Withdrawal and retirement in ill-health are derived from latest assumptions used in the actuarial valuation report.
- Commutation – future retirements are assumed to commute pension into tax-free cash up to 50% of HMRC limits for service
to 31 March 2008 and 75% for service thereafter.
- Age retirements – rule of 85 for those born prior to 31 March 1960 and protected under current regulations, 65 for all other
members.
2016/2017
Present value of defined benefit obligation
Opening defined benefit obligation at 1 April 2016
Transfer by absorption
Current service cost
Interest cost
Employee contributions
Actuarial losses/(gains) - changes in financial assumptions
Business combinations transfers out
Curtailments
Closing defined benefit obligation at 31 March 2017

Reconciliation of opening and closing fair values of plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets:
Opening fair value of plan assets at 1 April 2016
Transfer by absorption
Interest income
Re-measurement of the net defined benefit (liability)/asset

2015/2016

£000

£000

(2,157)
2,157
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

(2,290)
0
(117)
(78)
(26)
354
0
0
(2,157)

2016/2017
£000

2015/2016
£000

1,783

1,647

(1,783)
0

56

- expected return on plan assets net of interest income

0

0

- actuarial gains/(losses)
- changes in the effect of limiting a net defined benefit asset to the asset ceiling

0
0

(43)
0

(excluding amounts included in interest income/expense)
Employer contributions
Contributions by plan participants
Business combinations transfers out

0
0
0

97
26
0

Assets distributed on settlements

0

0

Closing value of plan assets at 31 March 2017

0

1,783

2016/2017

2015/2016

£000
(374)

£000
(643)

Movement in net pension liability during the year:
Opening surplus/(deficit) in the scheme at 1 April 2016

374

0

- current service costs
- interest cost

0
0

(117)
(22)

Total defined benefit cost recognised in retained surplus/(deficit) in SoCI

0

(139)

Transfers out / transfer by absorption

0

97

0
117
0

0
354

0

(43)

Total re-measurements recognised in other comprehensive income in SoCI

117

311

Net asset/(liability)recognised in the SOFP @ 31 March 2017

117

(374)

Employer contributions (shown within the SoCI)
- assets acquired in business transfer
- transfer by absorption
- actuarial (losses)/gains - changes in financial assumptions
- expected return on plan assets net of interest income

IAS 19 requires five-year history to be disclosed, showing the present value of liabilities, fair value of assets and the
surplus/deficit in the scheme. Since NHFT joined the LGPS on 1 August 2013, only the current and prior year figures are shown.

LGPS pension asset/liability
Fair value of employer assets
Present value of defined benefit obligation
Surplus/ (Deficit) at 31 March 2017

2016/2017

2015/2016

£000

£000

0

1,783
(2,157)
(374)

0
0
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Fair value of plan assets comprises

Equity securities

2 016/2017

2016/2017

2015/2016

2015/2016

%
0

£000
0

%
37

£000
656

Debt securities

0

0

8

151

Private equity

0

0

0

1

Real estate

0

0

9

160

Investment funds and unit trusts

0

0

44

781

Derivatives

0

0

0

0

Cash and cash equivalents

0

0

2

34

Total

0

0

100

1,783

The current service cost of £nil (£117k 2015/2016) has been recognised in operating expenses within the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
The interest cost of £nil (£78k 2015/2016) has been recognised as a finance cost in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
The expected return on plan assets of £nil (£56k 2014/2015) has been recognised as investment revenue in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
The 2015/2016 resulting movement of the re-measurement of the LGPS defined benefit liability of £311k (sum of the actuarial
gain on the defined benefit obligation in the year £354k less actuarial loss on plan assets in the year £43k) has been included in
the Statement of Taxpayer’s Equity and in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as other comprehensive income below the
net surplus/(deficit) for the year.
The difference between the current service cost and the employer contributions to the scheme which are both included in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income has been included in the Trust’s cash flow statement as an operating cost which does not
result in an in year cash transaction.
The LGPS actuary, Hyman Robertson LLP, have estimated that the employer’s contribution for the year ended 31 March 2018
payable by NHFT to the LGPS will approximately be £nil (based on the membership at 31 March 2017).
IAS19 requires disclosure of the sensitivity of the results to the methods and assumptions used. The costs of a pension
arrangement require estimates regarding future experience.
Changes in market conditions that result in changes in the net discount rate (essentially the difference between the discount rate
and the assumed rates of increase of salaries, deferred pension revaluation or pension payment), can have a significant effect on
the value of liabilities reported. A reduction in the net discount rate will increase the assessed value of liabilities as a higher value
is placed on benefits paid in the future. A rise in the net discount rate will have an opposite effect of similar magnitude.
There is also uncertainty around life expectancy of the UK population. The value of current and future pension benefits will
depend on how long they are assumed to be in payment. The disclosures have been prepared using longevity assumptions for
average life expectancies after age 65.
The new Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS 2014) superseded the previous LGPS and changed the provisions of the LGPS
scheme. The LGPS 2014 was in effect as of 1 April 2014 and those changes were reflected in the actuarial valuation at 31 March
2016.
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9.3 NATIONAL EMPLOYEE SAVINGS TRUST PENSION SCHEME (NEST)
Employees of the Trust may also be members of the NEST scheme. Under the Pensions Act 2008, the Trust had a responsibility from
1 August 2013 to have a pension scheme available for all staff meeting the criteria to be enrolled under the legislation. In some
cases staff may not be eligible to join the NHS Pension Scheme and so the Trust has set up the NEST scheme as an alternative.
Contributions paid by the Trust on behalf of employees was £9k in 2016/2017 (£9k in 2015/2016), and is shown within operating
expenses.

10 RETIREMENTS DUE TO ILL-HEALTH
In the period to 31 March 2017 there were 3 early retirements (8 in the period ending 31 March 2016) from the Trust agreed on
the grounds of ill-health.
The estimated additional pension liabilities of these ill-health retirements will be £57k (£536k in the period to 31 March 2016).
The cost of these ill-health retirements will be borne by the NHS Business Services Authority - Pensions Division.
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11. PAYMENT PERFORMANCE
11.1 BETTER PAYMENT PRACTICE CODE

Number

£000

2016/2017
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the period
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of non-NHS trade invoices paid within target
Total NHS trade invoices paid in the period
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target

4 2,594
3 6,759
86%
8 25
7 75
94%

74,994
70,738
94%
6,994
6,676
95%

2015/2016
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the period
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of non-NHS trade invoices paid within target
Total NHS trade invoices paid in the period
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target

45,493
40,467
89%
784
690
88%

65,851
60,660
92%
7,201
6,700
93%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Foundation Trust to aim to pay all undisputed invoices by the due date or within
30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice, whichever is later.

11.2 THE LATE PAYMENT OF COMMERCIAL DEBTS (INTEREST) ACT 1998
Amounts included in finance costs from claims made under this legislation
Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs
Total

12. FINANCE INCOME
PFI finance lease revenue:
- planned
- contingent
Other finance lease revenue
Interest revenue:
- Bank accounts
- Other
Total

13. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Gain/(loss) on disposal of intangible assets
Total

2 016/2017
£000
0
0
0

2015/2016
£000
0
0
0

2016/2017
£000

2015/2016
£000

0
0
0

0
0
0

83
33
116

115
56
171

2016/2017
£000
295
0
295

2015/2016
£000
(1)
(49)
(50)

The loss on disposal does not relate to land and buildings assets used in the provision of commissioner requested services.

14. FINANCE COST - INTEREST EXPENSE
Interest on obligations under finance leases
Interest on obligations under PFI contracts:
- main finance cost
- contingent finance cost
Interest on late payment of commercial debt
Other interest expense
Total interest expense
Other finance costs
Total interest expense

2016/2017
£000
1

2015/2016
£000
2

1,922
825
0
3
2,751
0
2,751

1,987
786
0
79
2,854
0
2,854
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
15.1 PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT 2016/2017

Land Buildings Dwellings
excluding
dwellings

AUC* P lant and T ransport
machinery equipment

£000

£000

15,125

78,064

1,636

464

648

Additions purchased

0

1,469

0

922

177

0

743

68

3 ,379

Additions leased
Impairments charged to operating
expenses
Impairments charged to the revaluation
reserve
Reversal of impairments credited to
operating incomes

0

0

0

0

0

25

0

0

25

0

(600)

0

0

0

0

0

0

( 600)

0

(2,094)

0

0

0

0

0

0

( 2,094)

0

39

0

0

0

0

0

0

39

0

440

0

(464)

0

0

24

0

0
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73

22

0

0

0

0

0

3 10

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

(35)

( 88)

Reclassifications
Revaluation/indexation gains
Transfer to disposal group as held for sale
Disposals
Cost/valuation at 31 March 2017

£000

£000

£000

31 14,422

0

0

0

0

(53)

15,340

77,391

1,658

922

772

56 15,189

£000

T otal

£ 000
Cost/valuation at 1 April 2016

£000

IT Furniture
and
fittings

£000

1,989 1 12,379

2,022 113,350

Depreciation at 1 April 2016

0

3,598

21

0

301

28

6,802

918

1 1,668

Charged during the period

0

1,964

22

0

89

4

2,220

199

4 ,498

Transfer to disposal group as held for sale

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Disposals

0

0

0

0

(53)

0

0

(10)

( 63)

Depreciation at 31 March 2017

0

5,562

43

0

337

32

9,022

1,107

16,103

15,340

71,829

1,615

922

435

24

6,167

915

9 7,247

Net book value
Purchased
Donated

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Government granted

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

15,340

71,829

1,615

922

435

24

6,167

915

97,247

15,340

25,493

1,615

922

435

0

6,167

915

5 0,887

Finance lease/private finance Initiative

0

46,336

0

0

0

24

0

0

4 6,360

Donated

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

15,340

71,829

1,615

922

435

24

6,167

915

97,247

Net book value total at 31 March 2017
Asset financing
Owned

Net book value total at 31 March 2017
* = Assets under construction
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
15.2 PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT 2015/2016

L and B uildings Dwellings
excluding
dwellings

AUC* Plant and Transport
machinery equipment

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Cost/valuation at 1 April 2015 as previously
stated

15,045

70,154

1,580

2,861

Cost/valuation at 1 April 2015

15,045

70,154

1,580

0

1,996

0

0

(382)

£000

IT F urniture
and
fittings

Total

£000

£000

£000

481

31 13,237

2,072

105,461

2,861

481

31 13,237

2,072

105,461

444

198

0

1,653

50

4,341

0

(51)

0

0

0

0

(433)

0

0

0

0

0

(539)
1,024

Additions purchased
Impairments charged to operating
expenses
Impairments charged to the revaluation
reserve
Reversal of impairments credited to
operating incomes

0

(539)

0

0

1,024

0

0

0

0

0

0

Reclassifications

0

568

0

(2,790)

0

0

2,222

0

0

260

5,432

56

0

0

0

0

0

5,748

(180)

(189)

0

0

0

0

0

0

(369)

0

0

0

0

(31)

0 (2,690)

(133)

(2,854)

15,125

78,064

1,636

464

648

31 14,422

1,989

1 12,379

Depreciation at 1 April 2015

0

1,810

0

0

265

22

7,256

819

10,172

Charged during the period

0

1,802

21

0

64

6

2,220

210

4,323

Transfer to disposal group as held for sale

0

(14)

0

0

0

0

0

0

(14)

Disposals

0

0

0

0

(28)

0 (2,674)

(111)

(2,813)

Depreciation at 31 March 2016

0

3,598

21

0

301

Revaluation/indexation gains
Transfer to disposal group as held for sale
Disposals
Cost or valuation at 31 March 2016

28

6,802

918

11,668

100,711

Net book value
Purchased

15,125

74,466

1,615

464

347

3

7,620

1,071

Donated

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Government granted

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

15,125

74,466

1,615

464

347

3

7,620

1,071

100,711

15,125

26,236

1,615

340

347

0

7,620

1,071

52,354

Finance lease/Private finance initiative

0

48,230

0

124

0

3

0

0

48,357

Donated

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

15,125

74,466

1,615

464

347

3

7,620

1,071

100,711

Net book value total at 31 March 2016
Asset financing
Owned

Net book value total at 31 March 2016
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT)
There are no donated assets in year.
The effective date of revaluation of property, plant and equipment is 31 March 2014 with an assessment of changes in
value made by the district valuer at 31 March 2017 using available industry indices and market information.
The revaluation is based on district valuer valuation, on a modern equivalent asset basis.
Asset lives for each class of asset held are as follows and represent the range of component parts that make up each asset
Min. Life

Max. Life

(Years)

(Years)

Buildings excluding dwellings

1

72

Dwellings

30

90

Plant and machinery

1

10

Transport equipment

1

5

Information technology

1

10

Furniture and fittings

1

10

Software licences (purchased)

1

5

At 31 March 2017, of the total non-current asset values, £355k (£350k at 31 March 2016) related to land valued at open
market value and £1,105k (£1,105k at 31 March 2016) related to buildings valued at open market value.
There is no compensation from third parties for assets impaired, lost or given up and therefore nil is included in the
income statement.
The gross carrying amount of fully depreciated tangible assets still in use is £5,125k (£1,868k at 31 March 2016).

15.3 PROPERTIES LEASED TO THIRD PARTIES BY THE FOUNDATION TRUST

Asset

Gross

Accum

Deprn in

Revaluation

cost
£'000

deprn

year

in year

£'000

£'000

£'000

Totals
£'000

12 Wales Street

240

0

0

0

240

399 Cottingham Road

240

0

0

5

245

675

0

0

0

675

1,155

0

0

5

1,160

39 Billing Road

There are £nil (£nil in the 12 months to 31 March 2016) of impairments recognised and £nil (£nil in the 12 months to 31
March 2016) of impairments reversed for these assets.

15.4 NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Net book value at 1 April 2016
Plus assets classified as held for sale in the year

Property,
plant and
equipment

Land

Total

£000

£000

£000

175

180

355

0

0

(175)

(180)

Less impairments of assets held for sale

0

0

0

Plus reversal of impairment of assets held for sale
Less assets no longer classified as held for sale, for reasons other than
disposal by sale

0

0

0

0

0

0

Net book value at 31 March 2017

0

0

0

Net book value at 1 April 2015

325

150

475

Plus assets classified as held for sale in the year

175

180

355

(325)

(150)

(475)

0

0

0

Less assets sold in the year

Less assets sold in the year
Plus reversal of impairment of assets held for sale
Less assets no longer classified as held for sale, for reasons other than
disposal by sale
Net book value at 31 March 2016

0
(355)

0

0

0

175

180

355
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16.INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Software licences purchased
£000

AUC
£000

Total
£000

1,654
419
8
2,081

84
61
(8)
137

1,738
480
0
2,218

388
0
386
774

0
0
0
0

388
0
386
774

Analysis of net book value total at 31 March 2017
Purchased
Donated
Government granted
Finance leased
Net book value total at 31 March 2017

1,307
0
0
0
1,307

137
0
0
0
137

1,444
0
0
0
1,444

2015/2016
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2015
Additions purchased
Disposals
Cost or valuation at 31 March 2016

1,482
240
(68)
1,654

0
84
0
84

1,482
324
(68)
1,738

124
(19)
283
388

0
0
0
0

124
(19)
283
388

1,266
0
0
0
1,266

84
0
0
0
84

1,350
0
0
0
1,350

2016/2017
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2016
Additions purchased/internally generated
Reclassifications
Cost or valuation at 31 March 2017
Amortisation at 1 April 2016
Disposals
Charged during the period
Amortisation at 31 March 2017

Amortisation at 1 April 2015 as previously stated
Disposals
Charged during the period
Amortisation at 31 March 2016
Analysis of net book value total at 31 March 2016
Purchased
Donated
Government granted
Finance leased
Net book value total at 31 March 2016

225

16.INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONT.)
The intangible assets within Note 18 relate to externally procured software. In line with the valuation policy for
tangible IT assets, intangible assets have not been revalued. The current values are considered to be fair in that
they are the result of the application of amortisation on a straight line basis. The carrying amount of the
intangible assets at cost is £1,444k (£1,350k at 31 March 2016). There are no intangible assets which have
indefinite lives and the finite lives of the intangible assets are between nil and five years. There are no intangible
assets acquired by government grant. The value of intangible assets still in use, which have been fully amortised
is £119k (£119k at 31 March 2016). There are no intangible assets controlled by the Trust that are not recognised
as assets because they did not meet the recognition criteria of IAS 38.

17. IMPAIRMENTS
An impairment review was carried out at the end of the financial period and an impairment of £2,694k (£972k in
the 12 months to 31 March 2016) on land and buildings has been recognised.
The year end review of values in conjunction with the district valuer also identified an increase in land and
building assets that had previously been impaired of £39k (£1,024k in the 12 months to 31 March 2016).
The net impact on the SoCI is an impairment of £561k, and impairment reversal (£591k) in the 12 months to 31
March 2016).
No impairments were recognised prior to the disposal of assets during the year (2015/2016 £nil).
The overall revaluation impact was to decrease the value of the Foundation Trust's estate by £2,345k (increase of
£5,800k in the 12 months to 31 March 2016) with a £1,784k decrease (£5,209k increase in the 12 months to 31
March 2016) to revaluation reserves.

17.1 IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

2 016/2017

2015/2016

£000

£000

Over specification of assets

0

382

Abandonment of assets in the course of construction

0

51

5 61

(1,024)

Impairments/(reversals) charged to operating surplus/deficit

Changes in market price

5 61

(591)

Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve

Total impairments/(reversals) charged to operating surplus

2 ,094

539

Total impairments

2,655

(52)

18. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Contracted capital commitments not otherwise included in these
financial statements
Property, plant and equipment

31 March 2017 31 March 2016
£000
£000
0

548

Intangible assets

0

0

Total

0

548
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19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

2016/2017

2015/2016

£000

£000

Carrying value at 1 April

0
0

0

148

0

0

0

148

0

Acquisitions in year
Share of profit/(loss)
Share of Other Comprehensive Income by associate
Carrying value at 31 March

The Trust holds a 38% share of voting rights in First for Wellbeing which is a community interest
company limited by guarantee. First for Wellbeing, which started trading during 2016/17, is a joint
venture between the Trust, Northamptonshire County Council and the University of
Northampton. The full extent of the Trust's guarantee is £38.
The draft financial statements for First for Wellbeing show a net profit of £486,000, a gross asset
position of £14.3 million and a net asset position of £486,000.
The investment has been accounted for on an equity basis and an estimate of the Foundation Trust's
share of the net assets has been included on the face of the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
There is not considered to be an active market for the investment in First for Wellbeing.

20. OTHER INVESTMENTS

2016/2017

2015/2016

£000

£000

Carrying value at 1 April

0

Acquisitions in year
Movement in fair value
Carrying value at 31 March

79

0

0

0

79

0

The Foundation Trust has purchased shares in 3Sixty Care Ltd which is a Multispecialty Community
Provider; the Foundation Trust's share consistutes 50% of the voting rights.
3Sixty Care Ltd, whose trading name is the 3Sixty Care Partnership, has been formed with partners in
the 3Sixty Care GP Federation (covering Corby, East Northants, Wellingborough and surrounding
areas).
The financial statements for 3Sixty Care Ltd show a net profit of £15,000 with net assets of £250,000.
The share of profit attributable to the Foundation Trust if it were to be equity accounted is £7,500.
The investment has been accounted for at fair value and the carrying value of the investment is
considered to be supported by the net assets.
There is not considered to be an active market for the investment in 3Sixty Care Ltd.

21. INVENTORIES
31 March 2017 31 March 2016

21.1 INVENTORIES

£000

£000

100

122

Other

27

27

Total

127

149

Consumables

21.2 INVENTORIES RECOGNISED IN EXPENSES

31 March 2017 31 March 2016
£000

Inventories recognised as an expense in the period
Write-down of inventories recognised as an expense
Reversal of any write-downs of inventories resulting in a reduction of
recognised expenses
Total

(770)

£000
(726)

0

0

0

0

(770)

(726)
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22.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Current
NHS receivables - revenue
Receivables due from NHS Charities - revenue
Other receivables with related parties - revenue
Provision for the impairment of receivables
Deposits and advances
Prepayments
PDC receivable
VAT receivable
Other receivables - revenue
Total
Non-current
Total

3 1 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

7,187
3
1
(2,408)
1
1,257
356
422
1,138
7,957

2,952
23
0
(130)
1
833
280
251
1,896
6,106

0

0

The majority of trade is with CCGs as commissioners for NHS patient care services.
As CCGs are funded by government to buy NHS patient care services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.

22.1 AGEING OF RECEIVABLES

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

Ageing of impaired receivables
0 - 30 days
30 - 60 days
60 - 90 days
90 - 180 days
180 - 360 days
Total

2,346
2
0
7
53
2,408

0
2
0
22
106
130

Ageing of non-impaired receivables
0 - 30 days
30 - 60 days
60 - 90 days
90 - 180 days
180 - 360 days
Total

2,458
98
54
137
1,055
3,802

480
84
99
321
302
1,286

31 March 2017
£000
130
2,374
(20)
(76)
2,408

31 March 2016
£000
64
163
(19)
(78)
130

22.2 PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT OF RECEIVABLES
Balance at start of period
Increase in provision
Amounts utilised
Unused amounts recovered
Balance at end of period

Receivables impaired relate to trade receivables which have been examined on a case by case basis in terms of their potential
recovery.
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23. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
There are no other financial assets.

24. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
There are no other current assets.

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

3 1 March 2017

31 March 2016

£000

£000

31,421

33,634

Net change in period

4,015

(2,213)

Balance at 31 March

35,436

31,421

3 5,363

31,331

73

90

Balance at 1 April

Made up of
Cash with Government Banking Service
Commercial banks and cash in hand
Current investments
Cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP
Bank overdraft
Cash and cash equivalents as in SoCF

0

0

35,436

31,421

0

0

35,436

31,421

31 March 2017

31 March 2016

£000

£000

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Current
NHS payables - revenue

1,775

1,141

Other trade payables - capital

1 ,297

538

Other trade payables - revenue

1 ,745

457

Social security costs

1,352

1,086

964

1,001

1,654

1,668

Accruals

14,319

14,953

Total current trade and other payables

23,106

20,844

0

0

Other taxes payable
Other payables

Non-current
Total non-current trade and other payables
All the above trade and other payables are expected to be settled within one year.

26.1 EARLY RETIREMENTS IN NHS PAYABLES
There are no early retirements in NHS payables.
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27. BORROWINGS
31 March 2017

31 March 2016

£000

£000

4

0

Obligations under PFI, LIFT or other service concession

1,298

1,345

Total current borrowings

1,302

1,345

15

0

Obligations under PFI, LIFT or other service concession

35,020

36,318

Total non-current borrowings

35,035

36,318

Current
Finance lease liabilities

Non-current
Finance lease liabilities

Finance lease liabilities relate to commitments on vehicles which have been capitalised. Expected dates of settlement are
consistent with lease termination dates which range between one and five years.
Date of settlement for the Welland PFI scheme is 2035 (30 years from date of completion of construction).
Date of settlement for the Berrywood PFI scheme is 2037 (30 years from date of completion of financial close).

28. OTHER LIABILITIES
Current

31 March 2017

31 March 2016

£000

£000

Deferred income

212

176

Total current other liabilities

212

176

Non-current
Deferred income

0

0

Net pension scheme liability for LGPS

0

374

Total non-current other liabilities

0

374

29. FINANCE LEASE OBLIGATIONS
The Trust leased vehicles with relevant leasing companies, there are no purchasing options at the end of lease and there are no
favourable terms of renewal.
No contingent rent is payable.
Minimum lease payments
Amounts payable under finance leases:
Gross lease liabilities of which liabilities are:
Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years

31 March 2017

31 March 2016

£000

£000

27

0

7

0

20

0

0

0

Less future finance charges

(8)

0

Net lease liabilities of which liabilities are due:

19

0

Within one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total amounts payable under finance leases

4

0

15

0

0

0

19

0
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30. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES, I.E. AS LESSOR
There are no finance lease receivables and there is no finance lease rental revenue.

31. FINANCE LEASE COMMITMENTS
Finance leases above £5,000 are capitalised.
Total obligations for finance leases due:
Gross finance leases of which liabilities are due:
Not later than one year
Later than one year, not later than five years
Later than five years
Gross Finance Lease liabilities
Finance charges allocated to future periods
Net Finance Leases of which liabilities are due:
Not later than one year
Later than one year, not later than five years
Later than five years
Net Finance Liabilities

31 March 2017
£000
27
7
20
0
27
(8)
19
4
15
0
19

31 March 2016
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

32. PRIVATE FINANCE INITIATIVE CONTRACTS
32.1 PFI SCHEMES OFF-STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
There are no off-Statement of Financial Position PFI schemes.

32.2 PFI SCHEMES ON-STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
There are two PFI schemes:
- the Welland scheme in Kettering, which opened in December 2005 and comprises two treatment wards and an assessment ward.
The term of the agreement is 30 years from the date of the handover of the asset, which is December 2035.
- the Berrywood scheme in Northampton, which opened in December 2008 and comprises four assessment wards, an ICU, elderly
beds, low secure beds and rehab beds. The term of the agreement is 30 years from the commencement of construction of the asset,
which is the end of October 2037.
Under IFRIC 12, the PFI assets are treated as assets of the Trust; as the substance of the contract is that the Trust has a finance lease and
payments comprise two elements – imputed finance lease charges and service charges. Details of the imputed finance lease charges are
shown in the table below.
At the end of the contract period the facilities and equipment will be handed back to the Trust in a specified condition, at no cost. If
this condition is not met then the operator may be required to compensate the Trust, under the terms of the agreement. No renewal
options are noted.
The contracts may be terminated by either party if specified default conditions are met. There are voluntary termination options
within the contracts, although there is a financial penalty if these are exercised. No changes to the contractual arrangements have
occurred during 2016/17.
31 March 2017

31 March 2016

£000
58,686
3,150
11,509
44,027
58,686
(22,368)
36,318
1,298
4,680
30,340
36,318

£000
61,953
3,266
11,555
47,132
61,953
(24,290)
37,663
1,345
4,494
31,824
37,663

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

Total future payments committed in respect of PFI, LIFT or other service concession
arrangements of which liabilities are due:
Not later than one year

87,012
5,477

90,585
5,459

Later than one year, not later than five years

20,491

20,568

Later than five years

61,044

64,558

Total obligations for on-Statement of Financial Position PFI contracts due:
Gross PFI liabilities of which liabilities are due:
Not later than one year
Later than one year, not later than five years
Later than five years
Gross PFI liabilities
Finance charges allocated to future periods
Net PFI liabilities of which liabilities are due:
Not later than one year
Later than one year, not later than five years
Later than five years
Net PFI liabilities
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The PFI contracts set the required performance standard, including availability, and set out the associated penalty deductions for
unavailability.
There are no other obligations to acquire or build items of property, plant and equipment other than the equipment replacement
specified in the lifecycle values within the unitary charge.
There are no other rights and obligations noted in the contracts.

32.3 CHARGES TO EXPENDITURE
The total charged in the period to expenditure in respect of the service element of on-Statement of Financial Position PFI
contracts was £1,361k (£1,429k 2015/2016).
3 1 March 2017
31 March 2016
Commitments in respect of the service element:
£000
£000
Not later than one year
Later than one year, not later than five years
Later than five years
Total

1 ,200
5,218
25,592
32,010

1,217
5,228
27,728
34,173

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

1,922
1,345
1,361
344
825
5,797

1,987
1,292
1,429
325
786
5,819

32.4 AMOUNTS PAYABLE TO SERVICE CONCESSION OPERATOR
Analysis of amounts paid to service concession operator
Consisting of:
Interest charge
Repayment of finance lease liability
Service element
Capital lifecycle maintenance
Contingent rent
Total

33. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
The Trust has pledged £38 as a guarantee on formation of First for Wellbeing, a community interest company limited by
guarantee. The value of the guarantee is not deemed to be material to either entity.

34. PROVISIONS
Current
Pensions relating to former directors
Pensions relating to other staff
Legal claims
Other
Total
Non-current
Pensions relating to former directors
Pensions relating to other staff
Other
Total

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

0
26
93
6,893
7,012

0
26
51
6,858
6,935

0
436
30
466

0
443
0
443

Legal claims are as advised by the NHSLA who administer claims on behalf of the Trust and outstanding claims are expected to
clear by 31 March 2018.
Pension provisions relate to staff who have retired early on ill health grounds from the NHS Pensions Scheme. They are calculated
in accordance with Department of Health guidance. There is no uncertainty with regard to timing or values.
Other includes:
- £4,356k (£5,415k at 31 March 2016) service change/reprovision costs that are based on calculated entitlements and are expected
to materialise by the end of 2017/2018.
- £30k (£30k at 31 March 2016) for dilapidation works expected at the end of property leases
£1,446k (£2,091k at 31 March 2016) is included in the provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority in respect of clinical negligence
liabilities of the Trust.
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34. PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)
At 1 April 2016
Arising during the period
Used during the period
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount
At 31 March 2017
E xpected timing of cash flows:
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years
At 31 March 2017
At 1 April 2015
Arising during the period
Used during the period
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount
At 31 March 2016
Expected timing of cash flows:
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years
At 31 March 2016

P ensions
relating to
other staff
£ 000
469
0
(25)
0
18
462

Legal claims

Other

Total

£000
51
67
0
(25)
0
93

£000
6,858
5,208
(1,365)
(3,778)
0
6,923

£000
7 ,378
5 ,275
( 1,390)
( 3,803)
18
7,478

26
1 04
3 32
462

93
0
0
93

6,893
0
30
6,923

7,012
104
362
7,478

477
0
(26)
0
18
469

88
33
(5)
(65)
0
51

7,940
5,072
(792)
(5,362)
0
6,858

8,505
5,105
(823)
(5,427)
18
7,378

26
104
339
469

51
0
0
51

6,858
0
0
6,858

6,935
104
339
7,378

35. CONTINGENCIES
35.1 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Trust has contingent liabilities arising from claims being assessed by the NHS Litigation Authority of £54k at 31 March
2017 (£41k at 31 March 2016).

The Trust has contingent liabilities of £1.3 million arising from the sale of land in 2010 at the former Princess Marina Hospital.

35.2 CONTINGENT ASSETS
There are no contingent assets.

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
36.1 FINANCIAL ASSETS

Loans and
receivables
£ 000
5 ,820
3 5,436
0
0
2 27
4 1,483

£000
5,820
35,436
0
0
227
41,483

4,667
31,421
0
0
36,088

4,667
31,421
0
0
36,088

Obligations under finance leases
Obligations under PFI contracts
Payables
Provisions under contract
Other financial liabilities
T otal at 31 March 2017

Other
£000
19
3 6,318
1 9,136
1 23
0
5 5,596

Total
£000
19
36,318
19,136
123
0
55,596

Obligations under finance leases
Obligations under PFI contracts
Payables
Provisions under contract
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2016

0
37,663
17,000
80
0
54,743

0
37,663
17,000
80
0
54,743

Receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Non-current assets held for sale
Other financial assets
Other investments
T otal at 31 March 2017
Receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Other financial assets
Other investments
Total at 31 March 2016

36.2 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

T otal
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36.3 MATURITY OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
In one year or less
In more than one year but not more than two years
In more than two years but not more than five years
In more than five years

31 March 2017
£000
20,561
1,006
3,689
30,340
55,596

31 March 2016
£000
18,425
1,298
3,195
31,825
54,743

£000
Book value
0
227
0
227

£000
Fair value
0
227
0
227

£000
Book value
0
123
0
0
123

£000
Fair value
0
123
0
0
123

36.4 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
Non current trade and other receivable excluding non-financial liabilities
Other investments
Other
Total

36.5 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Non current trade and other payables excluding non-financial liabilities
Provisions under contract
Loans
Other
Total

36.5 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial reporting standard IFRS7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in
creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities. Because of the continuing service provider relationship
that the Trust has with Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and the way those CCGs are financed, the Trust is not exposed to
the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or
changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The Trust has
limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational
activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Trust in undertaking its activities.
The Trust’s treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department.
Currency risk
The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and
sterling based. The Trust has no overseas operations. The Trust therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
I nterest rate risk
The Trust is free to borrow from commercial or public sector sources for capital expenditure, subject to limits set by Monitor,
the independent regulator, and as specified in their terms of authorisation. Therefore, it has a relatively low exposure to
interest rate fluctuations.
Credit risk
Because the majority of the Trust’s income comes from contracts with other public sector bodies, the Trust has low exposure to
credit risk. The maximum exposures as at 31 March 2017 are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other
receivables note.
L iquidity risk
The majority of the Trust’s operating costs are incurred under contracts with CCGs and NHS England, which are financed from
resources voted annually by Parliament. The Trust funds its capital expenditure from internally generated cash from operations
and asset sales. The Trust is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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37. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
There are no known events after the reporting period that impact on the financial statements for 2016/17.

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
During the period none of the Trust board of directors or members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of
them, has undertaken any material transactions with Northamptonshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust.
During the year Northamptonshire Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust has had a significant number of material transactions with
related parties, as detailed below:
Amounts due
Amounts
Receipts from
P ayments to
from related
owed to
related party
related party
party related party
2 016/2017
£000
£000
£000
£000
Board of directors
0
0
0
0
Key staff members
0
0
0
0
Department of Health
19
2,870
356
0
Nene CCG
1 21,768
302
2,449
277
Corby CCG
8 ,816
44
133
8
Northampton General NHS Trust
1 ,354
1,245
5
37
Kettering General NHS Foundation Trust
1 ,604
792
568
3
Greater East Midlands Commissioning Support Unit
0
55
0
0
NHS England
3 4,361
4
2,663
100
Other NHS bodies
5 ,622
6,766
1,369
1,561
Charitable funds
0
0
3
0
Northamptonshire County Council
2 0,340
4,120
531
1,521
NHS Pensions Agency
0
12,430
0
1,652
First for Wellbeing CIC
2 64
0
0
0
3Sixty Care
86
598
1
0
Other
8 37
12,587
1,027
3,160
T otal
195,071
41,813
9,105
8,319
2015/2016
Board of directors
Key staff members
Department of Health
Nene CCG
Corby CCG
Northampton General NHS Trust
Kettering General NHS Foundation Trust
Greater East Midlands Commissioning Support Unit
NHS England
Other NHS bodies
Charitable funds
Northamptonshire County Council
NHS Pensions Agency
Local Government Pension Scheme
Other
Total

0
0
7
116,396
8,530
1,259
1,419
20
32,146
6,003
0
17,095
0
0
808
183,683

0
0
1,549
15
0
1,466
1,130
0
5
6,849
0
338
12,165
100
7,181
30,798

0
0
280
560
83
4
88
0
512
1,705
23
1,178
0
0
351
4,784

0
0
0
0
0
266
10
15
244
780
0
805
1,666
7
2,512
6,305

The LGPS, which is administered by NCC, is a related party to the Trust. No allowances for administration expenses were paid
over in year to NCC, as all scheme members transferred out of the scheme at 31st March 2016.(0.9% in 2015/2016).
First for Wellbeing is a community interest company limited by guarantee in which the Trust holds 38% of the voting rights.
3Sixty Care is a company limited by shares in which the Trust holds a 50% shareholding.
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39. THIRD PARTY ASSETS
The Trust held £8k (£7k at 31 March 2016) cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2017 which relates to monies held by the
NHS Trust on behalf of patients. This has been excluded from the cash and cash equivalents figure reported in the accounts.

40. INTRA-GOVERNMENT AND OTHER BALANCES
C urrent
receivables

Non-current
receivables

C urrent
payables

Non-current
payables

£000

£000

£000

£000

3 56

0

0

0

Balances with Department of Health
Balances with Public Health England
Balances with NHS England and CCGs
Balances with Health Education England

5

0

0

0

5 ,555

0

386

0
0

6

0

12

80

0

38

0

624

0

166

0

Balances with Special Health Authorities

0

0

0

0

Balances with NDPBs

0

0

0

0

Balances with NHS Trusts
Balances with other FTs

Balances with Other DH bodies
Balances with Local Government
Other WGA Bodies
Intra-government balances
Balances with bodies external to government

917

0

1,384

0

1 ,133

0

2,001

0

425

0

4,332

0

9,101

0

8,319

0

(1,144)

0

14,787

0

7,957

0

23,106

0

Balances with Department of Health

280

0

0

0

Balances with Public Health England

0

0

1

0

1,705

0

259

0

253

0

0

0

At 31 March 2017

Balances with NHS England and CCGs
Balances with Health Education England
Balances with NHS Trusts

164

0

378

0

Balances with other FTs

125

0

59

0

Balances with Special Health Authorities
Balances with NDPBs
Balances with Other DH bodies
Balances with Local Government
Balances Central Government

0

0

5

0

19

0

0

0

686

0

439

0

1,278

0

842

0

251

0

4,146

0

Intra-government balances

4,761

0

6,129

0

Balances with bodies external to government

1,345

0

14,715

0

At 31 March 2016

6,106

0

20,844

0

31 March 2017 31 March 2017

41. LOSSES AND SPECIAL PAYMENTS
31 March 2016

31 March 2016

Number
22
0
22

£000
25
0
25

Number
21
0
21

£000
10
0
10

Special Payments
Compensation payments
Ex-gratia payments
MARS payments
Total special payments

4
16
23
43

31
34
364
429

12
18
0
30

33
7
0
40

Total losses and special payments

65

454

51

50

Losses
Losses of cash
Bad debts and claims abandoned
Total losses

Losses and special payments are accounted for on an accruals basis.

42. OTHER FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS
The Trust has not entered into any non-cancellable contracts which are not leases, PFI contracts or other service concession
arrangements.
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Revaluation reserve property, plant and
equipment
£000

Revaluation reserve assets held for sale

At 1 April 2016

17,249

54

17,303

Impairments

(2,094)

0

(2,094)

Revaluations

310

0

310

43. REVALUATION RESERVE

£000

Total revaluation
reserve
£000

Disposals
Transfer of the excess of current cost depreciation over
historical cost depreciation to the Income and
Expenditure Reserve
Other reserve movements

0

(54)

(54)

0

0

0

0

0

0

Movements on other reserves

0

0

0

Revaluation reserve at 31 March 2017

15,465

0

15,465

At 1 April 2015 as previously stated

12,096

130

12,226

0

0

0

Prior period adjustments

12,096

130

12,226

Impairments

(539)

0

(539)

Revaluations

5,748

0

5,748

(2)

(130)

(132)

0

0

0

(54)

54

0

0

0

0

17,249

54

17,303

At 1 April 2015

Disposals
Transfer of the excess of current cost depreciation over
historical cost depreciation to the Income and
Expenditure Reserve
Other reserve movements
Movements on other reserves
Revaluation reserve at 31 March 2016
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